SPATIAL AND TEMPORAL ANALYSIS OF SARS-CORONAVIRUS-2 CONCENTRATION IN WASTEWATER AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH OTHER EPIDEMIOLOGICAL INDICATORS IN THE NETHERLANDS

HASSAN, OLADAPO ABDULROQEEB July, 2021

SUPERVISORS: Dr. S. Amer Dr. C. Anthonj

SPATIAL AND TEMPORAL ANALYSIS OF SARS-CORONAVIRUS-2 CONCENTRATION IN WASTEWATER AND ITS ASSOCIATION WITH OTHER EPIDEMIOLOGICAL INDICATORS IN THE NETHERLANDS

HASSAN, OLADAPO ABDULROQEEB Enschede, The Netherlands, July, 2021

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geo-information Science and Earth Observation. Specialization: Geoinformatics

SUPERVISORS: Dr. S. Amer Dr. C. Anthonj

THESIS ASSESSMENT BOARD: Dr. D. Recken (Chair) Prof.dr. J.I Blanford (External Examiner)

DISCLAIMER

This document describes work undertaken as part of a programme of study at the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente. All views and opinions expressed therein remain the sole responsibility of the author, and do not necessarily represent those of the Faculty.

ABSTRACT

The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has been a public health emergency of global concern since its outbreak in 2019/2020. In order to monitor the spatial and temporal patterns of SARS-CoV-2 transmission, public health authorities and universities have established a variety of dashboards worldwide. These dashboards usually track multiple epidemiological indicators such as the number of confirmed COVID-19 cases, hospital admissions, deaths. In the Netherlands, wastewater surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 is used as additional indicator serving as an early warning for (re-)emergence of SARS-CoV-2 circulation in communities. Our research assesses the added value of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration data in relation to the standard epidemiological indicator data collected in the Netherlands across space and time.

Publicly available secondary data on SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration and the epidemiological indicators were compiled into a unified spatial database involving data fusion and spatial (dis-)aggregation. Subsequent analysis consisted of three stages. In stage 1, the spatio-temporal patterns of SARS-CoV-2 transmission were visualised through time series mapping at multiple geographic scales. In stage 2, the statistical association between all epidemiological indicators was assessed based on bivariate correlation analysis. In stage 3, the feasibility of using SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data – as a spatially disaggregate early warning indicator of transmission intensity – was determined based on cross-correlation analysis.

Spatio-temporal patterns of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration data and epidemiological indicators across geographical scales (national, safety region and municipality level) can be identified. Overall, SARS-CoV-2 concentrations in wastewater have a medium to strong correlation with the weekly number of confirmed COVID-19 cases. Considerable variations, however, are apparent across municipalities and the (much larger) safety regions. Cross-correlation results indicate that SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentrations precede confirmed positive cases in most municipalities in the Netherlands. This indicates that SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration data has potential as an early warning indicator useful for the public health officials to make informed decisions.

Our novel spatio-temporal approach shows that SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration data has added value as a complementary epidemiological indicator. We recommend further testing of our methodology.

Keywords: COVID-19, disease surveillance, SARS-CoV-2, space-time patterns, wastewater-based epidemiology.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful to Almighty Allah (SWT) for wisdom, knowledge, strength, and good health throughout my journey at ITC, University of Twente.

My deep and sincere gratitude goes to my research supervisors, Dr. S. Amer and Dr. C. Anthonj for their support, and invaluable guidance throughout this research. I thank them for believing in my capabilities to commence and complete this research. The professional advice, encouragement, and constructive feedback has helped throughout the research phase. Thank you so much for the great supervision.

I would like to express my gratitude to the ITC for granting me the ITC Excellence Scholarship to support my studies. Appreciation to my academic mentor, Dr. Rolf de By for the encouragement and great advice.

My sincere thanks go out to Alexandre Jaillon and Thomas Muller for offering me the internship at International Peace Information Service (IPIS) to working on exciting projects that offered me a wide range of experience, some of which were used in this thesis. Appreciation to Artem Nemudryy for your support and providing additional information on my thesis.

Special thanks go to my father – Mr Taiwo, siblings – Ganiat, Murisiq, Suliat, Rafiat, my uncles - Lanre and Kehinde, for their support all through this journey and the constant prayers despite the long distance. To my love – Eniola, thank you for your prayers, love, support, and your assistance all through my journey at ITC. A big thank you to my boss, Mr. David Bamgboye and Mr. and Mrs Daranijo for your assistance in making this dream of attending ITC come to reality.

Appreciation to all my friends Dorothy, Beatrice, Zaid, Dawit, Yomi, Segun, Wassif, Peju, Lateefat, Stephen for the support and kind words.

I am dedicating this thesis to my amazing late mother for always believing in me and encouraging me to follow my dreams.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INT	RODUCTION	11
	1.1.	Background and Justification for the study	11
	1.2.	Problem Statement	14
	1.3.	Research Objectives and Questions	15
	1.4.	Thesis Outline	16
2.	LITI	ERATURE REVIEW	18
	2.1.	Introduction	18
	2.2.	Epidemiology of COVID-19	18
	2.3.	Wastewater Based Epidemiology	23
	2.4.	Application of spatial and statitical methods from epidemiological studies	28
3.	ME'	ſHODOLOGY	33
	3.1.	Overview of the research	33
	3.2.	Review of the SARS-CoV-2 epidemiological indicators	34
	3.3.	Data Preprocessing	39
	3.4.	Spatial and temporal analysis of the epidemiological indicators	44
	3.5.	Statistical association between the epidemiological indicators	45
	3.6.	Temporal association between the epidemiological indicators	45
	3.7.	Ethical considerations	46
4.	RES	ULTS	47
	4.1.	Spatial and temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and other epdemiological metrics	47
	4.2.	Statistical association between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and selected epidemiological indicators	54
	43	Cross correlation analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported positive cases	5 1
5	DIS	CUSSION	59
5.	5.1.	Variations in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA ocncentration and SARS-CoV-2 transmission in space	and 50
	5.2.	Associations between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and other epidemiological	57
	F 2	SABS C-V 2 meterent geographical scales	59
	5.5. E 4	SARS-Cov-2 wastewater data suitable as an early warning indicator to COVID-19 virus intensity	60
	5.4.	Recommendation for descion making and poincy development	00
6	5.5. CON	Research minitations	02
0.	COr	Cardenia	03
	0.1.	Conclusion	63
	0.2.	ruture research and next steps	03

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2-1: Some main events in the early stages of the outbreak of the SARS-CoV-2 adapted from Zheng, (2020)
Figure 2-2: SARS-CoV-2 transmission pathways and symptoms adapted by Jeong et al., (2020); Karia et
al., (2020); WHO, (2020d)22
Figure 2-3: An illustration of wastewater-based epidemiology approach for community COVID-19
surveillance as depicted in Polo et al. (2020a)
Figure 3-1: Research design and methods workflow
Figure 3-2: Coronavirus dashboard in the Netherlands adapted from RIVM (2020b)
Figure 3-3: The 322 Wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) in the Netherlands. Own design, data from
RIVM (2020d)
Figure 3-4: Steps for datasets modification for a common unit of analysis, data management and
$\mathbf{F} = \mathbf{A} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{E} \mathbf{C} \mathbf{V} \mathbf{A} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{V} \mathbf{A}$
Figure 4-1: Epidemiological metrics of normalised SARS-CoV-2 KINA concentration in wastewater and
(A) reported positive cases, (B) hospital admissions, (C) ICU admissions, (D) reported deaths, per 100.000
inhabitants at the national level over the study period
Figure 4-2: Spatio-temporal trends of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive
cases across safety regions in the Netherlands from September 2020 to January 2021
Figure 4-3: Spatio-temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported
positive cases across safety regions in the Netherlands from February 2021 to June 2021
Figure 4-4: Spatio-temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported
positive cases across municipalities in the Netherlands from September 2020 to January 2021
Figure 4-5: Spatio-temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported
positive cases across municipalities in the Netherlands from February 2021 to June 202153
Figure 4-6: Correlation coefficient per safety region between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and (A) reported positive cases (B) hospital admissions and (C) reported deaths per 100 000 inhabitant
the Netherlands from September 2020 to June 2021
Figure 4.7: Correlation coefficients per municipality between SARS CoV 2 wastewater RNA
rigure 4-7. Correlation coefficients per intullicipanty between SAKS-CoV-2 wastewater KNA
100 000 inhabitant in the Nathenlands from Contember 2020 to June 2021
100.000 inhabitant in the Netherlands from September 2020 to June 2021
Figure 4-6. This shift between the SAKS-Cov-2 wastewater KINA concentration and the reported positive
Cases per 100.00 initiabilarits in the Inetheriands
Figure 4-9: Second Time Shift in SAKS-CoV-2 wastewater KINA concentration and reported positive cases

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Characteristics of SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV and the SARS-CoV-2 viruses summarised by Ganesh
et al. (2021)
Table 2: Summary of WBE studies adapted from Xagoraraki and O'Brien (2020)
Table 3: Summary of recent studies on WBE that indicate the feasibility of monitoring of the SARS-CoV-
2. Adapted from (Zhu et al., 2021)
Table 4: List of methods of analysis used in different COVID-19 related studies and other epidemiological
studies
Table 5: Overview of research data, including the epidemiological indicators on the coronavirus dashboard
adapted from RIVM (2020a)
Table 6: Bivariate Pearson correlation for SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected
epidemiological indicators at the national level

LIST OF ACRONYMS AND GLOSSARY

Abbreviations

Abbreviations	Details		
ARIMA	Auto-Regressive Integrated Moving Average		
CCF	Cross Correlation Function		
ICU Intensive Care Unit			
MERS	Middle East Respiratory Syndrome		
PM	Particulate Matter		
RIVM	The National Institute for Public Health and the Environment		
SARS-CoV-2	Severe Acute Respiratory		
WBE	Wastewater-Based Epidemiology		
WWTP	Wastewater Treatment Plants		

Glossary

The research glossary describes the terms used in reporting of the coronavirus in this research.

Terminology	Definition			
Acute respiratory	A health condition where the lungs is unable to provide oxygen to the vital organ.			
distress				
syndrome				
(ARDS)				
Aerosol	Suspended tiny particles in the air. When an infected person exhales, the virus droplets is let out and suspended in the air, thereby generating aerosol.			
Antibody	An antibody is produced by the body's immune system in reaction to a virus			
response	infection. Antibody response involves the presence of antibodies in the blood. The			
	presence of the coronavirus antibodies in the blood indicates that the person has			
	been infected with the virus at some point. However, the person might not show			
	the symptoms when infected.			
Asymptomatic	An infected person who does not show symptoms of the coronavirus. Despite not			
	showing symptoms of the coronavirus, it is possible an asymptomatic person can			
	spread the virus to others.			
Animal to human	This involves the transmission of an infection from an animal to human through			
transmission	contact and the presence of the virus in the air.			
D' 1				
Biomarkers	I nese are characteristics, structures, or processes that can be measured in the			
D1 1	wastewater to describe the presence or occurrence of drugs or viruses.			
Blood	The transmission of the SARS-CoV-2 virus through transfusion of blood.			
transmission				
Clinical-based	The systematic collection, analysis, and interpretation of health-related data to			
surveillance	enable public health practitioners to make informed decisions.			
Confirmed cases	The number of people confirmed to be positive for the SARS-CoV-2 virus			
COVID-19	Acronym for coronavirus disease in 2019. COVID-19 is the name of the disease			

	caused by the highly infectious coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) after its outbreak in late			
	2019.			
Diagnose	An identification of the nature of a medical condition as a result of an examination			
	of symptoms			
Diarrhoea	Loose or watery stools, a characteristic of a gastrointestinal disorder			
Droplet	A tiny particle exhaled when an infected person talks, sings, coughs, or sneezes.			
	One can contract the virus when in closed contact with the droplet from an			
	infected person without precautions like physical distancing, adequately ventilated			
	environment, and the use of face masks.			
Endogenous	A growth from an internal cause			
Epidemic	A rapid and unexpected increase in the number of infections of a disease in a			
	population.			
Epidemiological	This includes the number of hospital admissions, positively tested cases, mortality,			
indicators	Intensive Care Unit (ICU) admissions, R number, and nursing homes confirmed			
	cases for monitoring the spread of COVID-19.			
Exogenous	A growth from an external cause			
Faecal-oral	Route of disease transmission from person to person, where fecal matter is			
transmission	consumed orally. Disease transmission through consumption of faeces of an			
	infected person by another person.			
Fomite	An object which carries infectious agents when contaminated, therefore passively			
	enabling transmission to a new host.			
Gastrointestinal	It involves symptoms of SARS-CoV-2 virus such as vomiting, diarrhea, stomach			
symptoms	pain and constipation.			
Gross Domestic	The monetary value of the goods and services produced by a country's economy in			
Products (GDP)	a specific time period.			
Incubation	The period between infection and the appearance of first signs.			
period				
Infectivity	The ability of pathogens of disease to infect many people.			
Infectivity rate	The rate of the spread of a disease in a population			
Intensive Care	It is a section of the hospital where critically ill patients are looked after.			
Unit				
Malaise	A state of uneasiness or discomfort, usually the first sign of an infection.			
Mammals	Warm-blooded animals with back bones.			
Myalgia	Medical term for muscle pain caused by injury, infections, or inflammatory			
	condition.			
Middle East	It is a viral disease of the coronavirus family spread between animals and humans.			
Respiratory	The virus can be contracted through physical direct and indirect contact with			
Syndrome	infected people or animals.			
Morbidity	The incidence rate of a disease in a population.			
Mortality	The number of deaths in a population in a certain period.			
Mutation of	The change in form of the structure of the SAR-CoV-2 virus in the creation of a			
SARS-CoV-2	variant form.			
virus				
RIVM	The National Institute for Public Health and the Environment is an independent			
	research institute in the Netherlands conducting research for public health safety			
	and a good living environment.			

Pandemic	Epidemic of an infectious disease over a wide geographical area and affecting a large population.			
Pneumonia	Inflammation of the lungs resulting from a viral or bacterial infection.			
pН	A measure of acidity or basicity of solutions.			
Physical	Staying about 1.5 meters away from other people to prevent the spread of the virus.			
distancing				
Presymptomatic	The early stages of a disease infection before all symptoms develop			
infections				
Positive tested	The patients that tested positive for the coronavirus.			
cases				
Psychoactive	Drugs and other substances that affect one's brain or mental health when			
substances	consumed.			
R – number	This is described as the reproduction number, which indicates the speed of the			
	spread of the virus. It describes the average number of people infected on average			
	by an infected person.			
Serologic testing	A test to determine the presence of components of serum such as antibodies and			
	antigens in a patient's sample.			
SARS-CoV	Acronym for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus disease is a viral			
	disease belong to the coronavirus family, which affects the respiratory system of			
	infected people. The disease shares the same characteristics as the other			
	coronavirus diseases.			
SARS-CoV-2	Acronym for Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus 2 also belongs to the			
	coronavirus family and affects the human respiratory system. The SARS-CoV-2 is			
<u> </u>	the cause of the global pandemic, COVID-19.			
Social distancing	It is a measure that involves the people staying at nome to curb the spread of a			
Symptomatic	Figure signs of infection or symptoms of a disease			
Westowator	An engaged that are information of a disease.			
wastewater-	through the analysis of human exerction			
epidemiology	unougn the analysis of numan excretion.			
Wastewater	A wastewater treatment plant removes impurities from severage so that they gap			
wastewater	A wastewater treatment plant removes impurities from sewage so that they can			
treatment plants	return to the environment such as aquiters of natural water bodies.			

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Background and Justification for the study

The severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has been a public health emergency of international concern since its outbreak and its declaration as a pandemic in March 2020 by the Director-General of the World Health Organisation (WHO) (Sohrabi et al., 2020; WHO, 2020g; Zhou et al., 2020a). COVID-19 is a novel virus which belongs to the family of Coronaviridae that infects humans and mostly affects the respiratory system (Hu et al., 2021). In the past, outbreaks of the family Coronaviridae caused deadly respiratory sickness in humans, including the Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS-CoV-2) in 2002 and the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS-CoV) in 2012 respectively; thereby making developing coronaviruses a new public health concern (Cui et al., 2019a). While there are several coronaviruses, the SARS-CoV-2 virus is one of the most fatal in the coronavirus family, causing slight to severe respiratory illnesses and death. In 2019, the SARS-CoV-2 virus emerged from Wuhan, China (Huang et al., 2020) and has since spread to over 200 countries and territories across the globe with over 205 million infected people and 4.3 million reported deaths, unusual of any viral pneumonia outbreak in the 21st century (WHO, 2021d). The SARS-CoV-2 has a high infectivity rate causing the spread of the virus within a short period (Remuzzi & Remuzzi, 2020). With the spread of the virus to different countries and territories all over the world, different mutations of the SARS-CoV-2 virus have emerged; thereby producing several variants of the SARS-CoV-2 virus (Conti et al., 2021). The alarming rate of transmission of SARS-CoV-2 has led to a disruption of regular way of life and of healthcare systems around the globe; it is an unprecedented crisis that affects all dimensions of life, movement, and economic activities.

The outbreak of the SARS-CoV-2 virus has led to global and local measures from countries to tackle this burning public health concern (Rahimi et al., 2020). Measures such as social distancing, physical distancing, quarantine, promotion of personal hygiene through handwashing and use of hand sanitizer, and the use of a facemask are being implemented to curb the spread of the virus. These measures have shown to be effective in minimising the number of COVID-19 infections (Bragazzi et.al, 2021; Chiu et al., 2020). Also, improvement in the supply of personal protective equipment (PPE), medical devices such as respirators and oxygen, and development of a vaccine are effective measures for the treatment of infected persons and the protection of people against the virus respectively (Flaxman et al., 2020; Han et al., 2020).

Other measures such as international flight restrictions and local travel restrictions have proven to reduce the spread of the virus (Chinazzi et al., 2020). These measures are challenging to implement; and have positive and negative impacts. For example, flight restrictions between nations aimed at curtailing the virus led to disruptions of travel, businesses, human interaction, social gatherings (Guan et al., 2020). Kumar et al. (2020), identified some positive environmental impact of the measures such as decreased air and noise pollution, reduced anthropogenic pollution of beaches, reclamation of territories by wildlife. Also, across countries, restriction of movement and other lockdown measures helped decrease carbon footprint (Anil et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020). Some negative effects of these measures include increased organic and inorganic waste generation through disposal of personal protective equipment (PPE), increase in food wastes and household wastes causing environmental pollution (Yudell et. al., 2020; Zambrano-Monserrate et.al., 2020). Measures, such as quarantine, social and physical distancing, face covering have also changed human (social and physical) interactions; with implications for mental health. Further actions and regulations on travel restrictions, social and physical distancing to curb the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus have taken a significant toll on the economy, employment rate, and trade activities across the globe (Gössling et al., 2020). From the beginning of the pandemic in 2019 till 2020, the world experienced an economic decline, with reports from the World Bank, (2020) indicating a 5.2% global economic shrinkage, and the European Central Bank estimated a 12% contraction for the Eurozone economy in 2020 (Eurostat, 2020). The Gross Domestic Product (GDP) used to determine the wellness of a nation's economy fell by 32% in the United States of America, by 27.8% in Japan (Dennis, 2020), by 20.4% in the United Kingdom, and by 8.5% in the Netherlands (CBS, 2020a) by the second quarter of 2020. The United Nations (2020), estimated a decline in global trade by approximately 13% to 32% due to the worldwide measure and restrictions. Recently, the Bureau of Statistics Netherlands, (2021) reported a further contraction of GDP in the Netherlands by 0.5% in the first quarter (January – April) of 2021 relative to the third quarter (September – December) of 2020. There is a large geographical variation not only in implementation but also in the effects of these actions and regulations to stop the spread of the virus (Verschuur et. al., 2021). With continuous spread or resurgence of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, the economy will face further challenges and would lead to more global economic hardship.

Considering the high infectivity of the SARS-CoV-2 virus and the adverse social and economic effects of the measures to contain it, it is necessary to understand its transmission and spread for proper surveillance and monitoring (Ferretti et al., 2020). The surveillance of the SARS-CoV-2 virus through monitoring of the trends in the epidemiological indicators such as hospital admissions, mortality, and positive tested cases from clinical tests supports public health authorities (WHO, 2020c). The rate of clinical testing for the virus has increased over time with more production of test kits and expansion and distribution to meet with the demands. Still, testing all the population would be costly and require a lot of workforce. For example, in some countries, people are tested based on set rules and requirements, such as testing symptomatic patients and those who had travelled to high-risk regions or countries according to CDC (2020) in the United States of America (U.S), and the Netherlands (RIVM, 2021). Yuan et al. (2021) discussed that the people infected with the SARS-CoV-2 virus experience stigmatisation, thereby, affecting their psychological and mental health. Hence, clinical testing might result in people being afraid of stigmatisation associated with positively confirmed cases of the disease. However, with the inadequacies in clinical testing, both symptomatic, asymptomatic and pre-symptomatic patients might not be correctly accounted for in the estimation of SARS-CoV-2 confirmed cases for decisions on public health (Murakami et al., 2020). Serologic testing which involves measuring the antibody response of individuals for infection of SARS-CoV-2 has shown a premise for identifying the symptomatic and asymptomatic infection rates; and the trend of the virus within a specific population (Yongchen et al., 2020). Serology would allow understanding of the number of severe cases among infected people, but testing a whole population is costly and requires lots of people. Therefore, a cost-effective technique that requires limited workforce for real-time surveillance of the SARS-CoV-2 virus that can improve public health decisions is needed.

Wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE) is an approach used to measure chemical and biological pollutants in wastewater, based on the quantitative and qualitative analysis of the data obtained from the wastewater generated by the population within the wastewater treatment plant (Choi et al., 2018). WBE can be used to explain the trends of events in a population through analysis of the biomarkers in the wastewater within the population. It offers another approach to describe the spatial and temporal trends of illicit drug consumption when interpreted with other indicators such as drug-use surveys and drug impounded (Kankaanpää et al., 2016). Studies on WBE have focused on illicit drug and alcohol consumption (Lorenzo & Picó, 2019; Mercan et al., 2019; van Nuijs et al., 2011; González-Mariño et al., 2020; López-García et al., 2019), but also offer premise in the monitoring of the spread of diseases within a population. Some studies describes the vital role that WBE played in the early warning and supervision of enteric viruses like poliovirus, norovirus (Flannery et al., 2012; Nordgren et al., 2009), and hepatitis virus (Cuevas-Ferrando et al., 2020; Miura et al., 2016). WBE has shown potential in signalling the spread of these viruses within a population not captured by clinical testing through analysis of both symptomatic and asymptomatic people. The prospects of WBE have developed rapidly and shown to provide critical and extensive early surveillance analysis of public and environmental health statuses at the community level (Mao et al., 2020).

Researchers have been considering wastewater testing as a feasible means of assessing and monitoring the SARS-CoV-2 virus across countries to complement results derived from clinical and serologic tests of the virus. Diarrhoea has been reported as a possible symptom of COVID-19, with both symptomatic and asymptomatic individuals shedding the SARS-CoV-2 RNA (ribonucleic acid) through faeces (Han et al., 2020; Lo et al., 2020). The existence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in faeces brings about research on coronavirus in wastewater (Wang et al., 2005). Wu et al., (2020) explain that the presence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in faeces or stools of infected people weeks after the infection is not detected with clinical oral tests. With WBE as a possible support tool for the surveillance of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, studies have shown the presence of the virus in wastewater in different countries (Ahmed et al., 2020a; Kumar et al., 2020; Sherchan et al., 2020), including the Netherlands (Medema et. al., 2020). The presence and detection of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater provides an opportunity for another approach to monitor and describe the spatial and temporal spread of the virus within a population.

In The Netherlands, the National Institute for Health and Environment (RIVM) monitors the spread of COVID-19 using different epidemiological indicators through the coronavirus dashboard (RIVM, 2020b). These indicators describe the intensity of the infection of SARS-CoV-2 virus at different temporal and spatial units. With the weekly measurement of the SARS-CoV-2 concentration from wastewater, the number of coronavirus particles in wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) has been included on the dashboard. Also, the datasets of these epidemiological indicators, including the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration, exists on different open data sources published by the RIVM. Therefore, the identification, integration, and organisation of the data sources to provide an improved understanding of the spatial and temporal analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 virus is worth exploring. The combination of WBE with other data sources of epidemiological indicators would provide a comprehensive spatial and temporal analysis of health-related issues. Therefore, integrating WBE with other data sources of epidemiological indicators would provide a comprehensive spatial and temporal analysis in observing the spatial and temporal trends of SARS-CoV-2 virus (Mao et al., 2020).

Studies on the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater have also shown the association between wastewater samples and confirmed cases in a population (Ahmed et al., 2020; La Rosa et al., 2020; Rimoldi et al., 2020), but none of these studies assessed the potential of the data in describing the spatial and temporal trend of the virus. In the Netherlands, Medema et al. (Medema et al., 2020) investigated the detection of SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater and described the potential of the WBE to measure the trend of infection rates at the early stages of the pandemic. Their research addressed the relationship between the concentration of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater, and the confirmed cases estimated and suggested the comparison of positive cases with the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater based on the catchment area of the WWTP. The study also described that the temporal pattern of the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in the WWTP of eight municipalities corresponds with confirmed positive cases of the virus. Medema et al. (2020) suggested the need for accurate quantification of SARS-CoV-2 virus RNA in wastewater and the availability of more epidemiological data at different scales to demonstrate the relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 virus RNA in wastewater and the other

epidemiological indicators. There has been a continuous incorporation of the wastewater concentration data for the WWTP to the dashboard managed by RIVM. Also, there has been an update of the other epidemiological indicators characterised by varying spatial units on the dashboard. With the update and incorporation of these dataset on the coronavirus dashboard, it is therefore essential to assess the prospect of SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater in analysing the spatial and temporal patterns of the virus through comparison of the relationship between the epidemiological indicators.

Research on the detection of SARS-CoV-2 virus in wastewater have explored the relationship between the wastewater RNA and some other epidemiological indicators and proposed that other methods can be further explored to describe the relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater and the other epidemiological indicators (D'Aoust et al., 2021; Nemudryi et al., 2020). Employing suitable methods in analysing the association of the epidemiological indicators of SARS-CoV-2 virus is vital in understanding the virus (Farkas et. al., 2020). Studies related to COVID-19 and SARS-CoV-2 virus have been exploring the geospatial and geostatistical techniques in monitoring and surveillance of the virus (Franch-Pardo et al., 2020; Boulos et al., 2020). The research reviewed studies that involve the application of GIS techniques and methods to different aspects of COVID-19, including spatiotemporal analysis, disease mapping, and environmental impact of the virus. These studies propose the use of GIS techniques along with geostatistical techniques to proffer solutions to new issues related to coronavirus. Also, Franch-Pardo et al. (2020), describe that the use of geospatial methods would provide more understanding of the spatial and temporal dynamics of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, which is important for its mitigation. They also explained that a comprehensive spatial and temporal analysis of the virus would give more insight into the impact of the pandemic, hence, helping decision making, planning and mitigation measures. The application of statistical and geospatial techniques has shown potential in providing evidence for mitigation measures and decision making to curb the spread of the virus.

Researchers advised that the feasibility of WBE as a public health tool for monitoring the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater should not take away the clinical testing of individuals but rather complement the epidemiological indicators (Farkas et al., 2020; Xagoraraki & O'Brien, 2020). They suggested the integration of WBE with other public health indicators to assess the prevalence of the virus in a population to proffer mitigation measures. There is limited research that explains the relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater and the other epidemiological indicators across the national scale —for example, understanding the spatial and temporal relationship between hospital admissions and SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater, positive confirmed cases, and SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater, positive confirmed cases, and SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater, and coronavirus deaths and SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater. There is a need to understand the significance of these epidemiological indicators to assess the potential of the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater. Hence, identifying these epidemiological indicators from the different sources and organising suitably, to identify their relationship with SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater is worth exploring. These would help to describe the potential of SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater as a feasible way to measure the virus spread. Also, the result of this analysis would support informed decision-making and, eventually, policy development.

1.2. Problem Statement

COVID -19 is a complex and highly infectious novel disease, which underlies strong spatio-temporal dynamics. Understanding the spatial and temporal trends through different means of surveillance is challenging. Standard approaches using the number of positively tested cases (daily/weekly), the percentage of positively tested cases, R number, hospital and ICU admissions data, positive cases in nursing homes data, mortality and morbidity rates obtained from clinical-based surveillance, serological testing, and surveys are different ways of monitoring the COVID-19 transmission. These methods

represent a measure of active cases while testing the entire population is impractical and expensive for most countries. The detection of the SAR-CoV-2 RNA in faeces and the quantification of the virus particles from stools and wastewater holds potential for another approach to understand the spatial and temporal trends of the virus as proven with other viral diseases, although the potential of the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater has not been fully explored. No single data source can fully provide a comprehensive understanding of the spatial and temporal trends of the disease. Therefore, a multi-indicator approach is needed.

Building on the work of Medema et al. (2020)'s work on relationship between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported COVID-19 cases, this research explores the spatial and temporal trends of selected epidemiological indicators. These epidemiological indicators exist in different data sources, which are unique and consist of the underlying patterns over time. The potential of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data as an early warning indicator to monitor the severity of the virus in the Netherlands is explored. The resulting temporal analysis would be compared across space and see where they differ and complement each other. The comparison of the spatial and temporal analysis of the different data sources would help clarify the relationship between the data sources and support informed decision making. Also, identifying the relationship between the SAR-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater and other epidemiological indicators to examine the potential of WBE in monitoring the spatial and temporal trends of SAR-CoV-2 is yet to be studied.

Therefore, this research aims to compare the spatial and temporal patterns of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and selected epidemiological indicators as a feasible way to describe the spatial and temporal variation of the SARS-CoV-2 virus in the Netherlands.

1.3. Research Objectives and Questions

1.3.1. Research Objectives

The main research objective is to develop a comparative approach to assess the potential of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data in relation to other epidemiological indicators and analyse the spatial and temporal trends of SARS-CoV-2 virus in the Netherlands. The research objective is further divided into three sub-objectives identified as follows:

- 1. To establish reliable data sources of epidemiological indicators suitable for spatial and temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 in the Netherlands.
- 2. To generate spatial and temporal patterns for the epidemiological indicators and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data, and identify the similarities and differences based on the patterns.
- 3. To derive evidence-based recommendations for health-related decision making and policy development based on the similarities and differences of the spatial and temporal patterns of epidemiological indicator data and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data.

1.3.2. Research Questions

- 1. To establish reliable data sources of epidemiological indicators suitable for spatial and temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 virus in the Netherlands.
 - a) Which data sources of epidemiological indicators exist for spatial and temporal analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 virus?

- b) What are factors that determine the epidemiological indicators of SARS-CoV-2 virus?
- c) How can the suitable epidemiological indicators be organised for spatial and temporal analysis?
- 2. To generate spatial and temporal patterns for the epidemiological indicators and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data, and identify the similarities and differences based on the patterns.
 - a) What methods are best suited to describe the spatial and temporal patterns of epidemiological indicators and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data in wastewater-based epidemiological studies?
 - b) What are the similarities and differences between the spatial and temporal patterns of the epidemiological indicators and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data?
 - c) Can SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data be used as an (early warning) indicator of virus transmission intensity?
- 3. To derive evidence-based recommendations for health-related decision making and policy development, based on the similarities and differences of the spatial and temporal patterns of epidemiological indicator data and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data.
 - a) How can the resulting similarities and differences between the spatial and temporal patterns of the epidemiological indicators and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data be used for decision making and policy planning?

1.4. Thesis Outline

Chapter 1 provides a general overview and background information on the epidemiology of COVID-19 and the causative virus, SARS-CoV-2. It highlights the transmission media, symptoms, impacts, actions, and regulations of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. It also discusses the approach of WBE as a possible means to understand the spatial and temporal trend of SARS-CoV-2 virus. It identifies the research problem statement, the research objectives and highlights the research questions to achieve the objectives.

Chapter 2 presents the findings of a review of key literatures on the epidemiology of COVID-19 and the approaches for surveillance of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. It describes the existing knowledge on WBE and its application to viruses, drugs, and alcohol consumption and provides focused examples of studies on these topics. The chapter also gives an understanding of the relation between the WBE approach and the standard epidemiological indicators and their impact on each other. This chapter highlights the methods employed in past literatures to establish relationship between the concepts on similar topics.

Chapter 3 defines the methodology employed at different stages of the research and the ethical consideration. It also provides an overview of the research methodological workflow, describing the case study selection, the methods for data acquisition, processing and organisation, the selection of suitable methods, implementation of the methods suitable for spatial and temporal techniques, and finally, the comparative analysis of the spatial and temporal analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater and the epidemiological indicators.

Chapter 4 presents the results of the spatial and temporal trends and patterns of the SARS-COV-2 concentration in wastewater data and the selected epidemiological indicators. It presents the result of the statistical association between all the epidemiological indicators and describes the spatial variation of the statistical relationship across different geographic scales. It outlines the output of the temporal relationship between SARS-COV-2 concentration in wastewater and the selected epidemiological indicators and presents the spatial patterns across different geographic scales.

Chapter 5 discusses the result of the thesis. First, the discussion on the temporal exploration of all the epidemiological indicators, followed by a discussion of the spatial patterns of SARS-COV-2 concentration in wastewater data and the selected epidemiological indicators during the study period. It discusses the results of the statistical and temporal association and between epidemiological indicators and their spatial patterns. Finally, the evidence-based recommendation is discussed based on the comparative analysis spatial and temporal analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater and the selected epidemiological indicators. It also highlights the limitation of the research.

Chapter 6 outlines the conclusions for the thesis and provides recommendations for future research.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1. Introduction

The coronavirus pandemic has been one of the most challenging global health threats in recent time (Park et al., 2021; WHO, 2021a). Due to the complexity of the virus, different measures need to be adopted to provide a comprehensive understanding of the spatial and temporal spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus (Wu & Zhang, 2021). Different countries all over the world have adopted the standards means of clinical and serologic testing to monitor the spread of the virus, thereby providing mitigation measures at national and regional scales (Damluji et. al., 2021; La Marca et al., 2020; Mercer & Salit, 2021). At present, WBE is being adopted in different countries, including the Netherlands, as another approach to describe the spread of the virus within a population with consideration for the infected people, which are limited by clinical and serological testing. Therefore, this chapter introduces the epidemiology of COVID-19 and an overview of the transmission, symptoms, surveillance approaches of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. It describes the role of WBE as a measure of the spatial and temporal trends of viruses and other related studies. It also describes the methods adopted in different studies to describe the spatial and temporal spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus.

2.2. Epidemiology of COVID-19

Corona means crown in Latin, was named from the crown-like spikes on the outer surface of the virus, Coronavirus (Rabi et al., 2020). Coronavirus (CoV) is a member of the virus family 'Coronaviridae' and the subfamily 'Coronaviridae' (ICTV, 2011). The CoVs have about four main groups, including alpha, beta, gamma, and delta. Mammals are infected with the alpha and beta coronaviruses causing cold, abdominal pain, diarrhea and respiratory diseases in humans and animals (Cui et al., 2019a; Zhou et al., 2018). The gamma and delta coronaviruses infect mammals and birds (Chen et al., 2020). Presently, seven different coronaviruses have been discovered to infect humans. In contrast, four human coronaviruses (HCoVs) such as H-CoV-OC43, HCoV-NL63, HKU1, HCoV-229E have been reported to cause common colds and infections in the elderly and infant population (Dhama et al., 2020). These four HCoVs causes mild to moderate diseases. The other three coronaviruses include the SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV and the new SARS-CoV-2 which causes mild to serious cold, pneumonia and respiratory illnesses in humans (Cui et al., 2019b). The SARS-CoV and the MERS-CoV had emerged earlier, resulting in high infections and mortality and was a public health concern. The summary of the characteristics of the SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV and the novel SARS-CoV-2 virus is as displayed below (Table 1). Based on the discovery of the SARS-CoV, some studies have investigated the epidemiological effects of the HCoVs, further leading to the different methods adopted in the identification of the virus, such as testing the secretion from human respiratory outlets (Bosis et al., 2007; Fouchier et al., 2004; Prompetchara et al., 2020). They also demonstrated that the SARS-CoV could be considered to have a zoonotic origin, considering its transmission from animals to humans (Guan et al., 2003), with the transmission of the SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2 to humans were reported to have occurred in an animal market (Guan et al., 2003; Hemida et al., 2013; Rabi et al., 2020).

Characteristics	SARS-CoV	MERS-CoV	SARS-CoV-2	References
1. Origin (Year)	2002	2012	2019	(Prompetchara et al., 2020)
2. Origin	Guangdong, China	Jeddah, Saudi	Wuhan, China	(Xie & Chen, 2020)
(Location)		Arabia		
3. Confirmed cases	8,098	2,279	167,011,807 <u>nb</u>	(WHO, 2021b, 2021c)
4. Mortality	774	806	3,472,068 <u>nb</u>	(WHO, 2018, 2021b, 2021c)
5. Number of countries and territories involved	29	27	237 nb	(Z. Song et al., 2019)
6. Incubation	2-10 days	2-14 days	1-14 days	(Lee & Hsueh, 2020)
period				
7. Transmission means	Physical contact with an infected person, and through respiratory droplets of an infected person	Physical contact with an infected person, and through respiratory droplets of an infected person	Physical contact with an infected person and through respiratory droplets of an infected person	(Tu et al., 2020)
8. Human-to- human transmission	Effective	Reduced	Effective	(Lee & Hsueh, 2020)
9. Transmission coverage	Global coverage	Region	Global coverage	(Z. Song et al., 2019)
10. Pandemic possibility	Yes	No	Yes	(Lee & Hsueh, 2020)
10. Symptoms	Headache, cough, diarrhea, fever, myalgia, shortness of breath, and malaise	Diarrhea, fever, myalgia, shortness of breath and cough	Cough, fever, shortness of breath, diarrhea, sore throat, and myalgia	(C. C. Lai, Shih, Ko, Tang, & Hsueh, 2020; Tu et al., 2020)
11. Complications	Severe acute respiratory distress syndrome, pneumonia, death out the SARS-CoV-2 extr	Severe acute respiratory distress syndrome, pneumonia, death acted from WHO (202)	Severe acute respiratory distress syndrome, pneumonia, death Ic) as of 25 th May 202	(C. C. Lai, Shih, et al., 2020)

Table 1: Characteristics of SARS-CoV, MERS-CoV and the SARS-CoV-2 viruses summarised by Ganesh et al. (2021)

The outbreak of the SARS-CoV-2 virus was first discovered in Wuhan, China, in December 2019 with early identification of clusters of pneumonia by the Wuhan health authorities, and several measures for different classes of infectious diseases were adopted to curb the spread of the virus (Hasnain et. al., 2020). An independent panel of experts established by the WHO believes stricter measures could have been imposed earlier by the Chinese authorities and WHO could have acted faster to prevent the subsequent global spread of the virus (The Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response, 2021). The report explained that the level of response to contain the virus was insufficient to meet the high transmission rate of the virus. According to the same report, following the declaration of the SARS-CoV-2 virus as a public health emergency of international concern on 30 January 2020, countries around the

world were reluctant with their approach on control strategies to curb the spread of the virus. Also, the declaration of the lockdown in Wuhan, China on 23rd February 2020, brings more scare on the severity of the SARS-CoV-2 virus that causes severe public health concerns (Zheng, 2020). Subsequently, the virus spread continuously to different countries and regions, with over 82,294 reported cases and 2,804 deaths in 47 countries as of 27th February 2020 (WHO, 2020b). Zheng (2020) summarised some of the main events in the early stages of the COVID-19 (Figure 2-1)



Figure 2-1: Some main events in the early stages of the outbreak of the SARS-CoV-2 adapted from Zheng, (2020)

The SARS-CoV-2 has proven to be more infectious than the SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV viruses due to its high transmission rate and difficulty locating infected people with mild symptoms and presymptomatic people (Ferretti et al., 2020). Understanding the transmission of the virus would give more insight into the spread of the SARS-CoV-2; hence, reducing the infection rate and its associated deaths (Chowdhury & Oommen, 2020). The early infected persons were reported to have contact with the wet market, which explains the possible early transmission of the virus from animals to humans, which has now evolved into human-to-human transmission (Zhou et al., 2020b). But there is still an ongoing investigation by the WHO to establish the source of transmission of the SARS-CoV-2 during the early stages causing the outbreak of the virus. The WHO explained that the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 is possible through multiple transmission pathways such as contact, airborne, droplet, fomite, faecal-oral, mother-to-child, animal to human transmission, and blood transmission, as shown in Figure 1 (WHO, 2020f). The SARS-CoV-2 can be transmitted through direct physical contact, or indirect physical contact with an infected person, contaminated environment, or contaminated surfaces or objects (fomites) through means such as droplets in the breath, saliva, and respiratory droplets (Karia et al., 2020). The transmission is mainly from contact with an infected person, when the infected person talks, sings, coughs, or sneezes without adequately covering their mouth and nose and exhales infected secretion such as respiratory droplet and saliva (Ghinai et al., 2020). The infection through the respiratory droplet is mostly occurring when an infected person with respiratory symptoms (sneezing, coughing) sings or talks within 1 metre with a noninfected person, thereby transmitting the virus to the non-infected person (Figure 2-2).

Studies have revealed that the virus is also transmitted via aerosols (Tang et al., 2020). Research by van Doremalen et al. (2020) described the SARS-CoV-2 as infectious for hours while in the air. It can be transmitted through aerosol when an infected person exhales the virus droplets, suspended in the air, and generate an aerosol. A noninfected person can inhale the aerosol and get infected, provided the inhaled quantity of aerosol is enough to get the person infected. Johansson et al. (2021) also explained that asymptomatic people are responsible for about 50% of transmission, based on their analysis on the amount of infected people by asymptomatic individuals. Kronbichler et al. (2020) further substantiated that infected people who do not show symptoms are a significant contributor to the spread of the virus in a population, but there is no substantial information about the asymptomatic people with the SARS-CoV-2 (Gao et al., 2020). Furthermore, SARS-CoV-2 can be transmitted from mother to child through contact,

but there is no firm evidence of transmission through breastfeeding of children (Wang et al., 2020). Although the SARS-CoV-2 is evident to have multiple transmission means of contracting the virus, it is not yet known, all the transmission pathways of the SARS-CoV-2 to humans.

Symptomatic and asymptomatic cases of the SARS-CoV-2 are infectious and spread at different levels (Sayampanathan et al., 2021). SARS-CoV-2 appears to primarily be spread through contacts with those who show symptoms and those who do not. Most infected people are symptomatic, while about 40% of infected people do not show symptoms (Yang et al., 2020). The sudden onset of symptoms of infected people with SARS-CoV-2 includes cough, fever, fatigue, headache and loss of smell, as indicated in Figure 2 (Chan et al., 2020; Lai et al., 2020; WHO, 2020e). Some infected people also experience some gastrointestinal symptoms such as vomiting, diarrhea and loss of appetite (Song et al., 2020; Villapol, 2020). Lai et al. (2020) explained further that about half of infected people do not show these symptoms, which might result in patients being diagnosed with another disease. However, diarrhea is associated with a significant percentage of SARS-CoV-2 infections (D'Amico et al., 2020; Wei et al., 2020). In the long term, some cases can become severe, with some infected people exhibiting respiratory diseases such as acute respiratory distress syndrome, an infection that prevents the proper flow of oxygen in the lungs and the entire body (Li et. al., 2020; Zochios et. al., 2020).

Most infected people show mild symptoms, but the virus has a severe consequence on the elderly and people with pre-existing chronic diseases and other medical conditions, having about 17% mortality (Figliozzi et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2020). The elderly between the ages of 40 and 60 are the most susceptible to the virus with infections in males a bit higher than females, and children infections are uncommon (Lai et al., 2020). Children's infection rates are generally low, but they are not immune to the virus and show mild symptoms (Cao et al., 2020). Studies have shown transmission occurs due to physical contact with symptomatic patients within the domestic environment (leong et al., 2020), at work, recreational centres, religious gatherings, public places (Hamner et al., 2020; James et al., 2020; Jang et al., 2020; Park et al., 2020). Also, the proportion of asymptomatic people is expected to vary according to age, based on underlying conditions of older people, with children and young adults being the majority of the asymptomatic patients (Davies et al., 2020). Most studies reported a high rate of asymptomatic patients, while a follow-up showed a significant number of those patients eventually showed symptoms (Byambasuren et al., 2020; Sakurai et al., 2020), with significant percentage of asymptomatic patients never exhibited symptoms of the virus (Wang et al., 2020). Furthermore, several studies described that infections and transmission take place before the carrier shows signs of the virus (Arons et al., 2020; Jang et al., 2020; Tong et al., 2020; Yu et al., 2020). The complexity of the transmission and the continuous spread of the virus explains the difficulty in curtailing the virus, which brings about several local and international measures to curb the spread; thereby reducing the infection and mortality rate.



Figure 2-2: SARS-CoV-2 transmission pathways and symptoms adapted by Jeong et al., (2020); Karia et al., (2020); WHO, (2020d)

2.2.1. Factors that accelerate exposure to the SARS-CoV-2

The transmission of the SARS-CoV-2 is possible through multiple means, and several factors contribute to the survival and, eventually, the transmission of the disease (Figure 2-2). These factors can be categorised into human behavioural and environmental factors: social interactions, population distribution, migration, contact with animals, and agricultural development (Barratt et al., 2019). These factors are responsible for the contraction of the SARS-CoV-2, and explains how the virus enters the human body, popularly through contact with the virus droplets, aerosol in the human environment. The WHO explains that it is unknown if SARS-CoV-2 will persist on surfaces, but the virus can survive on surfaces for hours (Parry, 2004). The human behavioural factor, by extension, population distribution, social interaction between people, is significant in contributing to the transmission of the virus through surfaces. The physical interaction of people within a confined space without following guidelines such as physical distancing, use of face mask and washing of hands mostly lead to the presence of the SAR-CoV-2 on surfaces. Also, a lack of proper ventilation with the confines of space contributes to the survival of the exhaled SARS-CoV-2 droplet in the air. This prompt the responsibility of the people to ensure proper hygiene and follow all health guidelines in all areas such as homes, hospitals, and public places to curb the transmission of the SARS-CoV-2. The need to pay attention to all contributory factors to the exposure of the virus would provide a better understanding of measures to control the spread of the virus.

The relationship between environmental factors such as temperature, relative humidity and the prevalence of the SARS-CoV-2 is one of the most important concerns due to the high transmission rate of COVID-19 in the world (Abbasi et al., 2020; Prata et al., 2020). A study by Mecenas et al. (2020) reviewed literatures on the seasonality of the SARS-CoV-2 to describe the relationship between the increase in temperature and relative humidity, and the prevalence of the virus. The study identified that most literature reviewed described that both high and low temperature leads to low infections of the SARS-CoV-2, but the factors are insufficient to determine the variability in the virus prevalence. Also, a study by

Kassem (2020) described the relationship between the number of positive COVID-19 cases and temperature in 43 countries. The association was observed over four time periods from January, February, or March 2020, when the first case was recorded in the countries, till April, May, or July 2020. The study reported an inverse relationship between temperature and the prevalence of the virus, but the significance of the association varies by geography. Temperature is not the most significant factor contributing to the transmission rate of the virus (Notari, 2021). Changes in seasons or weather, such as an increase in relative humidity and temperature, are not enough major factors responsible for a decline in the infection rate of the SARS-CoV-2, but with an improvement and adherence to the public health interventions (Poirier et al., 2020). Generally, the WHO (2020e) reported that low infections of coronavirus could be associated with sunlight, low or high pH and heat. However, research by Chin et al. (2020) described that the SARS-CoV-2 is stable at a pH between 3-10, at 20°c (room temperature), but the virus is susceptible to disinfection of surfaces where they are present.

2.3. Wastewater Based Epidemiology

Wastewater-based epidemiology is an innovative approach based on the chemical analysis of specific human metabolic excretion products (biomarkers) in wastewater (Lai et al., 2018; Rousis et al., 2017; van Nuijs et al., 2011b), with the potential to act as a complementary approach for current infectious disease surveillance systems and an early warning system for disease outbreaks (Sims & Kasprzyk-Hordern, 2020). These biomarkers could be harmful substances such as human excreta (faeces or urine), food substances that can be traced to a population within the confines of a geographical defined wastewater catchment area (Sims & Kasprzyk-Hordern, 2020). There is an assumption that identifying and quantifying biomarkers in community wastewater reflects the population health status in real time, as they contain rich chemical and biological information (Mao et al., 2020). Wastewater analysis is equivalent to obtaining and analysing a community-based urine and faecal sample. Monitoring temporal changes in virus concentration in combination with monitoring metabolites and biomarkers for population adjustments allows early detection of outbreaks. Additionally, a well organised spatial sampling would enable the discovery of outbreak-prone regions (Xagoraraki & O'Brien, 2020), essentially providing population-scale information on viral infections within catchment boundaries (Choi et al., 2018).

The WBE process encompasses the stages of WBE applicable to all related WBE-based research, including epidemiological public health research (Figure 2-3). The wastewater from a geographically defined population flows into the wastewater treatment plants. The WWTPs serve one or more communities in which the population within the communities contributes to the wastewater in the WWTPs. The wastewater samples are collected from the untreated WWTPs, which in most cases involves a daily collection of samples at different time intervals, and a single daily aggregate of the sample is obtained (Markosian & Mirzoyan, 2019; Sims & Kasprzyk-Hordern, 2020). However, in the Netherlands, wastewater samples are collected twice weekly from over 300 WWTPs, and a weekly aggregate is obtained (RIVM, 2020a). The aggregation of the samples is essential based on the variation of the wastewater flowing into the WWTP. The wastewater samples collected are processed and undergo an analysis involving extraction and concentration of samples for biomarkers. The identification of biomarkers depends on the purpose of the WBE, such as identification of illicit drugs, pharmaceutical products, or viral disease RNA in the wastewater samples. An important consideration in WBE is the flow rate of the wastewater into the WWTP because, in most cases, there is variation of the wastewater flows, mostly caused by seasons (Rashid & Liu, 2020). For example, there are expectations of large influent flows of wastewater during wet seasons due to the effect of rainfall, which would influence the concentration of the samples used in the identification of biomarkers. The concentration of the biomarker in the wastewater samples and the volume of the wastewater accounts for the load of the biomarkers identified (Zuccato et al., 2008). This step is important in WBE for normalisation of the viral load flowing into the WWTP to correct for the contribution of human waste into the WWTP. Hence, the concentration of biomarker in the wastewater samples requires population normalisation to estimate the population contributing to the biomarker. Population and flow rates normalisation allow comparing biomarkers across different spatial scales and socioeconomic statuses (Bodík et al., 2016; Pereira et al., 2015). Therefore, WBE detects biomarker concentrations in untreated wastewater, uses the inhabitants in the catchment areas and the wastewater flow rates to obtain per capita mass load estimates of the biomarkers to offer community health information (Boogaerts et al., 2021; Lai et al., 2013; van Wel et al., 2016).



Figure 2-3: An illustration of wastewater-based epidemiology approach for community COVID-19 surveillance as depicted in Polo et al. (2020a)

2.3.1. Wastewater Based Epidemiology and other related studies

WBE is an emerging field that has had tremendous success since Daughton first proposed the idea in 2001, hypothesizing that drug traces in wastewater may be connected back to its usage within a population (Daughton, 2001). Earlier research on WBE were focused on its application to consumption of illicit drugs such as cocaine, methamphetamines, cocaine and heroin (Boleda et al., 2007; Castiglioni et al., 2006; Kasprzyk-Hordern et al., 2008), in which pioneering research by Zuccato et al., (2005) successfully used WBE to investigate cocaine consumption and its quantification in wastewater, when he successfully extracted and measured cocaine in surface water and wastewater in Italy, and assessed the consumption of

cocaine use in the community. Since then, studies worldwide have adopted and established the monitoring initiative of the WBE research in Europe (Thomas et al., 2012), the USA (Halden et al., 2019) and Australia (Lai et al., 2016; O'Brien et al., 2019; Tscharke et al., 2016). With this method, untreated wastewater is considered to store human excretion, which includes illicit drugs metabolites. The concentration of the metabolites at the WWTP could be equivalent to the amount of the metabolites excreted by the catchment population if the excretion remains stable in wastewater. Traditional surveys for estimating illicit drug use consumption can be inaccurate and prone to response bias. WBE has proven to be successful due to the direct quantification of drug residues (Irvine et al., 2011), for comparing population-scale consumption of illicit drugs in different countries (Thomas et al., 2012). Therefore, an important consideration in wastewater-based epidemiology is the estimation of the contributing population to the sampled wastewater (van Nuijs et al., 2011). Choi et al. (2019) illustrated how chemicals from illicit drug consumption in wastewater reflect the respective populations' social, demographic, and economic properties. This highlighted the potential importance of wastewater in understanding sociodemographic determinants of population health. From a temporal perspective, the WBE approach can provide crucial and timely information on short (Karolak et al., 2010) and long-term trends (van Nuijs et al., 2011) in illicit drug use.

WBE has also included a wide range of other self-consciously consumed substances, ranging from those linked to lifestyle choices like alcohol consumption (Reid et al., 2011; Rodríguez-Álvarez et al., 2014; Zheng et al., 2020), psychoactive substances (Kinyua et al., 2015; Reid et al., 2014), nicotine consumption (Senta et al., 2015), caffeine consumption (Driver et al., 2020). A study by Boogaerts et al. (2016) assessed the feasibility of WBE to monitor the spatial and temporal trends in alcohol consumption among various Belgian inhabitants. It highlighted the importance of WBE as a complementary indicator on spatiotemporal trends in alcohol consumption on different scales (i.e., local, national, and international scales). WBE was employed by Driver et al. (2020) to assess alcohol, nicotine and caffeine consumption of a university campus in the U.S.A, to complement the self-reported data available. In this study, alcohol consumption estimation from WBE coincides with the self-reported data, which is expensive to conduct over a long period of time. Other studies also illustrated the association of alcohol dependence (Arria et al., 2011), pharmaceuticals (Baz-Lomba et al., 2016), nicotine (van Wel et al., 2016), caffeine (Senta et al., 2015) and their estimates in wastewater. Hence, the feasibility of WBE in the assessment of these selfassessment consumed substances in a specified population at a low cost for a specified period. Concerning unintentional consumption of chemicals, some studies have extended the WBE approach to assess (Rousis et al., 2017) and measure the effects of exposure to pesticides (Rousis et al., 2016) and heavy metals (Markosian & Mirzoyan, 2019) and their value in providing supplementary information to biomonitoring studies (Rousis et al., 2017).

Waterborne viruses are an important element of biomarkers in wastewater and have been linked to disease outbreaks. An important feature of viruses is that they grow inside the host cells. Therefore, the viral concentration excreted by the human population will correlate with the corresponding concentration in wastewater. Viruses have been identified as one of the most significant pathogens present in wastewater (Toze, 1997). WBE has a long history in public health as a surveillance tool for monitoring the spread of viruses, particularly for human enteric viruses such as hepatitis (Miura et al., 2016b), astroviruses (Prevost et al., 2015), norovirus and rotavirus (Santiso-Bellón et al., 2020). Table 2 summarizes previous studies using WBE to evaluate the population's levels of different substances and viruses. In the underlisted WBE studies on viruses, the viruses have been detected in excreta and wastewater.

Substances/Viruses	Authors	
Adenovirus	(Carducci et al., 2008; A. Hata, Kitajima, & Katayama, 2013;	
	Rosa, Pourshaban, Iaconelli, & Muscillo, 2010)	
Amphetamine	(Centazzo, Frederick, Jacox, Cheng, & Concheiro-Guisan,	
	2019; Irvine et al., 2011)	
Astrovirus	(Le Cann, Ranarijaona, Monpoeho, Le Guyader, & Ferré, 2004;	
	Le Guyader et al., 2008; Logan, O'Leary, & O'Sullivan, 2007)	
Doxepin, Verapamil, Tranquilizers,	(Hummel, Löffler, Fink, & Ternes, 2006)	
Opiates		
Enterovirus and norovirus	(A. Hata et al., 2013; Hewitt, Leonard, Greening, & Lewis,	
	2011; Katayama et al., 2008; Le Guyader et al., 2008)	
Hepatitis A virus	(Morace et al., 2002; Prado et al., 2011)	
Hepatitis E virus	(Masclaux, Hotz, Friedli, Savova-Bianchi, & Oppliger, 2013;	
	Orrù et al., 2004)	
Influenza	(Heijnen & Medema, 2011; To et al., 2010; Vester et al., 2010)	
Ketamine and methamphetamine	(Gao et al., 2020)	
Norovirus	(Hewitt, Greening, Leonard, & Lewis, 2013; Hewitt et al., 2011;	
	Katayama et al., 2008)	
Opoid	(Endo et al., 2020; Gushgari, Venkatesan, Chen, Steele, &	
	Halden, 2019)	
Polyomavirus	(Bofill-Mas, Pina, & Girones, 2000; Kitajima, Iker, Pepper, &	
	Gerba, 2014; Siebrasse et al., 2012)	
Rotavirus	(Kitajima et al., 2014; Prado et al., 2011; Sedmak, Bina,	
	MacDonald, & Couillard, 2005)	
Salivirus	(L. Li et al., 2009; Nielsen, Gyhrs, Nielsen, Pedersen, &	
	Böttiger, 2013)	
Sapovirus	(A. Hata et al., 2013; Kitajima et al., 2014)	

Table 2: Summary of WBE studies adapted from Xagoraraki and O'Brien (2020)

2.3.2. Wastewater Based Epidemiology in the surveillance of the SARS-CoV-2

Since one of the first reports of SARS-CoV-2 in human waste (Holshue et al., 2020), globally, a growing number of studies have tested for the presence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in treated untreated and/or urban wastewater and wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) to monitor the spread of the virus (Zahedi et al., 2021), further supporting the possibility of the WBE approach. The WHO stated that research on WBE should be viewed as a significant public health goal in order to advance information about COVID-19 (Polo et al., 2020; WHO, 2020d), but an important consideration in research on WBE is the comparison of the virus concentration in wastewater with the other virus surveillance indicators, thus providing an unbiased response to key aspects on the prevalence of the SARS-CoV-2 infections within a community to assist public health professionals in making informed decisions (Bivins et al., 2020). The application of WBE as an epidemiological technique for SARS-CoV-2 prevalence in a community is feasible regardless of whether the virons are infective in wastewater (Wurtzer et al., 2020). The wastewater sampling procedure is as shown in figure 2-3, describes the wastewater sample collection where a single sample collected gives the infection of the SARS-CoV-2 within the population. Thus, the sampling procedure as a strategy for WBE is useful as a potential prediction tool for the prevalence of the SARS-CoV-2 virus and, consequently, tackling the COVID-19 pandemic. The wastewater concentration data are combined with other epidemiological data for precise modelling that allows the prediction of the SARS-CoV-2 in different communities.

Globally, many countries have reported the presence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater, providing additional information on viral circulation along the lockdown assessments and pandemic phases (Aguiar-Oliveira et al., 2020). At different stages of the pandemic, WBE is being implemented as studies have shown that the SARS-CoV-2 RNA is often present in patient stool samples and wastewater in Italy (La Rosa et al., 2020; Rimoldi et al., 2020), The Netherlands (Lodder and de Roda Husman, 2020; Medema et al., 2020), India (Kumar et al., 2020), Spain (Randazzo et al., 2020), Japan (Haramoto et al., 2020) and the USA (Sherchan et al., 2020; Wu et al., 2020). These studies have established their research finding of the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA in faeces with some reports on the relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the positive tested cases; nonetheless, the different countries are thereby incorporating WBE into their national and regional SARS-CoV-2 surveillance programmes to detect the virus outbreak and provide early warning of the virus spread (WHO, 2020d). The presence of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater reveals the potential of wastewater-based epidemiology (WBE) in the surveillance of the SARS-CoV-2 with the establishment of its relationship with clinical testing indicators (Nemudryi et al., 2020).

In the Netherlands, Medema et al. (2020) suggested that WBE can act as a sensitive and pre-emptive system in understanding the circulation of the virus in the population and subsequently support social distancing policies. The study findings detected virus circulation in sewage six days before the first case was reported, and as the cases increased, there was a significant correlated increase in virus particles in the wastewater. Similarly, using samples from untreated WWTP in Montana, USA, Nemudryi et al. (2020), over a 74 day time period, showed SARS-CoV-2 RNA levels in wastewater followed symptom onset but precede clinical PCR test results. In the study by Wu et al. (2020b), unlike in Ahmed et al. (2020b), there was a significantly higher concentration in virus particles than expected compared to the clinically confirmed cases in Massachusetts. The research was based on significant uncertainty such as viral load in the stool of positive patients and therefore was subject to additional experiments across different spatial units to calibrate the numbers. Nonetheless, this study can inform quarantine efforts and social distancing decisions. Saguti et al. (2021) suggested collecting and analysing the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration across multiple regions to enable effective contact tracing and specific restriction measures. Therefore, in this study, the SARS-CoV-2 spatial and temporal spread across multiple regions is explored in comparison with other epidemiological indicators to describe the potential of the WBE approach to monitoring the virus. Table 3 highlights the summary of recent research on WBE that indicates the feasibility of monitoring the SARS-CoV-2 and those that have explored the relationship between WBE and a few epidemiological indicators.

Table 3: Summary of recent studies on WBE that indicate the feasibility of monitoring the SARS-CoV-2. Adapted from (Zhu et al., 2021)

Authors	Country/region	Sampling Period	Findings
Agrawal et al. (2021)	Frankfurt,	June to September	The SARS-CoV-2 RNA was detected in
	Germany	2020	wastewater. Identification of resurgence of
			the virus in the communities through the
			SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and the
			increase in the virus RNA in wastewater
			precedes the averaged positive cases.
Hata et al. (2021)	Ishikawa, Japan	March 2020 to	When the SARS-CoV-2 prevalence was less
		April 2020	than one positive case per 100,000
			inhabitants, the wastewater samples tested
			positive for the virus.
Kaplan et al. (2020)	Hamden, East	February to April	The research detected SARS-CoV-2 in the

	Haven, New	2020	municipal wastewater and reported that the
	Haven,		SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater at the
	Woodbridge in		municipalities precedes the hospital
	Connecticut.		admissions by an average of 3 to 5 days. The
	US A		research also suggested that over 80% of the
	0.0.11		infection risk population were removed due
			to stay at home restrictions
I. D. 1. (2020)		E.1. 2020	to stay-at-nome restrictions.
La Rosa et al. (2020)	Milan, Italy	February 2020 to	Wastewater samples tested positive for the
		April 2020	SARS-CoV-2 but have a negative correlation
			with the infections. The number of infections
			was low, but the samples were positive.
Nemudryi et al.	Bozeman,	March 2020 to June	The onset of the symptoms of SARS-CoV-2
(2020)	Montana, USA	2020	precedes the virus RNA concentration in
			wastewater by 5-8 days. While the wastewater
			viral RNA precedes the positive cases
			conducted in the laboratory test by 2-4 days.
Prado et al. (2021)	Niterio, Rio de	April to August	The detection of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA has
	Janeiro Brazil	2020	higher detection rates and is effective in the
			surveillance of the virus — identification of
			the strain of the virus circulating the whole in
			wastewater.
Peccia et al. (2020)	New Haven,	March 2020 to June	The SARS-CoV-2 RNA levels in wastewater
	Connecticut,	2020	precede the positive cases for COVID-19 by
	USA		about two days and reported hospital
			admissions by about four days.
Saguti et al. (2021)	Gothenburg,	February to July	The SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA should be
	Sweden	2020	monitored as it proves to be early surveillance
			of the virus outbreak. It precedes the number
			of hospital admissions by 19-21 days
Weidhaas et al	Utab USA	April and May 2020	The detection of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA in
(2021)	Otali, 0.5.71.	ripin and May 2020	about 60% of the wastewater samples. The
(2021)			in anoma in the view concentration in
			increase in the virus concentration in
			wastewater positively correlate with the
			outbreak of the COVID-19 in the
			communities sampled. Still, the decline in the
			wastewater RNA lags the decline in the
			positive cases.
Wurtz et al. (2021)	Marseille, France	July to December	The research identified the presence of the
Wurtz et al. (2021)	Marseille, France	July to December 2020	SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater. It
Wurtz et al. (2021)	Marseille, France	July to December 2020	SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater. It explained a significant correlation between the
Wurtz et al. (2021)	Marseille, France	July to December 2020	The research identified the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater. It explained a significant correlation between the number of positive cases and the virus RNA

2.4. Application of spatial and statistical methods from epidemiological studies

Different studies have employed spatial and statistical techniques in the understanding of the spatiotemporal analysis of COVID-19 and the influence of environmental variables on the dynamics of the SARS-CoV-2. Several methods are applied in studies relevant to COVID-19 with diverse application to different research themes such as spatial and temporal pattern analysis of COVID-19, environmental

variable influences, population health surveillance, and web-based spatial and statistical analysis. Since this study focuses on employing methods for the spatial and temporal analysis, Table 4 shows different studies that employed geospatial and statistical methods for the spatiotemporal analysis of COVID-19.

Study	Methods used	Data used	Analysis
Ahmadi et al.	Pearson correlation	COVID-19 Infected cases,	The COVID-19 infection rate is directly
(2020)	and Sobol'-Jansen	population density, solar	correlated with the population density,
	methods	radiation, humidity, wind	solar radiation, and intra-provincial
		speed, and intra provincial	movement.
		movement	
Andrade et al.			Detection of active and emerging
(2020)			Spatiotemporal clusters of the SARS-
			CoV-2.
	Space-time scan	COVID-19 Confirmed	
Hohl et al.	statistics	cases	Detection of county-level daily clusters of
(2020)			COVID-19.
	01111611		
Baker et al.	Global Model	COVID-19 contirmed	The research conducted a geospatial
(2020)	development	cases, humidity, and	analysis to visualize the spatial pattern of
		temperature	the COVID-19 confirmed cases at
			different instances. The authors explained
			that the temperature during summer
			might not affect the increase in infections
D 1	D 1.	D	
Bavia et al.	Pearson correlation,	Dengue cases,	The research analyzed the spatial and
(2020)	Cross-correlation	temographic data (income,	temporal distribution of positive dengue
	Tuncuon	temperature, precipitation	relationship between precipitation
			temperature and dengue cases. It also
			illustrates the spatial relationship between
			the positive dengue cases and income
			the positive deligite cases and meome.
Gross et al.	Space-time statistics	COVID-19 Confirmed	The spatial and temporal propagation of
(2020)		cases	the SARS-CoV-2 infections in different
			cities indicated a constant infection rate in
			the early stages of the virus and an
			exponential decrease in infection at a later
			period because of the mitigation
			measures.
Gupta et al.	Geospatial analysis	COVID-19 cases,	The study describes the effects of weather
(2020)	using ArcGIS	temperature, and humidity	parameters on the prevalence of the
			SARS-CoV-2 using GIS to describe the
			spatial spread of the virus at different time
TT 1	I ' ' D '		steps.
Huang et al.	Logistic Regression	COVID-19 reproductive	Spatial and temporal analysis of COVID-
(2020)	model and Susceptible	number and cumulative	19 features which discovered the large
	exposed intectious	contirmed cases	gathering from Hubei province into
	removed (SEIK)		wenzhou caused the outbreak of the
37' 1	model		virus.
Aiong et al.	Pearson correlation	COVID-19 Confirmed	Significance of influencing factors and

Table 4: List of methods of analysis used in different COVID-19 related studies and other epidemiological studies.

(2020)	and geospatial statistics	cases	spatial autocorrelation of the factors contributing to COVID-19 spread
Zhang et al. (2020)	Moran's I and Local indicators of spatial association (LISA)	COVID-19 and SARS confirmed cases	Comparison of COVID-19 and SARS incidence with COVID-19 with higher incidence. Identification of clusters of COVID-19 and the significance of clusters.

2.4.1. Geospatial analysis of spatiotemporal patterns of disease transmission

The COVID-19 epidemiological indicators all have spatial dimensions and temporal dynamics, which facilitates mapping the spatio-temporal patterns of the virus prevalence across multiple spatial scales (Franch-Pardo et al., 2020). To map the spatio-temporal patterns, understanding COVID-19 space-time dynamics is vital to define the extent of the variation of the virus, its impact, and mitigation measures (Coura-Vital et al., 2021; Masrur et al., 2020). Andrade et al. (2020) and Hohl et al. (2020) employed the space-time cluster techniques to explore the spatial and temporal distribution of COVID-19 cases across the municipality and county level in Brazil and the U.S.A, respectively. Using ArcGIS, they modelled the increase in COVID-19 cases to determine spatial clusters and hotspots of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. Desjardins et al. (2020) and Kulldorff et al. (1998) explained that the space-time Poisson scan technique is a suitable spatiotemporal statistical technique for primarily identifying the significant clusters of epidemiological variables such as disease incidence and deaths. This research aims to identify spatial and temporal patterns of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the epidemiological at different time series across different geographical scales. The visualisation of spatial patterns through different indicators requires real-time mapping hosted on a geovisualisation platforms (Boulos & Geraghty, 2020) or time-series mapping at different geographical scales (Patel et al., 2007). The concept of geovisualization involves the creation of an online platform such as dashboards and spatial applications suitable for describing the relationship between variables of different in real-time (Jing et al., 2019). The time-series mapping is applicable to this research to generate the spatial patterns of the SARS-CoV-2 incidence across different spatial scales.

Zhang and Schwartz (2020) employed a GIS-based spatial analysis using ArcGIS to visualise COVID-19 cases and deaths at different times and describe the patterns across the different geographical units in the U.S.A. The results show that areas close to metropolitan cities have high numbers of SARS-CoV-2 infections based on visual interpretation and comparison of the spatial patterns. Some small geographical areas record similarly high incidences as in big cities. The same study used a regression model to investigate the risk factors to infection and mortality risk factors with inputs such as the COVID-19 positive cases, deaths, and socioeconomic factors such as population density and population distribution across age groups. Mapping the SAR-CoV-2 incidence across a fine spatial scale like the county level indicates a detailed spatial pattern. Zuo et al. (2020) employed GIS-based spatial analysis for time-series mapping of tuberculosis incidence between 2004 to 2017, based on the spatial autocorrelation results across different geographical units in China. The study identifies the areas with a high incidence of tuberculosis and the differences across the different geographical units of analysis. Yue et al. (2019) also explored the seasonal patterns of dengue fever cases using ArcGIS spatial analysis extension, generating time series maps that indicate the yearly spatial occurrence and spatial diffusion of the dengue fever across different provinces and regions in China. They concluded that the visualisation of the dengue fever's epidemiological dynamics is helpful to the health authorities to make informed decisions on plans and measures to control the fever outbreak.

2.4.2. The statistical relationship between epidemiological indicators

The exploration of statistical relationships between different indicators such as educational, socioeconomic and epidemiological indicators explain the statistical significance and provides an intuitive understanding of the underlying associations between these indicators (Gunawardane et. al., 2009). The statistical relationship between indicators of different temporal trends can be established using various statistical tools such as regression model, correlation analysis, and causality model (Bhaskaran et. al., 2013). Similarly, a correlation analysis of indicators in epidemiological studies provides an understanding of the association of the variables with more insight on the trends obtained from the descriptive analysis. Correlation is used to explain the relationship between two quantitative variables, with the correlation coefficient is used to measure the degree of association (Taylor, 1990). The assumption is for the relationship between the variables to be linear, which means as one variable increases or decreases, the other variable also increases or decreases. In this thesis, the correlation between the trends in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration and the trend in the individual epidemiological indicators is explored with the assumption that these variables have a linear relationship.

The regression model is another technique used to obtain the relationship between the dynamic of a variable with another. Regression analysis is a prediction technique that explains if one variable's variation leads to variation in another variable through the association between dependent and independent variables (Crawford, 2006). A study by Wang et al. (2021), employed multiple linear regression and Spearman correlation analysis to investigate the relationship between the positively confirmed cases of COVID-19 and the influencing factors of the virus. They used the Spearman correlation technique to describe the association between the influencing factors such as temperature, precipitation, carbon monoxide and particulate matter and the COVID-19 confirmed cases, and multiple linear logistic regression to investigate the lag effect of the most significant COVID-19 influencing factor. A study by Gupta et al. (2020) employed linear regression analysis to determine the relationship between the increased rate of spread of COVID-19 and weather variables in the USA. The study explains a positive correlation between the rate of increase in the COVID-19 cases and temperature, but a negative correlation between the number of cases and humidity. They established that no conclusion should be drawn from the result due to a low correlation value and suggested other methods such as the Pearson correlation analysis. Hence, regression analysis can describe the relationship between indicators and develop a prediction model for the variables. But correlation analysis has been proposed in different studies as a suitable technique that offers a unitless measure of association to describe the statistical significance of indicators in epidemiological studies.

Cebrecos et al. (2018) established the statistical relationship between cardiovascular disease incidence and socioeconomic deprivation across three geographic scales. They employed the Pearson correlation analysis to describe the relationship between socioeconomic deprivation and cardiovascular diseases across the three distinct administrative units in Spain. Their result records positive correlation and statistical significance across the geographical units. They also explained that there is a correlation between the variables and administrative units. Likewise, the statistical association result validates the geographical stability analysis between socioeconomic deprivation and cardiovascular disease. They highlighted that using statistical methods and the Pearson correlation technique effectively explained the association between the variables and thus a suitable technique across different scales. Therefore, this demonstrates that the bivariate Pearson correlation analysis can be suitably employed to describe the statistical association between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration trends and the epidemiological indicator across different spatial units.

The spatial analysis of the statistical relationship between the indicators provides more insight into the correlation variation across space based on the spatial unit of analysis (Patel et al., 2007). Since the statistical analysis provides a result of the significance between the trends and the indicators, then a spatial analysis would help visualise the spatial pattern of the correlation analysis. Briz-Redón and Serrano-Aroca (2020) and Wang et al. (2021) used ArcGIS to generate series of maps to visualise the spatial autocorrelation characteristics of the COVID-19 positive confirmed cases, which shows the areas of high and low significance. Therefore, ArcGIS will be used to produce maps showing correlation patterns between variables across different geographical scales.

2.4.3. Temporal relationship between epidemiological indicators

Several analyses have been used to depict the temporal relationship between epidemiological indicators. For example, Mirri et al. (2021) studies on the possible role of particulate matter (PM) distribution on the spread of SARS-CoV-2 used the Granger causality method to analyse the PM concentration time series the COVID-19 confirmed cases. The result indicates a correlation between the indicators with a time lag period of 14 days. The method was validated using a machine learning algorithm, and the authors suggested that other methods can be employed to corroborate the association between the time series of the indicators. Also, Benvenuto et al. (2020) used the Auto-Regressive Integrated Moving Average (ARIMA) model to predict COVID-19 incidence and prevalence trends. They suggested that the model requires more data with a high temporal resolution for a detailed prediction result because the modes of the data influence the prediction. Although ARIMA models describe the underlying trends and the variation of frequency in a time series, they are not suitable for time series with points that had been increasing reverses and decreases (Schaffer et. al., 2021). Wang et al. (2020) also predict the epidemiological trends of SARS-CoV-2 in China by analyzing the time series of the positive cases and mortality using the prediction models such as ARIMA model and a-Sutte indicator. They compared the prediction indices of the two methods and concluded that the ARIMA model has a higher prediction error compared to α-Sutte indicator and suggested other regression techniques can be employed.

Bhaskaran et al. (2013) used the Poisson regression technique to explore the relationship between time series of exposure such as weather indicators, air pollution or pollen and health outcomes such as incidence, mortality, hospital admission. The results describe that the change in the health outcome is influenced by a change in the exposure and suggested another prediction method that would describe the relationship between two time series of individual health outcome variable and exposure can be employed. Bavia et al. (2020) used the cross-correlation function (CCF) to describe the temporal relationship between time series of dengue incidence and weather effects such as precipitation and temperature in Southern Brazil. The result explains the time lag between dengue incidence and precipitation and, subsequently, dengue incidence and temperature. Also, a study by Huang et al. (2011) used CCF to illustrate the relationship between the time series of malaria incidence and some meteorological indicators such as rainfall, relative humidity and temperature. Furthermore, the authors explain that the CCF technique is suitable to identify short time lag between two time series. Therefore, in this study, CCF analysis will be used to describe the relationship between two time series of SARS-C wastewater RNA concentration and selected epidemiological indicators.
3. METHODOLOGY

The purpose of this chapter is to describe the general overview of the methodological workflow, research design, selection of the epidemiological indicators, spatial units of analysis, the selected study area, methods, and tools employed in this thesis. The research focuses on a comparative analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 concentration in wastewater and its relationship with other epidemiological indicators.

3.1. Overview of the research

The general overview of the methodological workflow and approach is as shown in *figure 3-1* below. The research methodological approach has different phases, and the methods utilized for this study are in four different stages. The research commenced by reviewing literature on the background of SARS-CoV-2 as causative of COVID-19, the state of the art of the virus globally and in the Netherlands and the formulation of the introduction to the research. Also, the research methods employed in this research involve three interconnected approaches to uncover and explain the relationship between the SAR-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and other epidemiological indicators related to COVID-19.

The first approach involved the acquisition, preparation, and organisation of the epidemiological indicators for spatial and temporal analysis. Upon reviewing links of available data sources of epidemiological indicators, the datasets of the epidemiological indicators were downloaded. The data preparation including database management was based on queries by location/attributes, check for data completeness and exploration of spatial attributes of the data. The attributes of the downloaded dataset were reviewed to select suitable epidemiological indicators. These steps were necessary to bring the data together and suitably organize them for temporal analysis.

The second approach commenced with the review of literature for a suitable spatial and temporal analysis of disease trends. To analyse the temporal patterns of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and other epidemiological indicators in pairs, for example, SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and reported positive cases, SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the number of hospital admissions, the trends in these variables were developed using the R statistical software. Then, the organised datasets of the wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators were spatially and temporally analysed, and the variation of the SARS-CoV-2 across different spatial units in the Netherlands was described using ArcGIS.

The third approach involved the application of statistical correlation analysis to describe the significance of the relationship, and association between the epidemiological indicators. A spatial analysis using ArcGIS to visualize and interpret the relationship between the correlation results of the epidemiological indicators was carried out. Also, the cross-correlation function was employed to explain the relationship between the temporal trends of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the epidemiological indicators. The technique was used to model the relationship between the time series of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the other epidemiological indicators and to identify the time shift between the variables. The time graphs of the time-step analysis and the spatial analysis of the cross-correlation results describe the shift in time and its statistical significance between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the selected epidemiological indicators at the municipality scale, while the spatial analysis of the time lag results shows the variation of the lags across different municipalities.



Figure 3-1: Research design and methods workflow

3.2. Review of the SARS-CoV-2 epidemiological indicators

The epidemiological data used for this research comes from different data sources available through the Dutch Coronavirus Dashboard developed by the Ministry of Health, Welfare and Sport in the Netherlands, RIVM (2020a). The dashboard shows updated information on SARS-CoV-2 in the Netherlands through surveillance of the virus with different epidemiological indicators (Figure 3-2).

	Rijksoverheid			NL EN	
Coronavirus Dashboard	Latest developments	National Safety regi	ons Municipalities	About this dashboard	
Current situation in the Netherlands View all figures for the Netherlands > Last update: yesterday (15 August)					
Q Search for a municipality of safety region					
Number of confirmed cases > Hospital admissions >		A NEW T	lumber of doses	administered >	
2,298	45	21,9	55,422		

Figure 3-2: Coronavirus dashboard in the Netherlands adapted from RIVM (2020b)

The data used to process the information on the dashboard was made available by the National Institute for Public Health and the Environment, hospitals, and the municipal health services (GGD). Table 5 below provides the summary of the epidemiological indicators contained on the coronavirus dashboard. The highlighted sections in the table are the selected epidemiological indicators and datasets employed for this research.

Table 5: Overview of research data, including the epidemiological indicators on the coronavirus dashboard adapted from RIVM (2020a)

Measures	Indicators	Description	Area of	Data availability
			unit	and sources
	Confirmed cases	The number of positive confirmed cases by municipality and regional level.	Municipality and safety region	Open data available at the municipality and regional level by RIVM
Infections	Infectious people	It gives the number of people that can infect others with SARS-CoV- 2. Though, the time period within which one can infect another person differs from one person to another. It uses a range of data sources to determine the number of infected people in the Netherlands.	National	Open data available on a national scale by RIVM
	Number of COVID-19 deaths	It describes the number of people reported death due to the SARS- CoV-2.	Municipality and safety region	Open data available at municipality and region by GGD and RIVM
	Reproduction number	It gives the average number of infected person(s) by at least one person with the SARS-CoV-2.	National	Open data available at national scale reported by RIVM
Hospitals	Number of COVID-19 hospital admissions	It provides daily data on the people infected with the SARS-CoV-2 that are admitted into the regular unit and intensive care units of the hospitals.	Municipality and safety region	Open data available at municipality level collected by the National Intensive Care Evaluation Registry (NICE), Landelijk Coordinatiecentrum Patienten Spreiding (LCPS) and reported by RIVM.
	Number of COVID-19 Intensive Care Units (ICU) admissions	It provides daily data on the people infected with the SARS-CoV-2 admitted into the ICUs of the hospitals. It involves all Dutch patients' ICU admission, including those in German hospitals.	National	Open data available at a national scale reported by RIVM and published by NICE and LCPS.
	Sewage water	The data provides the number of	WWTP level	Open data available

Early indicators	examination	SAS-CoV-2 particles present in different wastewater treatment plants (WWTP).	and safety region	for the different WWTP at safety regional level published by RIVM.
	Symptoms at general practitioners	A weekly data which includes the number of patients with SARS- CoV-2 symptoms complaints to the general practitioner. The data complement the COVID-19 daily reports of cases, hospital admissions and deaths.	National	Open data available at national scale published by Nivel.
Vaccination	Vaccine doses administered	The number of vaccine doses administered to the different vaccine locations in the municipalities. The municipal health services provide the figures.	Not available	Open data not yet available.
Vulnerable	COVID-19 cases in nursing homes	It gives the number of reported COVID-19 cases in nursing homes in the Netherlands available at the safety regional level. The data contains the numbers of nursing home residents tested positive and deceased due to the SARS-CoV-2.	Safety region	Open data available at safety regional level reported by RIVM. Reported by the GGD
groups	COVID-19 cases in disability care	The data provides the number of reported COVID-19 cases in disability care homes. It contains the number of residents of a disability care home tested positive or deceased due to the SARS-CoV- 2.	Safety region	Open data available at safety regional level published by RIVM provided by the GGD.
	People over the age of 70 living at home	The data contains the number of people 70 years and above tested positive and deceased to the SARS-CoV-2.	Safety region	Open data available at safety regional level published by RIVM provided by the GGD.
Population	Population per municipality	The data contains the population of the inhabitants in individual municipality in the Netherlands.	Municipality	Open data published by CBS Statistics.
Municipality boundaries	Boundaries of municipalities, provinces, and national boundaries	Shapefiles of the municipalities, provinces, and the national boundary of the Netherlands.	Municipality, Province and National boundary	Open data published by CBS statistics.

3.2.1. Selection of SARS-CoV-2 epidemiological indicators

For this research, SARS-CoV-2 epidemiological indicators datasets were selected based on their temporal resolution, spatial availability, and suitability compared with the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration. The selection of epidemiological indicators to compare with the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data is an essential step in explaining the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration's potential and describing the trends in the SARS-CoV-2 (Kaplan et al., 2020; Wurtz et al., 2021). Similarly, the

epidemiological indicator(s) that emulate the virus intensity within a population are a precondition for considering the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration as a potential early surveillance tool of COVID-19. The selected epidemiological indicators contain the same temporal resolution and can be aggregated to the same spatial units of analysis. The assessment of the relationship between SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater and the epidemiological indicators requires an agreeable and extended time period to explain the trends in SARS-CoV-2 RNA concentration and the epidemiological indicators (Weidhaas et al., 2021). A study of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration over a long period offers the observation of the virus signals in a population compared to the positive and active cases (D'Aoust et al., 2021). Agrawal et al. (2021) further state that a long time period of analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater provides a broad explanation of the dynamics of infections within a population. Therefore, the epidemiological indicators with the same time period as the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA data was one of the considerations for selecting the epidemiological indicators in this study.

Recent studies that addressed the potential of WBE have explored its relationship with some epidemiological indicators such as the COVID-19 positive cases, hospital admissions and COVID-19 deaths (D'Aoust et al., 2021; Róka et al., 2021; Saguti et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2020). The COVID-19 confirmed cases, number of hospital admissions, deaths caused by COVID-19 are suitable epidemiological indicators in monitoring the dynamics of the SARS-CoV-2 epidemiological scenarios (García-Basteiro et al., 2020; Patel et al., 2020). Varela (2020) further explained that the COVID-19 confirmed cases, number of hospital admissions and deaths, when combined with other useful indicators provide a comprehensive assessment of the trends in the SARS-CoV-2 across different spatial units including national, regional and local units. The combination of these different indicator is essential to understand the problem posed by SARS-CoV-2 across different levels of the health systems (Elliot et al., 2020). Hence, this study employed COVID-19 positive confirmed cases, number of COVID-19 hospital admissions, and number of COVID-19 deaths.

There is a high rate of ICU admissions among patients infected with the SARS-CoV-2, ranging from 3% to 100% of the positive confirmed cases (Arabi et al., 2020; Rodriguez-Morales et al., 2020; Xiaobo et al., 2020). Although there is a variation in COVID-19 infected people hospitalized, about 25% of individuals admitted into hospitals for COVID-19 require ICU admission (Huang et al., 2020b; Xiaobo et al., 2020; Young et al., 2020). Hence, a decline in the ICU admissions of COVID-19 infected patients is equivalent to a decline in hospitalization. Also, the availability of ICU beds is a significant consideration in the variation of COVID-19 mortality rates and complications between different countries, which explains the significance of ICU admissions as a means of surveillance of infection of the virus (Vanhems et al., 2021). Abate et al. (2020) further explained that ICU admissions and ICU mortalities are important indicators to monitor the dynamics of SARS-CoV-2 infections.

The research considers four epidemiological indicators identified on the coronavirus dashboard, which are available in different data sources. These epidemiological indicators include COVID-19 positive confirmed cases, numbers of COVID-19 hospital admissions, COVID-19 ICU admission and COVID-19 deaths. The research explored the trends in these epidemiological indicators and the SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration to explain the relationship between these indicators. This was done in order to describe the potential of the WBE approach as a measure of the spatial and temporal variation of the SARS-CoV-2. The selection of reliable the suitable epidemiological indicators for the spatial and temporal analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 requires consistency when exploring the evolution of the disease with these indicators (García-Basteiro et al., 2020). Hence, the exploration of the relationship between these epidemiological indicators and the SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration gives a further selection of the epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological indicator suited for the correlation and temporal analysis of these epidemiological

indicators. The description of the attributes of the epidemiological indicators downloaded from their different data sources employed in this study is explained below. These epidemiological indicators are available at the different geographic scales as described in Table 5.

3.2.1.1. SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration

The RIVM (2020a) has been monitoring the wastewater in the WWTPs in the Netherlands for the SARS-CoV-2 to provide early surveillance of the virus prevalence at different population levels. The monitoring of virus in wastewater by the RIVM has been implemented in collaboration with the Dutch Water Boards. It involves taking a weekly average of wastewater samples from 318 WWTPs across the Netherlands. These wastewater samples are analyzed for the presence of the SARS-CoV-2 RNA in the samples from the different WWTP. The virus particles RNA obtained are then normalized for the flow rate of the wastewater into the treatment plant and the catchments of the populations contributing to the different WWTP. The SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration data includes a .csv file with columns such as the date the measurement was taken, the location of the wastewater treatment plant, including the x and y coordinates. It also includes the postal code, the safety region code, safety region name, the amount of RNA per milliliter in the wastewater treatment plant and the RNA flow per 100000 inhabitants.

3.2.1.2. COVID-19 reported positive cases

The evolution of the SARS-CoV-2 has been monitored through testing symptomatic people for the virus RNA and recording the number of infected people (Dong et al., 2020). The number of COVID-19 positive cases is the most important indicator to monitor the SARS-CoV-2 infections appropriately (Sánchez-Romero et al., 2021). In the Netherlands, the number of positive cases confirmed for the SARS-CoV-2 is one of the indicators for monitoring the infections of the virus (RIVM, 2020b). The positive confirmed cases involve daily records of the people testing positive for the virus published by the RIVM, involving positive test reports from doctors and different test laboratories in the country. The positive test report from the laboratories would be accepted only if the tests meet the RIVM standards. The positive confirmed cases data downloaded is a .csv file containing the total daily reported cases, including the date of publication, municipality name and code, province, security region code, security region name, and the municipality health service, and the total number of reported positive cases.

3.2.1.3. COVID-19 Hospital admissions

The number of patients admitted to hospitals for COVID-19 is a useful indicator to monitor the trends in SARS-CoV-2, though it depends on the structure of the health systems in different countries and most notably varied hospital admissions (García-Basteiro et al., 2020). Goethem et al. (2020), further explained that to assess the damaging effect of the SARS-CoV-2 infections in a population, monitoring of the hospital capacity through the COVID-19 hospital admissions is essential. They also explained that the COVID-19 hospital admission is an important indicator for the spatial and temporal spread of the SARS-CoV-2 on the national level. In the Netherlands, the government publicly provides open data of the daily COVID-19 hospital admissions supplied by the RIVM collected by NICE and LCPS (RIVM, 2020b). NICE and LCPS register and record the number of patients admitted into hospitals related to COVID-19 hospital admissions across different municipalities and safety regions in the Netherlands. The number of COVID-19 hospital admission, data was downloaded from the source as a .csv file with columns such as daily hospital admissions, date of publication, the municipality name and code, security region code, security region name, and the municipality health service.

3.2.1.4. COVID-19 ICU admissions

The COVID-19 ICU admissions is another important indicator to monitor the dynamics of the SARS-CoV-2 by showing the virus transmission changes in an area over a certain period of time (García-Basteiro et al., 2020). Considering that COVID-19 hospital admissions is an effective measure of the severity of the SARS-CoV-2, the COVID-19 ICU admissions offer another means to understand the intensity of the virus in a population (ECDC, 2020). In the Netherlands, COVID-19 related ICU admissions are published based on the information provided by NICE and LCPS, which records the COVID-19 patients admitted into the ICU units of the hospitals. The data shows the COVID-19 ICU admissions across different municipalities and safety regions in the Netherlands. The number of COVID-19 ICU admission data was downloaded from the source as a .csv file with columns such as daily ICU admissions, date of publication, the municipality name and code, security region code, security region name, and the municipality health service.

3.2.1.5. COVID-19 related deaths

The number of COVID-19 related death is a significant SARS-CoV-2 epidemiological characteristic to explain the distribution of SARS-CoV-2 (Patel et al., 2020). Also, the SARS-CoV-2 is closely monitored by the WHO via a global monitoring system with different epidemiological indicators, including the COVID-19 deaths (WHO, 2021c). Also, in the Netherlands, the number of COVID-19 related deaths is one of the important indicators used in monitoring the spread of the virus within a population (RIVM, 2020b). The deaths due to COVID-19 are recorded by municipal health authorities, which the RIVM collects, reports, and publishes daily. The COVID-19 death data shows the number of COVID-19 deaths across different municipalities and safety regions in the Netherlands. The COVID-19 deaths data was downloaded from the data source as a .csv file with columns such as daily deaths, date of publication, the municipality name and code, security region code, security region name, and the municipality health service.

3.3. Data Preprocessing

3.3.1. Exploration of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the selected epidemiological indicators

Uncertainty may arise from the data collected or acquired from open sources due to data ambiguities, incompleteness, different attributes, and data inconsistencies, leading to the inability to generate trends from the dataset (Hariri et al., 2019). Therefore, considering the data used in this research are secondary data extracted from different data sources, aimed to describe the trends in the epidemiological indicators and their relationship, database management with PostgreSQL database using pgAdmin connector and R 4.0.4 statistical software have been identified as most suitable (Goethern et al., 2020; Viloria et al., 2019). The exploration of these indicators would help identify inconsistencies in the indicators, data types ambiguities and provides opportunities for a better understanding of the datasets for data preprocessing.

3.3.1.1. PostgreSQL data exploration

Data inconsistency in several indicators based on the data structure, data types and spatial attributes can be detected using PostgreSQL (Agarwal & Rajan, 2015). PostgreSQL is an open-source database management system for storing and investigating different attributes for consistency and completeness of the datasets to improve data usability (Stones & Matthew, 2005). Connection to the PostgreSQL database is possible through different means, including connection through the pgAdmin interface and by using psql located on the system's operating system (Stones & Matthew, 2006). The PgAdmin and psql interfaces offer the platform to ingest data into PostgreSQL, with the datasets in different file types such as .csv or json. Data in excel are sometimes unprocessed and have improper settings or appear in different

columns, but can be reorganized using the spreadsheet and separation of column attributes in excel for suitable analysis (Broman & Woo, 2018; Divisi et al., 2017). Therefore, upon acquiring the datasets of all the epidemiological indicators available as .csv container, the raw datasets combined the text or values into one cell, making the data difficult to read or ingest into the database. Hence, using excel, the combined text in the first column of the sheet separated by semicolon was split into different cells. The procedure provided a proper datasheet with separate columns for the contained attributes.

The organised excel format datasets of the selected epidemiological indicators and the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration data was ingested into the database. Firstly, a schema was created in the PostgreSQL database, where the datasets were stored. The pgAdmin interface was used to establish a connection to the database. The tables were created using .sql queries for the .csv files by specifying the table name, the columns, and the data types. The psql command line tool allowed ingestion of the .csv files into the database. To prevent errors during ingestion, the attributes of the tables were confirmed. The process was repeated for the individual .csv files, which create a table with the name and attributes of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration data and the selected epidemiological indicators. Query operations were performed by filtering the WWTP name columns in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA data that corresponds with the municipality column in the positive cases data to identify the WWTP are present at the municipality level. Also, the query operation helps to ascertain the completeness of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA data corresponding to the other epidemiological indicators based on attributes such as dates and safety regions.

3.3.1.2. Spatial exploration of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data

The exploration of the spatial attributes of datasets in a database is possible with the connection of the layer from the PostgreSQL database to a GIS environment such as QGIS (Sang et al., 2021). One of the significances of the PostgreSQL database systems is its capability of integrating GIS functionalities (Huisman & de By, 2009). Therefore, in order to explore the spatial attribute of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data, the wastewater treatment plant's visual inspection and understanding of its distribution spatially, as shown in figure 3-3, a QGIS connection was made to the database to display its location in space. Additionally, the municipality boundaries were overlaid on these locations for context to understand the distribution of these treatment plants within the municipalities. This gave an insight into the number of WWTP that fall within a municipality and room for consideration of the catchment areas of the WWTP. The WWTP system covers 322 municipalities, the percentage of contribution of the wastewater in these areas vary and determine the cumulative value per municipality. Therefore, the exploration further provides the need to consider the percentage of the wastewater flowing into the different WWTP, because the WWTP, in some cases, lack a one-to-one relationship with the municipalities. The WWTPs are distributed such that one municipality has one or more WWTPs. This created the need to convert the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater readings from WWTP to municipality. Similarly, the inspection of the other tables containing the positive cases, hospital admissions and deaths show a daily record for the 352 municipalities in the Netherlands as identified in the PostgreSQL relational database.



Figure 3-3: The 322 Wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) in the Netherlands. Own design, data from RIVM (2020d)

3.3.2. Organisation of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the selected epidemiological indicators

The SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the epidemiological indicators were initially only available in different forms aggregated at weekly and daily scales, respectively. They needed to be organized to a uniform temporal and spatial unit of analysis in order to compare the WBE data with other epidemiological indicator data (Escolà Casas et al., 2021; González-Mariño et al., 2020; Goulding et al., 2020; Thomas et al., 2012). According to Escolà Casas et al. (2021), a uniform and fine spatial resolution should be selected as a common unit of analysis to efficiently describe the potential of WBE for spatial and temporal analysis. Therefore, in this thesis, the epidemiological indicators and the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data are organized to the municipality level as the elementary unit of analysis common to the selected indicators (Escolà Casas et al., 2021).

The conceptualization of the processes for a common unit of analysis provides a detailed, clear pathway for the organization of the datasets. The municipality is defined as the common unit of analysis for the datasets. The process and steps involved in bringing the datasets to a common unit of analysis are shown in Figure 3-4. The figure also outlines the procedures of organizing all the epidemiological indicators, including the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration data, to be suitable for spatial and temporal analysis. This concludes the steps for the first research objectives to organise all the epidemiological indicators indicators for a suitable spatial and temporal analysis.



Figure 3-4: Steps for datasets modification for a common unit of analysis, data management and organisation

Upon download of the research data, following the data acquisition and data management procedures as explained in sections 3.3.1, since most of these indicators exist in an unstructured format, R statistical software was used to clean and organise the epidemiological indicators used in this research. Harmonisation of epidemiological indicators through cleaning and managing these indicators is an important step in epidemiological studies since most of these indicators exist in an unstructured format (Owada et al., 2016). The cleaning of the datasets commenced with transforming the data type of the dates column from factor to date format, which should be the basic format of the column (Jonge & Loo, 2013). The date format is an essential and common column for all the indicators to organise the datasets together. Also, Jonge and Loo (2013) highlighted removing duplicate rows or rows with missing values as an important feature of data cleaning. Hence, the reading of the selected epidemiological indicators such as reported cases, hospital admissions and reported deaths, ICU admission cases, nursing home cases and cases of people above the age of 70 that are not assigned to any municipality were removed.

Furthermore, inappropriately assigned special characters such as commas, asterisks or full stops were removed, and rows with such misappropriation were corrected. For example, a column with numeric values with commas was corrected, and the names of the municipalities were checked for both population data and the epidemiological indicator data, while those names that are inconsistent but have the same codes are corrected. Furthermore, data cleaning was used to explore the municipalities that exist in the wastewater data and the other epidemiological data, confirming one or more WWTP exist within a municipality.

Population normalization of epidemiological indicators

Population normalization is an important consideration in the application of wastewater-based epidemiology, useful for estimating the population contributing to the samples of the wastewater collected from the WWTP (Polo et al., 2020). It is also essential for comparison between wastewater virus concentration signals and other epidemiological indicators. In the Netherlands, RIVM has considered the population normalization for the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data of the WWTP from September 2020. The data was collected in the form of the virus RNA value per 100,000 inhabitants. Therefore, in this study, the population normalization of the other epidemiological indicators was computed to enable proper comparison with the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data. The population normalization of the selected epidemiological indicators (section 3.2.1) was calculated using the reading of the epidemiological indicators and the number of inhabitants per municipality collected from CBS statistics (CBS, 2020b). The formula for the population normalization for the epidemiological indicators per 100.000 inhabitants is as shown in equation 2. The formula was applied to all the selected epidemiological data across the municipalities.

Normalised cases =
$$\left(\frac{number of cases}{number of inhabitants}\right) * 100000$$
(2)

The concluding organization of the epidemiological indicators involves converting the daily reading of the epidemiological indicators to a weekly sum for adequate comparison with the weekly reading of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data. Also, the conversion of the date column in the data of all the epidemiological indicators to a uniform date. The readings of the epidemiological indicators were then summarized per week. The query selection process involves the calculation of the weekly sum of readings for the population normalized epidemiological indicators.

Conversion of wastewater reading from WWTP to municipality

For the selection query for the conversion of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data from WWTP to municipality level, the unit of analysis was considered. Firstly, The SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data comprises reading recorded weekly readings of the RNA concentration value but was recorded on different dates within the week. For example, a treatment plant records on day one while another records on day two, their dates are different but within the same week. So, there is a need to have a uniform date for readings obtained within the week different treatment plants. The week dates were first converted into week numbers and then each week number was assigned the first day of the week. The file containing the catchment area of the WWTP which includes the percentage wastewater contribution from the different municipalities into the WWTP and the cleaned file containing weekly reading of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentrations, were used in the selection query to organize SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA reading from WWTP scale to municipality scale. The query operation worked on the file containing the readings per WWTP and the file containing the municipality percentage contribution to WWTP and check the WWTP codes in both files and merges them based on the WWTP codes. With the consideration of the dates, the weekly reading for the WWTP was then queried based on the percentage of the municipalities to obtain the weekly reading of the WWTPs in a municipality. Then, the average of the weekly reading that falls within a municipality for the week was computed. The data was then transformed such that the municipalities are rows while the weekly readings are restructured in a column that follows the date for the readings, and the municipality names was then joined to the data file.

In this thesis, the analysis was performed at three geographical scales, the national scale, safety region and the municipality level. The organization of all selected epidemiological indicators to the national level involve a query operation that returns the weekly sum of the readings across all the municipalities. The file for the SARS-CoV-wastewater data was then merged with the selected epidemiological datasets based on the date. Hence, an organized weekly reading of all the epidemiological indicators at the national scale was generated. The weekly reading for these SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data was validated by selecting 10 random municipalities in the new data file and by manually computing the weekly values based on the wastewater percentage contribution from the municipalities to the WWTP using Microsoft Excel.

The code developed for the organization of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the selected epidemiological data and generation of spatio-temporal trends is published on GitHub at (https://bit.ly/3jZMWtl). GitHub is a platform that remotely stores code versions and implementation.

3.4. Spatial and temporal analysis of the epidemiological indicators

3.4.1. Temporal exploration

The temporal exploration of epidemiological indicators of an infectious disease such as COVID-19 is an important consideration to understand the patterns and trends in the relationship between these indicators. In order to explore the relationship between HIV/AIDS incidence and deaths per 100,00 inhabitants in China between 2004 and 2017, Xu et al. (2020) used R-statistical software to generate the trends and the relationship between the epidemiological indicators on a national scale. Saguti et al. (2021) also used R to produce trends in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration and a number of hospitalised COVID-19 cases in Gothenburg, Sweden. The result explained the trends reveal the pattern of the datasets with visual identification of the peaks in the datasets and how they relate in time. Following these examples, in this study, the R- statistical software was used to produce the trends in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and individual epidemiological indicators, the trends in SARS-CoV-2 RNA concentration in wastewater over the study period and the selected epidemiological indicators were produced.

The visual overview of the temporal exploration of the normalised SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and the other epidemiological indicators shows some descriptions of the temporal patterns in these datasets, hence further explaining the strong and weak relationship (D'Aoust et al., 2021). To explore the potential of the SAR-CoV-2 wastewater data as a measure of the spatial and temporal analysis of the virus, the epidemiological indicator with a strong relationship is needed. The visual overview of these indicators shows the epidemiological indicators with a strong relationship with the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA signal. Based on this, the COVID-19 positive confirmed cases, hospital admissions and COVID-19 deaths were selected for further analysis.

Since the epidemiological indicators were organised to the municipality and safety regions level, there is a need to observe the trends in these epidemiological indicators to reveal their patterns across these levels. R-shiny is an important tool in exploring generating trends and exploration of epidemiological indicators across multiple scales (Tebé et al., 2020), which was used to generate the temporal trends in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration and the epidemiological indicators across the municipalities and safety regions in the Netherlands. However, there is a need to explore the spatial patterns of the time series of the epidemiological indicators and the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration to describe the potential of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data to describe the transmission of the virus.

3.4.2. Time series mapping

The spatial analysis of the COVID-19 epidemiological indicators reveals the spatial patterns across different geographical units (Zhang & Schwartz, 2020). Different studies explored the spatio-temporal patterns of COVID-19 positive cases across different geographical scales and is a good measure of the SARS-CoV-2 transmissions (Kang et al., 2020). Therefore, the COVID-19 positive cases is a suitable epidemiological indicator to compare with the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration to explore the spatio-temporal patterns of the SARS-CoV-2 transmissions. In comparing two epidemiological indicators spatially, an adequate method is a time series map across different spatial units produced using ArcGIS (Zuo et al., 2020). For this reason, time-series maps of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the positive confirmed cases were generated using ArcGIS in this research. The study by Blanford and Jolly (2021) shows two weeks summary of time-series maps of COVID-19 weekly positive cases in the Netherland. Time-series maps were considered as reference for the time series maps generated in this study, and the second week in each month from September 2020 till June 2021 was considered for the spatial time series. Using ArcGIS, the epidemiological data was joined to the municipality shapefile, and the weekly values of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and positive cases were mapped (Figures 4-3 and 4-4). Similarly, to generate the time-series maps across the safety regions in the Netherlands, a .csv file containing the safety region names, safety region codes and their corresponding municipality code. The .csv was joined to the municipality shapefile, then the municipality within the safety region was dissolved to obtain the shapefile showing the safety region. The process of generating the municipalities time series maps was applied across the safety regions in the Netherlands (Figures 4-5 and 4-6).

3.5. Statistical association between the epidemiological indicators

In describing the statistical association between the time series of normalised SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and the selected epidemiological indicators, bivariate Pearson Correlation analysis was used and implemented in SPSS. The bivariate Pearson Correlation involves the analysis of pairs of indicators and assessing the significance of the relationship between these indicators. In this research, the statistical association between the pairs of the time series of normalised SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and Covid-19 positive cases, hospital admissions and reported deaths were calculated across the municipality, safety region and national scales. The bivariate Pearson Correlation analysis generates a Pearson Correlation coefficient, r, for the relationship between these indicators across the geographic unit of analysis. Upon generation of the Pearson correlation coefficients, the spatial analysis of the coefficients was mapped across safety regions (Figure 4-6) and municipalities (Figure 4-7) using ArcGIS. The spatial analysis of the bivariate Pearson correlation of the spatial analysis of these correlations across the different geographic scales (Figures 4-6 and 4-7).

3.6. Temporal association between the epidemiological indicators

In understanding the relationship between two different time series, the cross-correlation function (CCF) is a method the examines the temporal cross-correlation or cross-covariance of the time series. Regression models such as ARIMA model are used for multivariate analysis, which involves the temporal relationship between several variables. Granger causality test deals with the causal relationship between trends of two variables and tests the usefulness of one time series to predict the other. The cross-correlation function is useful in identifying the time shift in two different time series (Souza & Felix, 2018). Considering the data of the indicators in this study, CCF is suitable to determine the variable that precedes another and the statistical significance of correlation between the variables. The temporal relationship between the time

series of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration and positive cases within the period (September 2020 till June 2021) was considered. Therefore, the CCF was employed to describe the time shift between the time series of weekly readings of normalised SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the positive cases at the municipal level using the SPSS software. The time shifts of the CCF are produced in the form of time graphs that describe the relationship between the time series of these indicators. To examine the CCF between the normalised SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported positive cases, the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA is referred as the y variable and the positive cases as the x variable. Here, a negative CCF time shift would mean the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration predates the positive cases by the identified lag value of the CCF time plot (Appendix 1).

The analysis commenced by defining the sample covariance function as

Then, the relationship between the variable y was estimated and at different time-shifted variable x_{t+k} . Also, the 95% confidence interval on the CCF was estimated using:

 $-\frac{1}{n} \pm \frac{2}{n} \tag{4}$

Where n is the number of observations used in the calculation of the cross-correlation function. The confidence interval was calculated with (n = 19) is as shown on the CCF plot as using the equation (4).

In the CCF plot, the time shift of the highest cross correlation value between these indicators for individual municipality was recorded in a data sheet saved as .csv. The significance of the CCF plot was also observed and recorded, the trend with no significance is recorded as 0, and the trend with significance is recorded as 1. The CCF value is also generated using the SPSS software describing the correlation between trends in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the positive cases at the different time lag (-2 to 2) set for the CCF model. The highest and the second highest CCF value were recorded (Appendix 2)

The spatial analysis of the time shift between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and positive cases provides a clear understanding of the spatial patterns of the temporal relationship between the epidemiological indicators. Therefore, ArcGIS was used to generate the map displaying spatial patterns of the time shift (Figure 4-8) and cross-correlation value (Appendix 3B) at municipality level. The output of the CCF and the spatial analysis of the time shift explains the potential of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data as an early warning indicator to describe the SARS-CoV-2 transmission intensity across the municipalities in the Netherlands.

3.7. Ethical considerations

Studies addressing health-related issues must guarantee that the research protocols, goals and strategy protect the wellbeing of individuals concerned. Therefore, ethical considerations are important when dealing with health-related data. This research used secondary health data, which means that the data has been collected and existed on an officially published government platform, is an open-source dataset collected and published by the RIVM and does not contain individual, personal or private information of the infected individuals, and no identifiable variable is used. Also, the RIVM had considered all privacy issues by aggregating to the municipality level, hence the use of these data does not pose any ethical concerns. The minimum geographical scale the research findings are available is the municipality level and would complement the understanding of the health-risk of SARS-CoV-2. The result of this research will be communicated to the RIVM and be placed under the authority of ITC and RIVM and would be available upon request.

4. RESULTS

This chapter describes the relation between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and selected epidemiological indicators across space and time (section 4.1), identifies the statistical association between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and selected epidemiological indicators (section 4.2) and analyses in whether and how far SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration can be used as an early warning indicator for transmission of SARS-CoV-2 (section 4.3).

4.1. Spatial and temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and other epdemiological metrics

The relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and the selected epidemiological indicators are presented in two sections. Firstly, the pairwise temporal trends result of the normalized SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected four epidemiological indicators is presented. Secondly, the spatio-temporal analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the reported positive cases at safety region and municipality level is presented.

4.1.1. Temporal trends in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and the selected epidemiological indicators

The weekly variation of the normalised SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the four epidemiological indicators is shown in Figure 4-1. A visual comparison of the trends in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the reported positive cases (Figure 4-1A) indicates that the wastewater RNA signals show a more or less similar pattern with the reported positive cases. In most instances, a considerable rise and fall in the wastewater RNA signal is similar to the positive cases trends. For example, similar a synchronous peak in both wastewater signal and reported positive cases on the week of the 26th of October 2020 (Label 1), 21st of December 2020 (Label 3), 22nd March 2021 (Label 6), and 3rd May 2021 (Label 7). There is also a steady decline of both trends, the wastewater RNA concentration and the positive cases as shown in Label 7. An alternating pattern can be observed as indicated in Labels 2, 4 where a peak in wastewater RNA concentration corresponds with a decline in positive cases. In short, a partly similar pattern can be identified between the wastewater RNA signal and the positive cases signal during the study period.

The visual comparison of the trends in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the hospital admissions (Figure 4-1B) also shows a partially similar, but not consistent temporal trends of both indicators. The similarities can be observed with parallel patterns of rise and fall in the two trends as indicated from 22nd of March 2021 until 14th of June 2021 (Label III). The comparison of the trends in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the hospital admissions show some inconsistent patterns, with alternating rise and fall of the signals. A peak and decline in wastewater signal have a corresponding rise and fall in hospital admission signal after about one or two weeks (Label I and II). Hence, the wastewater RNA signal has similar patterns as the trends in COVID-19 related hospital admissions, but some inconsistencies were observed.

The comparison of the wastewater RNA signal and the trends in ICU admissions (Figure 3-1C), and reported deaths (Figure 3-1D), show few parallel patterns, and some inconsistencies in the trends can be observed. Figure 3-1C reveals a similar pattern in wastewater RNA signal and the trends of ICU admissions at most times during the study period, but the ICU admissions trend does not portray a similar distinct rise and decline as observed in wastewater RNA signal. Figure 3-1D illustrates a related pattern in the wastewater RNA signal and the trends in COVID-19 reported deaths. The rise and drop in COVID-19 reported deaths appears weeks after the corresponding rise and drop in the wastewater signal (Label I).

Label II in Figure 3-1D indicates a peak in wastewater RNA concentration corresponds with a decline in COVID-19 related deaths. Therefore, the decline in COVID-19 related deaths and the inconsistency with the RNA concentration might be due to some factors such as the effect of vaccination, thereby reducing the COVID-19 related deaths.

Generally, there are similarities and important differences in the visual exploration of the trends in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators. The visual comparison is insufficient to describe the relationship between the trends in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and epidemiological. The visual exploration will be complemented with a statistical analysis. The SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA signal largely shows similarities with the COVID-19 reported positive cases signals during the study period. Hence, the further exploration of the relationship between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and positive cases across smaller geographical scales such as the safety region and municipality.



Figure 4-1: Epidemiological metrics of normalised SARS-CoV-2 RNA concentration in wastewater and (A) reported positive cases, (B) hospital admissions, (C) ICU admissions, (D) reported deaths, per 100.000 inhabitants at the national level over the study period

4.1.2. Spatio-temporal analysis of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported positive cases

In this section, we zoom in from the national to the safety region and municipality level. The spatiotemporal visualisation and analysis of the epidemiological indicators reveal that substantive variation occurs at the regional and municipal level. The time-series maps of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the reported positive cases show the virus transmission intensity across safety regions (Figure 4-2 and 4-3) and municipalities (Figure 4-4 and 4-5).

Figures 4-2 and 4-3 provide a comparative temporal overview of the wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases across safety regions in the Netherlands. The comparison of the wastewater RNA concentration with the positive cases, send a mixed message. On one hand, similar spatial patterns can be observed in both indicators. On the other hand, there are inconsistent spatial patterns across the safety regions at different times.

Figure 4-4 and 4-5 provides a similar comparative overview of the wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases, but now at the more detailed municipality level, with similar patterns of increase and decrease in the virus intensity in both indicators during the study period. Comparing the time series of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and positive cases in these figures, the virus intensity variations were observed but not consistent across the study period.

Generally, the disproportional distribution of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases reveals the safety regions and municipalities with high rates of incidences through the epidemiological indicators during the study periods. Considerable similar patterns can be observed in the wastewater data and the positive cases across the safety regions than the municipality. Based on these observations, the wastewater RNA concentration data can describe the spatial and temporal patterns of SARS-CoV-2 transmission in the Netherlands. There are clear similarities and clear differences in the SARS-CoV-2 virus intensity variation across safety region and municipality based on the comparison of the spatio-temporal trends in the wastewater RNA concentration and the reported positive cases. The time series maps reveal similar and inconsistent patterns in areas with very low and high virus intensity at the safety region and municipality level. The revelation of the similarities and differences from the visual exploration of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the positive cases. Therefore, a statistical analysis is needed to complement the visual exploration of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators.



Figure 4-2: Spatio-temporal trends of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases across safety regions in the Netherlands from September 2020 to January 2021



Figure 4-3: Spatio-temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases across safety regions in the Netherlands from February 2021 to June 2021



Figure 4-4: Spatio-temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases across municipalities in the Netherlands from September 2020 to January 2021.



Figure 4-5: Spatio-temporal analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases across municipalities in the Netherlands from February 2021 to June 2021

4.2. Statistical association between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and selected epidemiological indicators

The association between the trends SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the epidemiological indicators was examined by means of a bivariate Pearson correlation analysis after which results were visualized at three geographical scales, national, safety region and municipality. Three out of the four epidemiological indicators were chosen: reported positive cases, hospital admissions and reported deaths. As the ICU admission data are only available on the national scale, so they were excluded from the analysis presented. The statistical association between the trends in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the three selected indicators are presented in the following subsections.

4.2.1. Statistical association between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentrations and selected epidemiological indicators at the national scale

The results of the bivariate Pearson correlation at the national scale, is presented in Table 6. The null hypothesis states that:

'There is no significant relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators.'

The Pearson correlation coefficient indicates a strong positive correlation between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration with each of the epidemiological indicators. Specifically, the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration has a strong positive correlation with hospital admissions (r = 0.727, p < 0.01) and reported positive cases (r = 0.655, p < 0.01) and reported death (r = 0.634, p < 0.01). The positive correlation coefficient clearly indicates that a good match exists between the trends in wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators. The result also indicates that the relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration with the p-value less than 0.01 within the confidence interval. Hence, we reject the null hypothesis. A clear relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators has been identified at the national level, hence, the need to further explore the statistical association between these epidemiological indicators at the subnational level (safety region and municipality).

Correlations					
		RNA concentration	Reported positive	Hospital admissions	Reported deaths
RNA concentration	Pearson Correlation	1	.655**	.727**	.634**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000	.000	.000
	Ν	41	41	41	41
**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).					

Table 6: Bivariate Pearson correlation for SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators at the national level

4.2.2. Statistical association between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentrations and selected epidemiological indicators at safety region and municipality level

The spatial variation of the bivariate Pearson correlation between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and the three epidemiological indicators is presented across the safety regions in Figure 4-6 and municipality in Figure 4-7. The statistical significance is at 95% confidence interval. The variation of the correlation coefficients across the safety region (see Figure 4-6A) shows that the relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported positive cases are statistically significant in nearly all safety regions. Eight safety regions (see Figure 4-6A) have a strong positive correlation coefficient between 0.6 and 0.8. Many safety regions have a positive correlation between 0.4 and 0.6, and only one safety region is statistically insignificant. The statistical association between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and the hospital admissions (see Figure 4-6B) shows some safety regions are statistically insignificant, about five safety regions have strong positive correlation with Pearson correlation value between 0.6 and 0.8, and some safety region with weak positive correlation between 0.2 and 0.8. The statistical association between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported deaths (Figure 4-6C) indicates nine safety regions are statistically insignificant, nine safety regions with a positive correlation coefficient between 0.4 and 0.6 and 0.8.

Generally, the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA is more statistically significant and has a stronger positive correlation with the positive cases across the safety region than most of the hospital admissions and the reported deaths.



Figure 4-6: Correlation coefficient per safety region between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and (A) reported positive cases, (B) hospital admissions and (C) reported deaths per 100.000 inhabitant the Netherlands from September 2020 to June 2021.

Pearson correlation between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and positive reported cases, hospital admissions and reported deaths at municipality level is presented in Figure 4-7. The statistical significance of the correlation was computed at 95% confidence interval. Figure 4-7A indicates that the relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported positive cases are statistically significant with medium to strong positive correlation for many municipalities in the Netherlands. It however also shows that there is no significant relation for 109 (30.9%) municipalities. Figures 4-7B and 4-7C reveal that the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA generally does not have a statistically significant relation with hospital admissions and reported deaths for 280 (79.5%) and 287 (81.5%) municipalities respectively. Generally, the spatial variation of the correlation between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and three epidemiological indicators is obvious across municipalities and safety regions than on the national level. The obvious correlation between the epidemiological indicators across safety regions and municipalities describes the heterogeneity of the significance of SARS-CoV-2 virus transmission across the regions and municipality. The SARS-CoV-2 transmission occurs at a different speed in different localities which act as the scale of measurement of infection rate nationally; hence the municipality is the spatial area of interest for further analysis. The result indicates that the positive cases are the most significant and most positively correlated epidemiological indicator with the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration. Hence, the selection of the positive cases for further temporal exploration.



Figure 4-7: Correlation coefficients per municipality between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and (A) reported positive cases, (B) hospital admissions and (C) reported deaths per 100.000 inhabitant in the Netherlands from September 2020 to June 2021.

4.3. Cross correlation analysis of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported positive cases

The concordance between the trends in normalized SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and positive cases was examined using the cross-correlation function (CCF) analysis to find the time shift between the trends, and the results were visualized at the municipality level. Research hypothesis, four, of this study is to identify if the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data is an early warning indicator of the virus transmission intensity. The visual comparison of the spatio-temporal trends in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and positive cases shows the relationship between the trends but is not sufficient to describe which indicator precedes the other or if an increase in one indicator within a week is equivalent to an increase in the other within the same week. Hence the need to describe if there exists a time-shift between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and the positive cases to determine which indicator precedes or is synchronous with the other.

Using the cross-correlation analysis, with a statistical significance of 95% confidence interval and a maximum displacement of + or -2 weeks, a time graph was generated showing the time shift and the CCF value between the wastewater RNA concentration and positive cases including the strongest correlation (Appendix 1). The time graph was generated for all the municipalities and the results were interpretated and recorded in a table (Appendix 2). Figure 4-8 shows that there are 300 statistically significant municipalities and 52 statistically nonsignificant municipalities based on the cross-correlation analysis. Out of the 300 statistically significant municipalities, 148 (49%) have no shift in time, which indicates that an increase or decrease in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration occurs at the same time period as the increase or decrease in positive cases. In 77 (26%) municipalities, the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration precedes the positive cases by one week and in 70 (23%) municipalities by two weeks. However, 4 (1%) reveal that the positive cases precede the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration by one week and only 1 municipality reveals this by two weeks. The spatial variation of the cross-correlation between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and reported positive cases is presented at the municipality level (Appendix 3B). It indicates the CCF value of the highest correlation between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data and positive cases. Appendix 3B indicates that there is a significant and varying positive correlation across 300 municipalities including most large municipalities and provides a better association between the indicators.

Overall, the SAR-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration precedes the positive cases in 49% (147 out of 300) of the municipalities in the Netherlands. From this result, for an increase in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration, there would be an increase in positive cases after one or two weeks in about half of the municipalities. Hence, the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data could act as a suitable early warning indicator of the virus transmission intensity. A second-half, 49% (148 out of 300) of the municipalities, show a synchronous time (zero time-shift) relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the positive cases, indicating an increase in the wastewater concentration as the cases increase within the same week. The zero-time shift relationship might be an effect of the weekly collection of the wastewater data. To investigate the effect of this weekly temporal resolution, the resulting zero-time shift cross-correlation was analyzed to examine the time shift of the second-highest correlation in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and positive cases. The cross-correlation graphs (Appendix 1) show a close relationship between the highest cross-correlation and the second-highest correlation, hence, the need to assess the time shift of the second highest correlation. The 49% (148 out of 300) municipalities with zero time shift (Figure 4-8B) - indicating the two indicators (SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the positive cases) occur at the same time, were considered for the second-highest correlation analysis to understand if a further time shift exists between these indicators.



Figure 4-8: Time shift between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the reported positive cases per 100.00 inhabitants in the Netherlands

From the assessment of the zero-time shift municipalities, the results show 37% municipalities where the SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration precedes the positive cases by one week and 30% municipalities by two weeks. However, 34% indicate that the positive cases precede the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration by one week, indicating an increase in positive cases observed a week before an increase in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration. In summary, the result of the time shift of the second highest correlation, a majority of the municipalities, show SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration increase before the positive cases increase by one or two weeks. Hence, the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data as shown to be feasible as an early warning indicator of the virus transmission intensity.



Figure 4-9: Second Time Shift in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases

5. DISCUSSION

This chapter discusses the results of the spatial-temporal exploration of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and selected epidemiological indicators, the correlation between the wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators, and elaborates on the potential of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data as an early warning indicator for transmission of SARS-CoV-2. Besides, evidence-based recommendations are derived from the results and analysis. The chapter also highlights the limitations of the research.

5.1. Variations in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA ocncentration and SARS-CoV-2 transmission in space and time

There are weekly variations in normalised SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration with distinct peaks and decline in the virus intensity during the study period across the national, safety region and municipality levels. The study demonstrates that the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA data is suitable to describe the spatiotemporal patterns of SARS-CoV-2 transmission across multiple geographical scales. The organisation and integration of the SARS-CoV-2 epidemiological indicators datasets have allowed a combination of space and time visualisation to support this study. Unlike other studies which have analysed only the temporal variation of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA from hospitals (Gonçalves et al., 2021), universities (Scott et al., 2021), or cities serving a single wastewater treatment plant (D'Aoust et al., 2021), multiple cities (Medema et al., 2020), individual municipalities (Kaplan et al., 2020; Prado et al., 2021), multiple municipalities (Saguti et al., 2021), a single region (D'Aoust et al., 2021; Kumar et al., 2021) or multiple regions (Korber et al., 2020). Our study has explored the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA together with other epidemiological indicators at the national level, safety region, and municipality level. Furthermore, it highlights the usefulness of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data for temporal variation on a local scale monitored over time. Our analysis confirms that the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA data is a useful complementary epidemiological indicator to explore the spatiotemporal variation of the SARS-CoV-2 transmission intensity.

5.2. Associations between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and other epidemiological indicators at different geographical scales

SARS-CoV-2 wastewater with positive cases, hospital admissions and reported deaths are statistically associated at different geographical scales, including national, safety regions and municipality levels. Spatial variations of the statistical association decrease as the geographical scales increase, with strongest associations at the smallest scale: the municipal level, providing a detailed picture in municipalities. This is consistent with the findings of Nemudryi et al. (2020) that geographically smaller-scale analysis of the statistical relationship between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA and COVID-19 cases is useful for observing virus transmission dynamics. Previous studies have shown statistical associations of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration and some epidemiological indicators at multiple communities (Weidhaas et al., 2021), a single city (D'Aoust, Graber, et al., 2021), selected cities in the Netherlands (Medema et al., 2020), and a single municipality (Wurtz et al., 2021). However, a complete representation of the Netherlands has not been carried out so far. By including all municipalities, our study closes geographical knowledge gaps, and provides a national-wide overview. The association of the wastewater RNA concentration and other epidemiological indicators provides opportunity to monitor virus transmission in the Netherlands as a whole (Sims & Kasprzyk-Hordern, 2020). Our study has shown that analyzing the wastewater data and epidemiological indicators at municipal level can be useful for monitoring of the SARS-CoV-2 transmission intensity in smaller geographical areas.

5.3. SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data suitable as an early warning indicator to COVID-19 virus intensity

The time-shift cross-correlation analysis (Section 4.3) indicates that increases in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration precede increases in weekly positive cases by one or two weeks in most municipalities in the Netherlands. In other cases, the two indicators occur synchronous, meaning that both indicators increase/decrease within the same week. Further analysis of the municipalities where the two indicators do not precede each other showed that in more than half of these municipalities, increases in SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration precede increases in positive cases, further supporting the initial result. Other studies only have reported that the SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration precedes the reported positive cases in a single city (Agrawal et al., 2021; D'Aoust et al., 2021), selected cities in the Netherlands (Medema et al., 2020), a municipality (Nemudryi et al., 2020) and selected urban areas (Hillary et al., 2021). Our study included all municipalities in the Netherlands to demonstrate the temporal relationship between SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration and positive cases in these municipalities during the selected time period (September 2020 to June 2021). Through the potential predictive ability of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data on the virus transmission, examining the temporal relationship between SARS-CoV-2 RNA wastewater concentration and positive cases has reveal additional information in making more robust inferences (Ahmed et al., 2021). This makes SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data generally suitable as a spatially disaggregate early warning indicator of the virus transmission intensity.

Our time shift analysis result (Section 4.3) also indicates that a few municipalities show positive cases increase before the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration by one or two weeks. This result is similar to Weidhaas et al. (2021), which also showed that a decline in positive cases precedes a decline in wastewater SARS-CoV-2 RNA. Factors such as frequency of testing, vaccination and testing policies could impact the positive cases data (Moorlag et al., 2020). Testing quality might have improved over time during the study period due to the availability of more test centres and test kits, affecting the outcome of the trends in positive cases. The number of WWTP in a municipality, the share of the population contributing to the WWTP could impact the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data (Hillary et al., 2021). The percentage contribution of wastewater from the municipality to the WWTP was considered in this study. The distribution of the wastewater RNA concentration from WWTP into the municipalities might impact the trends in wastewater data due to multiple municipalities contributing to one WWTP. These factors might affect the result of the time shift analysis of the two indicators. However, based on our findings, SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data acts as a complementary epidemiological indicator to the monitor virus transmission intensity.

5.4. Recommendation for descion making and policy development

We derived evidence-based recommendations for health-related decision making and policy planning from the findings of this study (Objective 3)

5.4.1. Recommendation based on analysis to support decision making

a) Epidemiological indicators such as positive cases, hospital admissions are established indicators to monitor the transmission of SARS-CoV-2 intensity, yet there is substantial amount of asymptomatic and presymptomatic cases that are not (always) identified through clinical testing (Larsen et al., 2020). WBE offers an approach to provide a picture of the infections at a community level, but it cannot replace the individual testing indicators. In our study, the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data is a suitable epidemiological indicator to monitor the spatio-temporal trends in the virus transmission across different geographical levels. The wastewater data is also useful for the identification of re-emerging infections and to target areas with high infection rates.

It is recommended to use spatio-temporal SARS-CoV-2 wastewater trends across different geographical levels as a timely indicator to COVID-19 virus intensity. Based on the wastewater collection structure in different countries, national wastewater-based approach can be adopted for potential nationwide monitoring of the virus transmission.

b) In our study, the wastewater RNA data has proven to be a suitable early warning indicator for the virus transmission at a smaller and finer geographical (municipal) level. This insight could help public health officials to identify areas with high infections, where the infection rate has surpassed the action threshold set by the health authority. Finally, the early indication of infection with the wastewater RNA trends could help in the assessment of the precautionary restriction by the public health authority.

It is recommended to use SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration data for the design and implementation of targeted public health interventions.

5.4.2. Recommendation based on data collection and data quality

a) The organisation of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA data and the other epidemiological indicators datasets to a uniform unit of analysis is an important step in this study, which allowed the ease of generation of the spatio-temporal trends. The viability of the wastewater RNA data has provided a premise for the improvement and restructuring of the data to municipal level.

It is recommended to include additional municipal information in the wastewater data collection process to facilitate the generation of spatio-temporal trends to monitor the virus at the municipal scale and complement the other clinical surveillance indicators. As, highest variations occur at the municipal scale, such collection provides a detailed picture of the health measures to be implemented by the health authorities.

b) There is a potential for under-reporting of COVID-19 positive cases due to testing from different centres and bodies. This might affect the result of the temporal association between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the positive cases. Incorporating more interoperability in the contact tracing system among public health initiatives can help improve reporting of COVID-19 cases.

It is recommended that the public health authorities should include additional measures that would improve reporting of the number of infected people, which would enrich the quality of the data.

c) The spatial and temporal analysis of the weekly reading of the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators has described the weekly relationship between the two indicators. The potential of the wastewater RNA data to describe the weekly transmission of the virus intensity has been established. An improvement of the result would be a smaller temporal resolution to improve the results of our analysis.

It is recommended to facilitate a more frequent (e.g., daily, 2-daily) collection of wastewater samples.

5.5. Research limitations

This study explores datasets of different epidemiological indicators from different sources. The data used are of different spatial units and needed to be organised to a uniform unit of analysis. The first limitation of that the open data is that some positive cases might have gone unreported, particularly in the earlier stages of the pandemic. Some testing organisations perform the clinical testing and might not report to the municipal health authority charged with reporting the number of people positive for the virus, thereby not fully reflecting the actual number of infections. Secondly, some missing data were observed in the datasets which might have affected the results. Another limitation is the information of the catchment area of the WWTP. As there are instances where multiple municipalities contribute to a single WWTP, the percentage municipality-to-WWTP contribution was considered. The percentage contributions might not fully represent the actual situation.

6. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

6.1. Conclusion

This thesis presents a comparative approach to assess the potential of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data in relation to some selected epidemiological indicators; reported positive cases, hospital admissions, ICU admissions and reported deaths in the Netherlands using spatially disaggregated publicly available secondary data. A spatial and temporal approach was explored to analyze the relationship between these indicators and derive an evidence-based recommendation from the relationship.

A methodological approach was developed to combine open-source data of the selected epidemiological indicators from different sources, integrating them for analysis across different geographical scales (national, safety region and municipality). This showed how combining data at a disaggregated level to a uniform spatial unit can provide additional valuable information in understanding virus transmission in the Netherlands.

Statistical and spatial analyses were applied to describe the spatio-temporal relationship between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and the selected epidemiological indicators, and specifically SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA across national, safety region and municipality levels. This allowed a visual comparison of the virus transmission in space and time and showed prevailing spatial and temporal patterns in the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA data, additionally providing an opportunity to observe the emergence and re-emergence of SARS-CoV-2 transmission across these three geographical scales.

The statistical relationship between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and three epidemiological indicators, positive cases, hospital admissions and reported deaths has shown that a smaller scale provides the most information when analysing the wastewater data and other epidemiological indicators; hence, the municipal level showed the most robust scale in describing the SARS-CoV-2 transmission intensity. The temporal association between the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and positive cases, showed an increase in SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration preceding an increase in positive cases by one or two weeks is present in most municipalities in the Netherlands.

This thesis establishes the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data is a complementary epidemiological indicator to monitor the spatial and temporal variation of the virus transmission across national, safety region and municipality scales in the Netherlands. It emphasizes that SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration data at the municipal level can support targeted monitoring. It further concludes that the SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data is suitable to act as an early warning indicator of SARS-CoV-2 transmission intensity, useful for timely public health interventions and make informed decisions.

6.2. Future research and next steps

Future research can explore a finer temporal resolution – e.g., the daily positive cases - and SARS-CoV-2 wastewater concentration, to gain new insights on SARS-CoV-2 wastewater data as a complementary indicator to the standard epidemiological indicators. This approach could be extended to consider factors determining the viral load of coronavirus in wastewater. Factors that determine the number of infections, like vaccinations and testing, could be considered as well. Besides, it could be interesting to see whether similar approaches in this study can be done in other countries.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Abate, S. M., Ali, S. A., Mantfardo, B., & Basu, B. (2020). Rate of intensive care unit admission and outcomes among patients with coronavirus: A systematic review and Meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(7). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0235653
- Abbasi, F., Samaei, M. R., Manoochehri, Z., Jalili, M., & Yazdani, E. (2020). The effect of incubation temperature and growth media on index microbial fungi of indoor air in a hospital building in Shiraz, Iran. *Journal of Building Engineering*, 31, 101294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobe.2020.101294
- Agarwal, S., & Rajan, K. S. (2015). Free and Open Source Software for Geospatial (FOSS4G) Conference Proceedings Performance Analysis of MongoDB Vs. PostGIS/ PostGreSQL Databases For Line Intersection and Point Containment Spatial Queries. *International Institute of Information Technology Hyderabad Gachibowli, Hyderabad, India, 15*, 50. https://doi.org/10.7275/R5MG7MQG
- Agrawal, S., Orschler, L., & Lackner, S. (2021). Long-term monitoring of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater of the Frankfurt metropolitan area in Southern Germany. *Scientific Reports*, *11*(1), 5372. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-84914-2
- Aguiar-Oliveira, M. de L., Campos, A., Matos, A. R., Rigotto, C., Sotero-Martins, A., Teixeira, P. F. P., & Siqueira, M. M. (2020). Wastewater-based epidemiology (Wbe) and viral detection in polluted surface water: A valuable tool for covid-19 surveillance—a brief review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(24), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249251
- Ahmadi, M., Sharifi, A., Dorosti, S., Jafarzadeh Ghoushchi, S., & Ghanbari, N. (2020). Investigation of effective climatology parameters on COVID-19 outbreak in Iran. Science of the Total Environment, 729, 138705. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138705
- Ahmed, W., Angel, N., Edson, J., Bibby, K., Bivins, A., O'Brien, J. W., … Mueller, J. F. (2020a). First confirmed detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater in Australia: A proof of concept for the wastewater surveillance of COVID-19 in the community. *Science of the Total Environment*, 728, 138764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138764
- Ahmed, W., Angel, N., Edson, J., Bibby, K., Bivins, A., O'Brien, J. W., … Mueller, J. F. (2020b). First confirmed detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewater in Australia: A proof of concept for the wastewater surveillance of COVID-19 in the community. *Science of the Total Environment*, 728, 138764. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138764
- Ahmed, W., Tscharke, B., Bertsch, P. M., Bibby, K., Bivins, A., Choi, P., ... Mueller, J. F. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 RNA monitoring in wastewater as a potential early warning system for COVID-19 transmission in the community: A temporal case study. *Science of the Total Environment*, 761, 144216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144216
- Andrade, L. A., Gomes, D. S., Góes, M. A. de O., de Souza, M. S. F., Teixeira, D. C. P., Ribeiro, C. J. N., ... Dos Santos, A. D. (2020). Surveillance of the first cases of COVID-19 in sergipe using a prospective spatiotemporal analysis: The spatial dispersion and its public health implications. *Revista* Da Sociedade Brasileira de Medicina Tropical, 53, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1590/0037-8682-0287-2020
- Anil, I., & Alagha, O. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 lockdown on the air quality of Eastern Province, Saudi Arabia. Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health, 14(8), 117–128. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-020-00918-3
- Arabi, Y. M., Murthy, S., & Webb, S. (2020). COVID-19: a novel coronavirus and a novel challenge for critical care. *Intensive Care Medicine 2020 46:5*, 46(5), 833–836. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00134-020-05955-1
- Arons, M. M., Hatfield, K. M., Reddy, S. C., Kimball, A., James, A., Jacobs, J. R., ... Jernigan, J. A. (2020). Presymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Infections and Transmission in a Skilled Nursing Facility. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 382(22), 2081–2090. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmoa2008457
- Arria, A. M., Caldeira, K. M., Kasperski, S. J., Vincent, K. B., Griffiths, R. R., & O'Grady, K. E. (2011). Energy Drink Consumption and Increased Risk for Alcohol Dependence. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 35(2), 365–375. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2010.01352.x
- Baker, R. E., Yang, W., Vecchi, G. A., Metcalf, C. J. E., & Grenfell, B. T. (2020). Susceptible supply limits the role of climate in the early SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. *Science*, 369(6501), 315–319. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abc2535
- Barratt, R., Shaban, R. Z., & Gilbert, G. L. (2019). Clinician perceptions of respiratory infection risk; a rationale for research into mask use in routine practice. *Infection, Disease and Health*, 24(3), 169–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.idh.2019.01.003

- Bavia, L., Melanda, F. N., de Arruda, T. B., Mosimann, A. L. P., Silveira, G. F., Aoki, M. N., ... Bordignon, J. (2020). Epidemiological study on dengue in southern Brazil under the perspective of climate and poverty. *Scientific Reports*, 10(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-58542-1
- Baz-Lomba, J. A., Salvatore, S., Gracia-Lor, E., Bade, R., Castiglioni, S., Castrignanò, E., ... Thomas, K. (2016). Comparison of pharmaceutical, illicit drug, alcohol, nicotine and caffeine levels in wastewater with sale, seizure and consumption data for 8 European cities. *BMC Public Health*, 16(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3686-5
- Benvenuto, D., Giovanetti, M., Vassallo, L., Angeletti, S., & Ciccozzi, M. (2020). Application of the ARIMA model on the COVID-2019 epidemic dataset. *Data in Brief, 29*, 105340. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2020.105340
- Bhaskaran, K., Gasparrini, A., Hajat, S., Smeeth, L., & Armstrong, B. (2013). Time series regression studies in environmental epidemiology. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 42(4), 1187. https://doi.org/10.1093/IJE/DYT092
- Bivins, A., North, D., Ahmad, A., Ahmed, W., Alm, E., Been, F., ... Bibby, K. (2020). Wastewater-Based Epidemiology: Global Collaborative to Maximize Contributions in the Fight against COVID-19. Environmental Science and Technology, 54(13), 7754–7757. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c02388
- Blanford, J. I., & Jolly, A. M. (2021). Public health needs GIScience (like now). AGILE: GIScience Series, 2, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.5194/agile-giss-2-18-2021
- Bodík, I., Mackuľak, T., Fáberová, M., & Ivanová, L. (2016). Occurrence of illicit drugs and selected pharmaceuticals in Slovak municipal wastewater. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 23(20), 21098–21105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7415-5
- Bofill-Mas, S., Pina, S., & Girones, R. (2000). Documenting the epidemiologic patterns of polyomaviruses in human populations by studying their presence in urban sewage. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 66(1), 238–245. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.1.238-245.2000
- Boleda, M. R., Galceran, M. T., & Ventura, F. (2007). Trace determination of cannabinoids and opiates in wastewater and surface waters by ultra-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1175(1), 38–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2007.10.029
- Boogaerts, T., Ahmed, F., Choi, P. ., Tscharke, B., O'Brien, J., De Loof, H., ... van Nuijs, A. L. N. (2021). Current and future perspectives for wastewater-based epidemiology as a monitoring tool for pharmaceutical use. *Science of The Total Environment*, 789, 148047. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148047
- Boogaerts, T., Covaci, A., Kinyua, J., Neels, H., & Van Nuijs, A. L. N. (2016). Spatial and temporal trends in alcohol consumption in Belgian cities: A wastewater-based approach. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 160, 170–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.01.002
- Bosis, S., Esposito, S., Niesters, H. G. M., Tremolati, E., Pas, S., Principi, N., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. (2007). Coronavirus HKU1 in an Italian pre-term infant with bronchiolitis. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 38(3), 251–253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2006.11.014
- Bragazzi, N. L., Mahroum, N., Damiani, G., Kong, J. D., & Wu, J. (2021). Effectiveness of community face mask use on COVID-19 epidemiological trends and patterns in Italy: evidence from a "translational" study. *Infectious Diseases*, 53(4), 252–254. https://doi.org/10.1080/23744235.2021.1883731
- Briz-Redón, Á., & Serrano-Aroca, Á. (2020). A spatio-temporal analysis for exploring the effect of temperature on COVID-19 early evolution in Spain. *Science of the Total Environment*, 728, 138811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138811
- Broman, K. W., & Woo, K. H. (2018). Data Organization in Spreadsheets. *American Statistician*, 72(1), 2–10. https://doi.org/10.1080/00031305.2017.1375989
- Byambasuren, O., Cardona, M., Bell Phd, K., Ba, J. C., Mclaws, M.-L., & Glasziou, P. (2020). Estimating the extent of asymptomatic COVID-19 and its potential for community transmission: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Official Journal of the Association of Medical Microbiology and Infectious Disease Canada, 5(4), 223–234. https://doi.org/10.3138/jammi-2020-0030
- Cao, Q., Chen, Y. C., Chen, C. L., & Chiu, C. H. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 infection in children: Transmission dynamics and clinical characteristics. *Journal of the Formosan Medical Association*, 119(3), 670–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfma.2020.02.009
- Carducci, A., Morici, P., Pizzi, F., Battistini, R., Rovini, E., & Verani, M. (2008). Study of the viral removal efficiency in a urban wastewater treatment plant. *Water Science and Technology*, *58*(4), 893–897. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2008.437

- Castiglioni, S., Zuccato, E., Crisci, E., Chiabrando, C., Fanelli, R., & Bagnati, R. (2006). Identification and measurement of illicit drugs and their metabolites in urban wastewater by liquid chromatographytandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry*, 78(24), 8421–8429. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac061095b
- CBS. (2020a). Economic contraction of 8.5 percent in Q2 2020. Retrieved from https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/news/2020/33/economic-contraction-of-8-5-percent-in-q2-2020
- CBS. (2020b). StatLine Population development; region by month. Retrieved July 15, 2021, from https://opendata.cbs.nl/statline/#/CBS/nl/dataset/37230NED/table?ts=1592385229118&fromst atweb=true
- CBS. (2021). Economic impact of COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.cbs.nl/engb/dossier/coronavirus-crisis-cbs-figures/economic-impact-of-covid-19
- CDC. (2020). Overview of Testing for SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19). Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/hcp/testingoverview.html?CDC_AA_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019ncov%2Fhcp%2Fclinical-criteria.html
- Cebrecos, A., Domínguez-Berjón, M. F., Duque, I., Franco, M., & Escobar, F. (2018). Geographic and statistic stability of deprivation aggregated measures at different spatial units in health research. *Applied Geography*, *95*, 9–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2018.04.001
- Centazzo, N., Frederick, B. M., Jacox, A., Cheng, S. Y., & Concheiro-Guisan, M. (2019). Wastewater analysis for nicotine, cocaine, amphetamines, opioids and cannabis in New York City. *Forensic Sciences Research*, 4(2), 152–167. https://doi.org/10.1080/20961790.2019.1609388
- Chan, J. F. W., Yuan, S., Kok, K. H., To, K. K. W., Chu, H., Yang, J., ... Yuen, K. Y. (2020). A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. *The Lancet*, 395(10223), 514–523. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30154-9
- Chen, N., Zhou, M., Dong, X., Qu, J., Gong, F., Han, Y., ... Zhang, L. (2020). Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of 99 cases of 2019 novel coronavirus pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a descriptive study. *The Lancet*, *395*(10223), 507–513. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30211-7
- Chin, A. W. H., Chu, J. T. S., Perera, M. R. A., Hui, K. P. Y., Yen, H.-L., Chan, M. C. W., ... Poon, L. L. M. (2020). Stability of SARS-CoV-2 in different environmental conditions. *The Lancet Microbe*, 1(1), e10. https://doi.org/10.1016/s2666-5247(20)30003-3
- Chinazzi, M., Davis, J. T., Ajelli, M., Gioannini, C., Litvinova, M., Merler, S., ... Vespignani, A. (2020). The effect of travel restrictions on the spread of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak. *Science*, *368*(6489), 395–400. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aba9757
- Chiu, N. C., Chi, H., Tai, Y. L., Peng, C. C., Tseng, C. Y., Chen, C. C., ... Lin, C. Y. (2020). Impact of wearing masks, hand hygiene, and social distancing on influenza, enterovirus, and all-cause pneumonia during the coronavirus pandemic: Retrospective national epidemiological surveillance study. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(8), e21257. https://doi.org/10.2196/21257
- Choi, P. M., Tscharke, B. J., Donner, E., O'Brien, J. W., Grant, S. C., Kaserzon, S. L., ... Mueller, J. F. (2018). Wastewater-based epidemiology biomarkers: Past, present and future. *TrAC Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 105, 453–469. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trac.2018.06.004
- Choi, P. M., Tscharke, B., Samanipour, S., Hall, W. D., Gartner, C. E., Mueller, J. F., ... O'Brien, J. W. (2019). Social, demographic, and economic correlates of food and chemical consumption measured by wastewater-based epidemiology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 116(43), 21864–21873. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1910242116
- Conti, P., Caraffa, A., Gallenga, C. E., Kritas, S. K., Frydas, I., Younes, A., ... Ronconi, G. (2021). The british variant of the new coronavirus-19 (Sars-cov-2) should not create a vaccine problem. *Journal of Biological Regulators and Homeostatic Agents*, *35*(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.23812/21-3-E
- Coura-Vital, W., Cardoso, D. T., Ker, F. T. de O., Magalhães, F. do C., Bezerra, J. M. T., Viegas, A. M., ... Barbosa, D. S. (2021). Spatiotemporal dynamics and risk estimates of covid-19 epidemic in minas gerais state: Analysis of an expanding process. *Revista Do Instituto de Medicina Tropical de Sao Paulo, 63*, e21. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1678-9946202163021
- Crawford, S. L. (2006). Correlation and regression. *Circulation*, 114(19), 2083–2088. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.586495
- Cuevas-Ferrando, E., Randazzo, W., Pérez-Cataluña, A., & Sánchez, G. (2020). HEV Occurrence in Waste and Drinking Water Treatment Plants. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10, 2937. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.02937

Cui, J., Li, F., & Shi, Z. L. (2019a). Origin and evolution of pathogenic coronaviruses. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 17(3), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0118-9

- Cui, J., Li, F., & Shi, Z. L. (2019b). Origin and evolution of pathogenic coronaviruses. Nature Reviews Microbiology, 17(3), 181–192. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-018-0118-9
- D'Amico, F., Baumgart, D. C., Danese, S., & Peyrin-Biroulet, L. (2020). Diarrhea During COVID-19 Infection: Pathogenesis, Epidemiology, Prevention, and Management. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 18(8), 1663–1672. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2020.04.001
- D'Aoust, P. M., Graber, T. E., Mercier, E., Montpetit, D., Alexandrov, I., Neault, N., ... Delatolla, R. (2021). Catching a resurgence: Increase in SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA identified in wastewater 48 h before COVID-19 clinical tests and 96 h before hospitalizations. *Science of the Total Environment*, 770, 145319. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145319
- D'Aoust, P. M., Mercier, E., Montpetit, D., Jia, J. J., Alexandrov, I., Neault, N., ... Delatolla, R. (2021). Quantitative analysis of SARS-CoV-2 RNA from wastewater solids in communities with low COVID-19 incidence and prevalence. *Water Research*, *188*, 116560. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116560
- Damluji, A. A., Christenson, R. H., & Defilippi, C. (2021). Clinical application of serologic testing for coronavirus disease 2019 in contemporary cardiovascular practice. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 10(5), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.120.019506
- Daughton, C. G. (2001). Emerging pollutants, and communicating the science of environmental chemistry and mass spectrometry: Pharmaceuticals in the environment. *Journal of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry*, *12*(10), 1067–1076. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1044-0305(01)00287-2
- Davies, N. G., Klepac, P., Liu, Y., Prem, K., Jit, M., Pearson, C. A. B., ... Eggo, R. M. (2020). Agedependent effects in the transmission and control of COVID-19 epidemics. *Nature Medicine*, 26(8), 1205–1211. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0962-9
- Dennis, M. J. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on the world economy and higher education. *Enrollment Management Report*, 24(9), 3. https://doi.org/10.1002/emt.30720
- Desjardins, M. R., Hohl, A., & Delmelle, E. M. (2020). Rapid surveillance of COVID-19 in the United States using a prospective space-time scan statistic: Detecting and evaluating emerging clusters. *Applied Geography*, *118*, 102202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2020.102202
- Dhama, K., Sharun, K., Tiwari, R., Dadar, M., Malik, Y. S., Singh, K. P., & Chaicumpa, W. (2020). COVID-19, an emerging coronavirus infection: advances and prospects in designing and developing vaccines, immunotherapeutics, and therapeutics. *Human Vaccines and Immunotherapeutics*, 16(6), 1232– 1238. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2020.1735227
- Dhar Chowdhury, S., & Oommen, A. M. (2020). Epidemiology of COVID-19. Journal of Digestive Endoscopy, 11(01), 03–07. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0040-1712187
- Divisi, D., Leonardo, G. Di, Zaccagna, G., & Crisci, R. (2017). Basic statistics with Microsoft Excel: a review. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 9(6), 1734. https://doi.org/10.21037/JTD.2017.05.81
- Dong, E., Du, H., & Gardner, L. (2020). An interactive web-based dashboard to track COVID-19 in real time. *The Lancet Infectious Diseases*, 20(5), 533–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30120-1
- Driver, E. M., Gushgari, A., Chen, J., & Halden, R. U. (2020). Alcohol, nicotine, and caffeine consumption on a public U.S. university campus determined by wastewater-based epidemiology. *Science of the Total Environment*, 727, 138492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138492
- ECDC. (2020). Monitoring and evaluation framework for COVID-19 response activities in the EU / EEA and the UK Guide national responses to Subnational level Guide subnational responses to COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publications-data/covid-19-monitoring-and-evaluation-framework-response-activities
- Elliot, A. J., Harcourt, S. E., Hughes, H. E., Loveridge, P., Morbey, R. A., Smith, S., ... Oliver, I. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic: A new challenge for syndromic surveillance. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 148, e122. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268820001314
- Endo, N., Ghaeli, N., Duvallet, C., Foppe, K., Erickson, T. B., Matus, M., & Chai, P. R. (2020). Rapid Assessment of Opioid Exposure and Treatment in Cities Through Robotic Collection and Chemical Analysis of Wastewater. *Journal of Medical Toxicology*, 16(2), 195–203. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13181-019-00756-5
- Escolà Casas, M., Schröter, N. S., Zammit, I., Castaño-Trias, M., Rodriguez-Mozaz, S., Gago-Ferrero, P.,
 & Corominas, L. (2021). Showcasing the potential of wastewater-based epidemiology to track
 pharmaceuticals consumption in cities: Comparison against prescription data collected at fine spatial
 resolution. *Environment International*, 150, 106404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2021.106404

- Eurostat. (2020). Growth rates of GDP in volume up to third quarter of 2020. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/2995521/10663774/2-30102020-BP-EN.pdf
- Farkas, K., Hillary, L. S., Malham, S. K., McDonald, J. E., & Jones, D. L. (2020). Wastewater and public health: the potential of wastewater surveillance for monitoring COVID-19. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health*, 17, 14–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2020.06.001
- Ferretti, L., Wymant, C., Kendall, M., Zhao, L., Nurtay, A., Abeler-Dörner, L., ... Fraser, C. (2020). Quantifying SARS-CoV-2 transmission suggests epidemic control with digital contact tracing. *Science*, 368(6491), eabb6936. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abb6936
- Figliozzi, S., Masci, P. G., Ahmadi, N., Tondi, L., Koutli, E., Aimo, A., ... Georgiopoulos, G. (2020). Predictors of adverse prognosis in COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 50(10), e13362. https://doi.org/10.1111/eci.13362
- Flannery, J., Keaveney, S., Rajko-Nenow, P., O'Flaherty, V., & Doré, W. (2012). Concentration of norovirus during wastewater treatment and its impact on oyster contamination. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 78(9), 3400–3406. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.07569-11
- Flaxman, S., Mishra, S., Gandy, A., Unwin, H. J. T., Mellan, T. A., Coupland, H., ... Bhatt, S. (2020). Estimating the effects of non-pharmaceutical interventions on COVID-19 in Europe. *Nature*, 584(7820), 257–261. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2405-7
- Fouchier, R. A. M., Hartwig, N. G., Bestebroer, T. M., Niemeyer, B., De Jong, J. C., Simon, J. H., & Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. (2004). A previously undescribed coronavirus associated with respiratory disease in humans. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(16), 6212–6216. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0400762101
- Franch-Pardo, I., Napoletano, B. M., Rosete-Verges, F., & Billa, L. (2020). Spatial analysis and GIS in the study of COVID-19. A review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 739, 140033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140033
- Gao, M., Yang, L., Chen, X., Deng, Y., Yang, S., Xu, H., ... Gao, X. (2020). A study on infectivity of asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 carriers. *Respiratory Medicine*, *169*, 106026. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rmed.2020.106026
- García-Basteiro, A. L., Chaccour, C., Guinovart, C., Llupià, A., Brew, J., Trilla, A., & Plasencia, A. (2020). Monitoring the COVID-19 epidemic in the context of widespread local transmission. *The Lancet. Respiratory Medicine*, 8(5), 440. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30162-4
- Ghinai, I., McPherson, T. D., Hunter, J. C., Kirking, H. L., Christiansen, D., Joshi, K., ... Layden, J. E. (2020). First known person-to-person transmission of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) in the USA. *The Lancet*, 395(10230), 1137–1144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30607-3
- Goethem, N. Van, Vilain, A., Wyndham-Thomas, C., Deblonde, J., Bossuyt, N., Lernout, T., ... Beckhoven, D. Van. (2020). Rapid establishment of a national surveillance of COVID-19 hospitalizations in Belgium. *Archives of Public Health 2020 78:1*, *78*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13690-020-00505-Z
- Gonçalves, J., Koritnik, T., Mioč, V., Trkov, M., Bolješič, M., Berginc, N., ... Paragi, M. (2021). Detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in hospital wastewater from a low COVID-19 disease prevalence area. *Science of the Total Environment*, *755*, 143226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143226
- González-Mariño, I., Baz-Lomba, J. A., Alygizakis, N. A., Andrés-Costa, M. J., Bade, R., Bannwarth, A., ... Ort, C. (2020). Spatio-temporal assessment of illicit drug use at large scale: evidence from 7 years of international wastewater monitoring. *Addiction*, 115(1), 109–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14767
- Gössling, S., Scott, D., & Hall, C. M. (2020). Pandemics, tourism and global change: a rapid assessment of COVID-19. *Journal of Sustainable Tourism*, 29(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2020.1758708
- Goulding, N., Hickman, M., Reid, M., Amundsen, E. J., Baz-Lomba, J. A., O'Brien, J. W., ... Jones, H. E. (2020). A comparison of trends in wastewater-based data and traditional epidemiological indicators of stimulant consumption in three locations. *Addiction*, 115(3), 462–472. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14852
- Gross, B., Zheng, Z., Liu, S., Chen, X., Sela, A., Li, J., ... Havlin, S. (2020). Spatio-temporal propagation of COVID-19 pandemics. *EPL*, *131*(5), 58003. https://doi.org/10.1209/0295-5075/131/58003
- Guan, D., Wang, D., Hallegatte, S., Davis, S. J., Huo, J., Li, S., ... Gong, P. (2020). Global supply-chain effects of COVID-19 control measures. *Nature Human Behaviour*, 4(6), 577–587. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41562-020-0896-8
- Guan, Y., Zheng, B. J., He, Y. Q., Liu, X. L., Zhuang, Z. X., Cheung, C. L., ... Poon, L. L. M. (2003). Isolation and characterization of viruses related to the SARS coronavirus from animals in Southern China. *Science*, 302(5643), 276–278. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1087139
- Gunawardane, P., Middleton, E., Lodha, S., Crow, B., & Davis, J. (2009). Analyzing statistical relationships between global indicators through visualization. 2009 International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development, ICTD 2009 - Proceedings, 212–221. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICTD.2009.5426689
- Gupta, S., Raghuwanshi, G. S., & Chanda, A. (2020). Effect of weather on COVID-19 spread in the US: A prediction model for India in 2020. *Science of the Total Environment*, 728, 138860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138860
- Gushgari, A. J., Venkatesan, A. K., Chen, J., Steele, J. C., & Halden, R. U. (2019). Long-term tracking of opioid consumption in two United States cities using wastewater-based epidemiology approach. *Water Research*, 161, 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2019.06.003
- Halden, R., Terlinden, E., Kraberger, S., Scotch, M., Steele, J., & Varsani, A. (2019). Tracking harmful chemicals and pathogens using the Human Health Observatory at ASU. *Online Journal of Public Health Informatics*, *11*(1), e369. https://doi.org/10.5210/ojphi.v11i1.9843
- Hamner, L., Dubbel, P., Capron, I., Ross, A., Jordan, A., Lee, J., ... Leibrand, H. (2020). High SARS-CoV-2 Attack Rate Following Exposure at a Choir Practice — Skagit County, Washington, March 2020. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(19), 606–610. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6919e6
- Han, E., Tan, M. M. J., Turk, E., Sridhar, D., Leung, G. M., Shibuya, K., ... Legido-Quigley, H. (2020). Lessons learnt from easing COVID-19 restrictions: an analysis of countries and regions in Asia Pacific and Europe. *The Lancet*, 396(10261), 1525–1534. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32007-9
- Han, M. S., Seong, M.-W., Heo, E. Y., Park, J. H., Kim, N., Shin, S., ... Choi, E. H. (2020). Sequential Analysis of Viral Load in a Neonate and Her Mother Infected With Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 71(16), 2236–2239. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa447
- Haramoto, E., Malla, B., Thakali, O., & Kitajima, M. (2020). First environmental surveillance for the presence of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater and river water in Japan. *Science of the Total Environment*, 737, 140405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140405
- Hariri, R. H., Fredericks, E. M., & Bowers, K. M. (2019). Uncertainty in big data analytics: survey, opportunities, and challenges. *Journal of Big Data*, 6(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40537-019-0206-3
- Hasnain, M., Pasha, M. F., & Ghani, I. (2020). Combined measures to control the COVID-19 pandemic in Wuhan, Hubei, China: A narrative review. *Journal of Biosafety and Biosecurity*, 2(2), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jobb.2020.10.001
- Hata, A., Kitajima, M., & Katayama, H. (2013). Occurrence and reduction of human viruses, F-specific RNA coliphage genogroups and microbial indicators at a full-scale wastewater treatment plant in Japan. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 114(2), 545–554. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.12051
- Hata, Akihiko, Hara-Yamamura, H., Meuchi, Y., Imai, S., & Honda, R. (2021). Detection of SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater in Japan during a COVID-19 outbreak. *Science of the Total Environment*, 758, 143578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.143578
- Heijnen, L., & Medema, G. (2011). Surveillance of influenza A and the pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 in sewage and surface water in the Netherlands. *Journal of Water and Health*, 9(3), 434–442. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2011.019
- Hemida, M. G., Perera, R. A., Wang, P., Alhammadi, M. A., Siu, L. Y., Li, M., ... Peiris, M. (2013). Middle east respiratory syndrome (MERS) coronavirus seroprevalence in domestic livestock in Saudi Arabia, 2010 to 2013. *Eurosurveillance*, 18(50), 20659. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES2013.18.50.20659
- Hewitt, J., Greening, G. E., Leonard, M., & Lewis, G. D. (2013). Evaluation of human adenovirus and human polyomavirus as indicators of human sewage contamination in the aquatic environment. *Water Research*, 47(17), 6750–6761. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.09.001
- Hewitt, J., Leonard, M., Greening, G. E., & Lewis, G. D. (2011). Influence of wastewater treatment process and the population size on human virus profiles in wastewater. *Water Research*, 45(18), 6267– 6276. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2011.09.029
- Hillary, L. S., Farkas, K., Maher, K. H., Lucaci, A., Thorpe, J., Distaso, M. A., ... Jones, D. L. (2021).

Monitoring SARS-CoV-2 in municipal wastewater to evaluate the success of lockdown measures for controlling COVID-19 in the UK. *Water Research*, 200, 117214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.117214

- Hohl, A., Delmelle, E. M., Desjardins, M. R., & Lan, Y. (2020). Daily surveillance of COVID-19 using the prospective space-time scan statistic in the United States. *Spatial and Spatio-Temporal Epidemiology*, 34, 100354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sste.2020.100354
- Holshue, M. L., DeBolt, C., Lindquist, S., Lofy, K. H., Wiesman, J., Bruce, H., ... Pillai, S. K. (2020). First Case of 2019 Novel Coronavirus in the United States. New England Journal of Medicine, 382(10), 929– 936. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001191
- Hu, B., Guo, H., Zhou, P., & Shi, Z. L. (2021). Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 19(3), 141–154. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-00459-7
- Huang, C., Wang, Y., Li, X., Ren, L., Zhao, J., Hu, Y., ... Cao, B. (2020a). Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *The Lancet*, *395*(10223), 497–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Huang, C., Wang, Y., Li, X., Ren, L., Zhao, J., Hu, Y., ... Cao, B. (2020b). Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *The Lancet*, *395*(10223), 497–506. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5
- Huang, F., Zhou, S., Zhang, S., Wang, H., & Tang, L. (2011). Temporal correlation analysis between malaria and meteorological factors in Motuo County, Tibet. *Malaria Journal*, 10(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-10-54
- Huang, H., Wang, Y., Wang, Z., Liang, Z., Qu, S., Ma, S., ... Liu, X. (2020). Epidemic Features and Control of 2019 Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia in Wenzhou, China. SSRN Electronic Journal, 215, 1265. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3550007
- Huisman, O., & de By, R. (2009). Principles of Geographic Information Systems. In *ITC Educational Textbook Series*.
- Hummel, D., Löffler, D., Fink, G., & Ternes, T. A. (2006). Simultaneous determination of psychoactive drugs and their metabolites in aqueous matrices by liquid chromatography mass spectrometry. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 40(23), 7321–7328. https://doi.org/10.1021/es061740w
- ICTV. (2011). Coronaviridae Positive Sense RNA Viruses Positive Sense RNA Viruses (2011) -. Retrieved from https://talk.ictvonline.org/ictv-reports/ictv_9th_report/positive-sense-rna-viruses-2011/w/posrna_viruses/222/coronaviridae
- Irvine, R. J., Kostakis, C., Felgate, P. D., Jaehne, E. J., Chen, C., & White, J. M. (2011). Population drug use in Australia: A wastewater analysis. *Forensic Science International*, 210(1–3), 69–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2011.01.037
- James, A., Eagle, L., Phillips, C., Hedges, D. S., Bodenhamer, C., Brown, R., ... Kirking, H. (2020). High COVID-19 Attack Rate Among Attendees at Events at a Church — Arkansas, March 2020. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(20), 632–635. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6920e2
- Jang, S., Han, S. H., & Rhee, J. Y. (2020). Cluster of Coronavirus disease associated with fitness dance classes, South Korea. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 26(8), 1917–1920. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2608.200633
- Jeong, E. K., Park, O., Park, Y. J., Park, S. Y., Kim, Y. M., Kim, J., ... Choe, Y. J. (2020). Coronavirus disease-19: Summary of 2,370 contact investigations of the first 30 cases in the Republic of Korea. Osong Public Health and Research Perspectives, 11(2), 81–84. https://doi.org/10.24171/j.phrp.2020.11.2.04
- Jing, C., Du, M., Li, S., & Liu, S. (2019). Geospatial dashboards for monitoring smart city performance. Sustainability (Switzerland), 11(20), 24–39. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11205648
- Johansson, M. A., Quandelacy, T. M., Kada, S., Prasad, P. V., Steele, M., Brooks, J. T., ... Butler, J. C. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 Transmission from People without COVID-19 Symptoms. JAMA Network Open, 4(1), 2035057. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.35057
- Jonge, E. de, & Loo, M. van der. (2013). An introduction to data cleaning with R. In *Statistics Netherlands*. Retrieved from www.cbs.nl/information
- Kamel Boulos, M. N., & Geraghty, E. M. (2020). Geographical tracking and mapping of coronavirus disease COVID-19/severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) epidemic and associated events around the world: How 21st century GIS technologies are supporting the global fight against outbreaks and epidemics. *International Journal of Health Geographics*, 19(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12942-020-00202-8

- Kang, D., Choi, H., Kim, J. H., & Choi, J. (2020). Spatial epidemic dynamics of the COVID-19 outbreak in China. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 94, 96–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJID.2020.03.076
- Kankaanpää, A., Ariniemi, K., Heinonen, M., Kuoppasalmi, K., & Gunnar, T. (2016). Current trends in Finnish drug abuse: Wastewater based epidemiology combined with other national indicators. *Science of the Total Environment*, *568*, 864–874. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.06.060
- Kaplan, E. H., Wang, D., Wang, M., Malik, A. A., Zulli, A., & Peccia, J. (2020). Aligning SARS-CoV-2 indicators via an epidemic model: application to hospital admissions and RNA detection in sewage sludge. *Health Care Management Science*, 24(320), 329. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10729-020-09525-1
- Karia, R., Gupta, I., Khandait, H., Yadav, A., & Yadav, A. (2020). COVID-19 and its Modes of Transmission. SN Comprehensive Clinical Medicine, 2(10), 1798–1801. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42399-020-00498-4
- Karolak, S., Nefau, T., Bailly, E., Solgadi, A., & Levi, Y. (2010). Estimation of illicit drugs consumption by wastewater analysis in Paris area (France). *Forensic Science International*, 200(1–3), 153–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forsciint.2010.04.007
- Kasprzyk-Hordern, B., Dinsdale, R. M., & Guwy, A. J. (2008). Multiresidue methods for the analysis of pharmaceuticals, personal care products and illicit drugs in surface water and wastewater by solidphase extraction and ultra performance liquid chromatography-electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 391(4), 1293–1308. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-008-1854-x
- Kassem, A. Z. E. (2020). Does Temperature Affect COVID-19 Transmission? *Frontiers in Public Health*, *8*, 934. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.554964
- Katayama, H., Haramoto, E., Oguma, K., Yamashita, H., Tajima, A., Nakajima, H., & Ohgaki, S. (2008). One-year monthly quantitative survey of noroviruses, enteroviruses, and adenoviruses in wastewater collected from six plants in Japan. *Water Research*, 42(6–7), 1441–1448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2007.10.029
- Kinyua, J., Covaci, A., Maho, W., Mccall, A. K., Neels, H., & van Nuijs, A. L. N. (2015). Sewage-based epidemiology in monitoring the use of new psychoactive substances: Validation and application of an analytical method using LC-MS/MS. *Drug Testing and Analysis*, 7(9), 812–818. https://doi.org/10.1002/dta.1777
- Kitajima, M., Iker, B. C., Pepper, I. L., & Gerba, C. P. (2014). Relative abundance and treatment reduction of viruses during wastewater treatment processes - Identification of potential viral indicators. *Science* of the Total Environment, 488–489(1), 290–296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.04.087
- Korber, B., Fischer, W. M., Gnanakaran, S., Yoon, H., Theiler, J., Abfalterer, W., ... Montefiori, D. C. (2020). Tracking Changes in SARS-CoV-2 Spike: Evidence that D614G Increases Infectivity of the COVID-19 Virus. *Cell*, 182(4), 812-827.e19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.06.043
- Kronbichler, A., Kresse, D., Yoon, S., Lee, K. H., Effenberger, M., & Shin, J. Il. (2020). Asymptomatic patients as a source of COVID-19 infections: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 98, 180–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.06.052
- Kulldorff, M., Athas, W. F., Feuer, E. J., Miller, B. A., & Key, C. R. (1998). Evaluating cluster alarms: A space-time scan statistic and brain cancer in Los Alamos, New Mexico. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88(9), 1377–1380. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.88.9.1377
- Kumar, A., Malla, M. A., & Dubey, A. (2020). With Corona Outbreak: Nature Started Hitting the Reset Button Globally. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8, 569353. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.569353
- Kumar, M., Joshi, M., Patel, A. K., & Joshi, C. G. (2021). Unravelling the early warning capability of wastewater surveillance for COVID-19: A temporal study on SARS-CoV-2 RNA detection and need for the escalation. *Environmental Research*, 196, 110946. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENVRES.2021.110946
- Kumar, M., Patel, A. K., Shah, A. V., Raval, J., Rajpara, N., Joshi, M., & Joshi, C. G. (2020). First proof of the capability of wastewater surveillance for COVID-19 in India through detection of genetic material of SARS-CoV-2. Science of the Total Environment, 746, 141326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141326
- La Marca, A., Capuzzo, M., Paglia, T., Roli, L., Trenti, T., & Nelson, S. M. (2020). Testing for SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19): a systematic review and clinical guide to molecular and serological in-vitro diagnostic assays. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online*, 41(3), 483–499. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rbmo.2020.06.001
- La Rosa, G., Iaconelli, M., Mancini, P., Bonanno Ferraro, G., Veneri, C., Bonadonna, L., ... Suffredini, E. (2020). First detection of SARS-CoV-2 in untreated wastewaters in Italy. *Science of the Total*

Environment, 736, 139652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.139652

- Lai, C. C., Liu, Y. H., Wang, C. Y., Wang, Y. H., Hsueh, S. C., Yen, M. Y., ... Hsueh, P. R. (2020). Asymptomatic carrier state, acute respiratory disease, and pneumonia due to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2): Facts and myths. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, 53(3), 404–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmii.2020.02.012
- Lai, C. C., Shih, T. P., Ko, W. C., Tang, H. J., & Hsueh, P. R. (2020). Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19): The epidemic and the challenges. *International Journal of Antimicrobial Agents*, 55(3), 105924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105924
- Lai, F. Y., Bruno, R., Hall, W., Gartner, C., Ort, C., Kirkbride, P., ... Mueller, J. F. (2013). Profiles of illicit drug use during annual key holiday and control periods in Australia: Wastewater analysis in an urban, a semi-rural and a vacation area. *Addiction*, 108(3), 556–565. https://doi.org/10.1111/add.12006
- Lai, F. Y., Lympousi, K., Been, F., Benaglia, L., Udrisard, R., Delémont, O., ... van Nuijs, A. L. N. (2018). Levels of 4-(methylnitrosamino)-1-(3-pyridyl)-1-butanone (NNK) in raw wastewater as an innovative perspective for investigating population-wide exposure to third-hand smoke. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1– 9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-31324-6
- Lai, F. Y., O'Brien, J. W., Thai, P. K., Hall, W., Chan, G., Bruno, R., ... Mueller, J. F. (2016). Cocaine, MDMA and methamphetamine residues in wastewater: Consumption trends (2009–2015) in South East Queensland, Australia. *Science of the Total Environment*, 568, 803–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.181
- Larsen, D., Dinero, R., Asiago-Reddy, E., Green, H., Lane, S., Shaw, A., ... Kmush, B. A review of infectious disease surveillance to inform public health action against the novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2., (2020).
- Le Cann, P., Ranarijaona, S., Monpoeho, S., Le Guyader, F., & Ferré, V. (2004). Quantification of human astroviruses in sewage using real-time RT-PCR. *Research in Microbiology*, *155*(1), 11–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2003.09.013
- Le Guyader, F. S., Le Saux, J. C., Ambert-Balay, K., Krol, J., Serais, O., Parnaudeau, S., ... Atmar, R. L. (2008). Aichi virus, norovirus, astrovirus, enterovirus, and rotavirus involved in clinical cases from a French oyster-related gastroenteritis outbreak. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *46*(12), 4011–4017. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.01044-08
- Lee, P. I., & Hsueh, P. R. (2020). Emerging threats from zoonotic coronaviruses-from SARS and MERS to 2019-nCoV. *Journal of Microbiology, Immunology and Infection*, 53(3), 365–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmii.2020.02.001
- Li, L., Victoria, J., Kapoor, A., Blinkova, O., Wang, C., Babrzadeh, F., ... Delwart, E. L. (2009). A Novel Picornavirus Associated with Gastroenteritis. *Journal of Virology*, 83(22), 12002–12006. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01241-09
- Li, Y. C., Bai, W. Z., & Hashikawa, T. (2020). The neuroinvasive potential of SARS-CoV2 may play a role in the respiratory failure of COVID-19 patients. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 92(6), 552–555. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.25728
- Lo, I. L., Lio, C. F., Cheong, H. H., Lei, C. I., Cheong, T. H., Zhong, X., ... Sin, N. N. (2020). Evaluation of sars-cov-2 rna shedding in clinical specimens and clinical characteristics of 10 patients with COVID-19 in Macau. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 16(10), 1698–1707. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.45357
- Lodder, W., & de Roda Husman, A. M. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 in wastewater: potential health risk, but also data source. *The Lancet Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *5*(6), 533–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30087-X
- Logan, C., O'Leary, J. J., & O'Sullivan, N. (2007). Real-time reverse transcription PCR detection of norovirus, sapovirus and astrovirus as causative agents of acute viral gastroenteritis. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 146(1–2), 36–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2007.05.031
- Lorenzo, M., & Picó, Y. (2019). Wastewater-based epidemiology: current status and future prospects. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health*, 9, 77–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2019.05.007
- Mao, K., Zhang, K., Du, W., Ali, W., Feng, X., & Zhang, H. (2020). The potential of wastewater-based epidemiology as surveillance and early warning of infectious disease outbreaks. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health*, 17, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2020.04.006
- Markosian, C., & Mirzoyan, N. (2019). Wastewater-based epidemiology as a novel assessment approach for population-level metal exposure. *Science of the Total Environment*, 689, 1125–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.419

- Masclaux, F. G., Hotz, P., Friedli, D., Savova-Bianchi, D., & Oppliger, A. (2013). High occurrence of hepatitis E virus in samples from wastewater treatment plants in Switzerland and comparison with other enteric viruses. *Water Research*, 47(14), 5101–5109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.05.050
- Masrur, A., Yu, M., Luo, W., & Dewan, A. (2020). Space-time patterns, change, and propagation of COVID-19 risk relative to the intervention scenarios in Bangladesh. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*, 5911. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.07.15.20154757
- Mecenas, P., da Rosa Moreira Bastos, R. T., Rosário Vallinoto, A. C., & Normando, D. (2020). Effects of temperature and humidity on the spread of COVID-19: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, 15(9), e0238339. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238339
- Medema, G., Heijnen, L., Elsinga, G., Italiaander, R., & Brouwer, A. (2020). Presence of SARS-Coronavirus-2 RNA in Sewage and Correlation with Reported COVID-19 Prevalence in the Early Stage of the Epidemic in the Netherlands. *Environmental Science and Technology Letters*, 7(7), 511–516. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.estlett.0c00357
- Mercan, S., Kuloglu, M., & Asicioglu, F. (2019). Monitoring of illicit drug consumption via wastewater: development, challenges, and future aspects. *Current Opinion in Environmental Science and Health*, 9, 64– 72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.coesh.2019.05.002
- Mercer, T. R., & Salit, M. (2021). Testing at scale during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 22(5), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41576-021-00360-w
- Mirri, S., Roccetti, M., & Delnevo, G. (2021). The new york city covid-19 spread in the 2020 spring: A study on the potential role of particulate using time series analysis and machine learning. *Applied Sciences (Switzerland)*, 11(3), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/app11031177
- Miura, T., Lhomme, S., Le Saux, J. C., Le Mehaute, P., Guillois, Y., Couturier, E., ... Le Guyader, F. S. (2016a). Detection of Hepatitis E Virus in Sewage After an Outbreak on a French Island. *Food and Environmental Virology*, 8(3), 194–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-016-9241-9
- Miura, T., Lhomme, S., Le Saux, J. C., Le Mehaute, P., Guillois, Y., Couturier, E., ... Le Guyader, F. S. (2016b). Detection of Hepatitis E Virus in Sewage After an Outbreak on a French Island. *Food and Environmental Virology*, 8(3), 194–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12560-016-9241-9
- Moorlag, S. J. C. F. M., van Deuren, R. C., van Werkhoven, C. H., Jaeger, M., Debisarun, P., Taks, E., ... Netea, M. G. (2020). Safety and COVID-19 Symptoms in Individuals Recently Vaccinated with BCG: a Retrospective Cohort Study. *Cell Reports Medicine*, 1(5), 100073. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.XCRM.2020.100073
- Morace, G., Aulicino, F. A., Angelozzi, C., Costanzo, L., Donadio, F., & Rapicetta, M. (2002). Microbial quality of wastewater: Detection of hepatitis A virus by reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction. *Journal of Applied Microbiology*, 92(5), 828–836. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2672.2002.01587.x
- Murakami, M., Hata, A., Honda, R., & Watanabe, T. (2020). Letter to the Editor: Wastewater-Based Epidemiology Can Overcome Representativeness and Stigma Issues Related to COVID-19. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 54(9), 5311. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.0c02172
- Nemudryi, A., Nemudraia, A., Wiegand, T., Surya, K., Buyukyoruk, M., Cicha, C., ... Wiedenheft, B. (2020). Temporal Detection and Phylogenetic Assessment of SARS-CoV-2 in Municipal Wastewater. *Cell Reports Medicine*, 1(6), 100098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xcrm.2020.100098
- Nielsen, A. C. Y., Gyhrs, M. L., Nielsen, L. P., Pedersen, C., & Böttiger, B. (2013). Gastroenteritis and the novel picornaviruses aichi virus, cosavirus, saffold virus, and salivirus in young children. *Journal of Clinical Virology*, 57(3), 239–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcv.2013.03.015
- Nordgren, J., Matussek, A., Mattsson, A., Svensson, L., & Lindgren, P. E. (2009). Prevalence of norovirus and factors influencing virus concentrations during one year in a full-scale wastewater treatment plant. *Water Research*, 43(4), 1117–1125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2008.11.053
- Notari, A. (2021). Temperature dependence of COVID-19 transmission. *Science of the Total Environment*, 763, 144390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144390
- O'Brien, J. W., Grant, S., Banks, A. P. W., Bruno, R., Carter, S., Choi, P. M., ... Mueller, J. F. (2019). A National Wastewater Monitoring Program for a better understanding of public health: A case study using the Australian Census. *Environment International*, *122*, 400–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2018.12.003
- Orrù, G., Masia, G., Orrù, G., Romanò, L., Piras, V., & Coppola, R. C. (2004). Detection and quantitation of hepatitis e virus in human faeces by real-time quantitative PCR. *Journal of Virological Methods*, *118*(2), 77–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2004.01.025

- Owada, K., Eckmanns, T., Kamara, K.-B. O., & Olu, O. O. (2016). Epidemiological Data Management during an Outbreak of Ebola Virus Disease: Key Issues and Observations from Sierra Leone. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *4*, 163. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00163
- Park, J. J. H., Mogg, R., Smith, G. E., Nakimuli-Mpungu, E., Jehan, F., Rayner, C. R., ... Mills, E. J. (2021). How COVID-19 has fundamentally changed clinical research in global health. *The Lancet. Global Health*, 9(5), e711–e720. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30542-8
- Park, S. Y., Kim, Y. M., Yi, S., Lee, S., Na, B. J., Kim, C. B., ... Jeong, E. K. (2020). Coronavirus disease outbreak in call center, South Korea. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 26(8), 1666–1670. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2608.201274
- Parry, J. (2004). WHO queries culling of civet cats. *BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.)*, 328(7432), 128. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.328.7432.128-b
- Patel, N. R., Chopra, P., & Dadhwal, V. K. (2007). Analyzing spatial patterns of meteorological drought using standardized precipitation index. *Meteorological Applications*, 14(4), 329–336. https://doi.org/10.1002/met.33
- Patel, U., Malik, P., Mehta, D., Shah, D., Kelkar, R., Pinto, C., ... Sacks, H. (2020). Early epidemiological indicators, outcomes, and interventions of COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review. *Journal of Global Health*, 10(2), 020506. https://doi.org/10.7189/jogh.10.020506
- Peccia, J., Zulli, A., Brackney, D. E., Grubaugh, N. D., Kaplan, E. H., Casanovas-Massana, A., ... Omer, S. B. (2020). Measurement of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater tracks community infection dynamics. *Nature Biotechnology*, 38(10), 1164–1167. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41587-020-0684-z
- Pereira, A. M. P. T., Silva, L. J. G., Meisel, L. M., Lino, C. M., & Pena, A. (2015). Environmental impact of pharmaceuticals from Portuguese wastewaters: Geographical and seasonal occurrence, removal and risk assessment. *Environmental Research*, 136, 108–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.09.041
- Poirier, C., Luo, W., Majumder, M. S., Liu, D., Mandl, K. D., Mooring, T. A., & Santillana, M. (2020). The role of environmental factors on transmission rates of the COVID-19 outbreak: an initial assessment in two spatial scales. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 17002. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-74089-7
- Polo, D., Quintela-Baluja, M., Corbishley, A., Jones, D. L., Singer, A. C., Graham, D. W., & Romalde, J. L. (2020). Making waves: Wastewater-based epidemiology for COVID-19 – approaches and challenges for surveillance and prediction. *Water Research*, 186, 116404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116404
- Prado, T., Fumian, T. M., Mannarino, C. F., Resende, P. C., Motta, F. C., Eppinghaus, A. L. F., ... Miagostovich, M. P. (2021). Wastewater-based epidemiology as a useful tool to track SARS-CoV-2 and support public health policies at municipal level in Brazil. *Water Research*, 191, 116810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2021.116810
- Prado, T., Silva, D. M., Guilayn, W. C., Rose, T. L., Gaspar, A. M. C., & Miagostovich, M. P. (2011). Quantification and molecular characterization of enteric viruses detected in effluents from two hospital wastewater treatment plants. *Water Research*, 45(3), 1287–1297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.10.012
- Prata, D. N., Rodrigues, W., & Bermejo, P. H. (2020). Temperature significantly changes COVID-19 transmission in (sub)tropical cities of Brazil. *Science of the Total Environment*, 729, 138862. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138862
- Prevost, B., Lucas, F. S., Ambert-Balay, K., Pothier, P., Moulin, L., & Wurtzer, S. (2015). Deciphering the diversities of astroviruses and noroviruses in wastewater treatment plant effluents by a highthroughput sequencing method. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 81(20), 7215–7222. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02076-15
- Prompetchara, E., Ketloy, C., & Palaga, T. (2020). Immune responses in COVID-19 and potential vaccines: Lessons learned from SARS and MERS epidemic. *Asian Pacific Journal of Allergy and Immunology*, 38(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.12932/AP-200220-0772
- Rabi, F. A., Al Zoubi, M. S., Al-Nasser, A. D., Kasasbeh, G. A., & Salameh, D. M. (2020). Sars-cov-2 and coronavirus disease 2019: What we know so far. *Pathogens*, 9(3), 231. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens9030231
- Rahimi, F., & Talebi Bezmin Abadi, A. (2020). Tackling the COVID-19 Pandemic. Archives of Medical Research, 51(5), 468–470. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.04.012
- Randazzo, W., Truchado, P., Cuevas-Ferrando, E., Simón, P., Allende, A., & Sánchez, G. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater anticipated COVID-19 occurrence in a low prevalence area. *Water Research*, 181, 115942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.115942
- Rashid, S. S., & Liu, Y.-Q. (2020). Assessing environmental impacts of large centralized wastewater

treatment plants with combined or separate sewer systems in dry/wet seasons by using LCA. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 27(13), 15674–15690. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-08038-2

- Reid, M. J., Derry, L., & Thomas, K. V. (2014). Analysis of new classes of recreational drugs in sewage: Synthetic cannabinoids and amphetamine-like substances. *Drug Testing and Analysis*, 6(1–2), 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1002/dta.1461
- Reid, M. J., Langford, K. H., Mørland, J., & Thomas, K. V. (2011). Analysis and interpretation of specific ethanol metabolites, ethyl sulfate, and ethyl glucuronide in sewage effluent for the quantitative measurement of regional alcohol consumption. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 35(9), 1593–1599. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-0277.2011.01505.x
- Remuzzi, A., & Remuzzi, G. (2020). COVID-19 and Italy: what next? *The Lancet*, *395*(10231), 1225–1228. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30627-9
- Rimoldi, S. G., Stefani, F., Gigantiello, A., Polesello, S., Comandatore, F., Mileto, D., ... Salerno, F. (2020). Presence and infectivity of SARS-CoV-2 virus in wastewaters and rivers. *Science of the Total Environment*, 744, 140911. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140911
- RIVM. (2020a). Coronavirus monitoring in sewage research. Retrieved from https://www.rivm.nl/en/covid-19/sewage
- RIVM. (2020b). Dashboard Coronavirus COVID-19. Retrieved November 27, 2020, from https://coronadashboard.government.nl/
- RIVM. (2021). Testing. Retrieved April 12, 2021, from https://www.rivm.nl/en/novel-coronavirus-covid-19/testing-for-covid-19
- Rodríguez-Álvarez, T., Rodil, R., Cela, R., & Quintana, J. B. (2014). Ion-pair reversed-phase liquid chromatography-quadrupole-time-of-flight and triple-quadrupole-mass spectrometry determination of ethyl sulfate in wastewater for alcohol consumption tracing. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1328, 35– 42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2013.12.076
- Rodriguez-Morales, A. J., Cardona-Ospina, J. A., Gutiérrez-Ocampo, E., Villamizar-Peña, R., Holguin-Rivera, Y., Escalera-Antezana, J. P., ... Sah, R. (2020). Clinical, laboratory and imaging features of COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease*, 34, 101623. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TMAID.2020.101623
- Róka, E., Khayer, B., Kis, Z., Kovács, L. B., Schuler, E., Magyar, N., ... Vargha, M. (2021). Ahead of the second wave: Early warning for COVID-19 by wastewater surveillance in Hungary. *Science of the Total Environment*, 786, 147398. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147398
- Rosa, G. La, Pourshaban, M., Iaconelli, M., & Muscillo, M. (2010). Quantitative real-time PCR of enteric viruses in influent and effluent samples from wastewater treatment plants in Italy. *Ann Ist Super SAnItà*, 46(3), 266–273. https://doi.org/10.4415/Ann_10_03_07
- Rousis, N. I., Gracia-Lor, E., Zuccato, E., Bade, R., Baz-Lomba, J. A., Castrignanò, E., ... Castiglioni, S. (2017). Wastewater-based epidemiology to assess pan-European pesticide exposure. *Water Research*, 121, 270–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2017.05.044
- Rousis, N. I., Zuccato, E., & Castiglioni, S. (2016). Monitoring population exposure to pesticides based on liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry measurement of their urinary metabolites in urban wastewater: A novel biomonitoring approach. *Science of the Total Environment*, 571, 1349–1357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.07.036
- Rousis, N. I., Zuccato, E., & Castiglioni, S. (2017). Wastewater-based epidemiology to assess human exposure to pyrethroid pesticides. *Environment International*, 99, 213–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2016.11.020
- Saguti, F., Magnil, E., Enache, L., Churqui, M. P., Johansson, A., Lumley, D., ... Norder, H. (2021). Surveillance of wastewater revealed peaks of SARS-CoV-2 preceding those of hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *Water Research*, 189, 116620. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116620
- Sakurai, A., Sasaki, T., Kato, S., Hayashi, M., Tsuzuki, S., Ishihara, T., ... Doi, Y. (2020). Natural History of Asymptomatic SARS-CoV-2 Infection. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *383*(9), 885–886. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmc2013020
- Sánchez-Romero, M., Lego, V. di, Prskawetz, A., & Queiroz, B. L. (2021). An indirect method to monitor the fraction of people ever infected with COVID-19: An application to the United States. *PLOS* ONE, 16(1), e0245845. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0245845
- Sang, K., Piovan, S., & Fontana, G. L. (2021). A WebGIS for visualizing historical activities based on photos: The project of Yunnan–Vietnam railway web map. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13010419

- Santiso-Bellón, C., Randazzo, W., Pérez-Cataluña, A., Vila-Vicent, S., Gozalbo-Rovira, R., Muñoz, C., ... Rodríguez Díaz, J. (2020). Epidemiological Surveillance of Norovirus and Rotavirus in Sewage (2016–2017) in Valencia (Spain). *Microorganisms*, 8(3), 458. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8030458
- Sayampanathan, A. A., Heng, C. S., Pin, P. H., Pang, J., Leong, T. Y., & Lee, V. J. (2021). Infectivity of asymptomatic versus symptomatic COVID-19. *The Lancet*, 397(10269), 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32651-9
- Schaffer, A. L., Dobbins, T. A., & Pearson, S. A. (2021). Interrupted time series analysis using autoregressive integrated moving average (ARIMA) models: a guide for evaluating large-scale health interventions. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 21(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01235-8
- Scott, L. C., Aubee, A., Babahaji, L., Vigil, K., Tims, S., & Aw, T. G. (2021). Targeted wastewater surveillance of SARS-CoV-2 on a university campus for COVID-19 outbreak detection and mitigation. *Environmental Research*, 200, 111374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111374
- Sedmak, G., Bina, D., MacDonald, J., & Couillard, L. (2005). Nine-year study of the occurrence of culturable viruses in source water for two drinking water treatment plants and the influent and effluent of a wastewater treatment plant in Milwaukee, Wisconsin (August 1994 through July 2003). *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 71(2), 1042–1050. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.71.2.1042-1050.2005
- Senta, I., Gracia-Lor, E., Borsotti, A., Zuccato, E., & Castiglioni, S. (2015). Wastewater analysis to monitor use of caffeine and nicotine and evaluation of their metabolites as biomarkers for population size assessment. *Water Research*, 74, 23–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.02.002
- Sherchan, S. P., Shahin, S., Ward, L. M., Tandukar, S., Aw, T. G., Schmitz, B., ... Kitajima, M. (2020). First detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater in North America: A study in Louisiana, USA. *Science of the Total Environment*, 743, 140621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.140621
- Siebrasse, E. A., Reyes, A., Lim, E. S., Zhao, G., Mkakosya, R. S., Manary, M. J., ... Wang, D. (2012). Identification of MW Polyomavirus, a Novel Polyomavirus in Human Stool. *Journal of Virology*, 86(19), 10321–10326. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.01210-12
- Sims, N., & Kasprzyk-Hordern, B. (2020). Future perspectives of wastewater-based epidemiology: Monitoring infectious disease spread and resistance to the community level. *Environment International*, 139, 105689. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.105689
- Sohrabi, C., Alsafi, Z., O'Neill, N., Khan, M., Kerwan, A., Al-Jabir, A., ... Agha, R. (2020). World Health Organization declares global emergency: A review of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19). *International Journal of Surgery*, 76, 71–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.02.034
- Song, Y., Liu, P., Shi, X. L., Chu, Y. L., Zhang, J., Xia, J., ... Wang, M. Y. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 induced diarrhoea as onset symptom in patient with COVID-19. *Gut*, 69(6), 1143–1144. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2020-320891
- Song, Z., Xu, Y., Bao, L., Zhang, L., Yu, P., Qu, Y., ... Qin, C. (2019). From SARS to MERS, thrusting coronaviruses into the spotlight. *Viruses*, 11(1), 59. https://doi.org/10.3390/v11010059
- Souza, E. M., & Felix, V. B. (2018). Wavelet Cross-correlation in Bivariate Time-Series Analysis. *TEMA* (São Carlos), 19(3), 391–403. https://doi.org/10.5540/TEMA.2018.019.03.0391
- Stones, R., & Matthew, N. (2005). Beginning Databases with PostgreSQL From Novice to Professional. Retrieved from

https://books.google.nl/books?hl=en&lr=&id=Nc5ZT2X5mOcC&oi=fnd&pg=PR17&dq=postgr eSQL&ots=8Q3B2N8kjK&sig=KOkjsvnqnlZg93DwFeNdzZt3LsY&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q= postgreSQL&f=false

- Stones, R., & Matthew, N. (2006). PostgreSQL Command-Line and Graphical Tools. In *Beginning Databases with PostgreSQL* (pp. 113–147). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4302-0018-5_5
- Tang, S., Mao, Y., Jones, R. M., Tan, Q., Ji, J. S., Li, N., ... Shi, X. (2020). Aerosol transmission of SARS-CoV-2? Evidence, prevention and control. *Environmental International*, 144, 106039. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106039
- Taylor, R. (1990). Interpretation of the Correlation Coefficient: A Basic Review. Journal of Diagnostic Medical Sonography, 6(1), 35–39. https://doi.org/10.1177/875647939000600106
- Tebé, C., Valls, J., Satorra, P., & Tobías, A. (2020). COVID19-world: a shiny application to perform comprehensive country-specific data visualization for SARS-CoV-2 epidemic. BMC Medical Research Methodology 2020 20:1, 20(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12874-020-01121-9
- The Independent Panel for Pandemic Preparedness and Response. (2021). COVID-19: Make it the Last

Pandemic — A Summary. Retrieved from https://theindependentpanel.org/wp-

content/uploads/2021/05/Summary_COVID-19-Make-it-the-Last-Pandemic_final.pdf

- Thomas, K. V., Bijlsma, L., Castiglioni, S., Covaci, A., Emke, E., Grabic, R., ... de Voogt, P. (2012). Comparing illicit drug use in 19 European cities through sewage analysis. *Science of the Total Environment*, 432, 432–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.06.069
- To, K. K. W., Chan, K. H., Li, I. W. S., Tsang, T. Y., Tse, H., Chan, J. F. W., ... Yuen, K. Y. (2010). Viral load in patients infected with pandemic H1N1 2009 influenza A virus. *Journal of Medical Virology*, 82(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmv.21664
- Tong, Z. D., Tang, A., Li, K. F., Li, P., Wang, H. L., Yi, J. P., ... Yan, J. B. (2020). Potential presymptomatic transmission of SARS-CoV-2, Zhejiang Province, China, 2020. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 26(5), 1052–1054. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2605.200198
- Toze, S. (1997). Microbial pathogens in wastewater: Literature review for urban water systems multi-divisional research program. Retrieved from https://publications.csiro.au/rpr/download?pid=procite:3effd8f9-a923-4ca9-a42a-9e6ce63ec1a6&dsid=DS1
- Tscharke, B. J., White, J. M., & Gerber, J. P. (2016). Estimates of tobacco use by wastewater analysis of anabasine and anatabine. *Drug Testing and Analysis*, 8(7), 702–707. https://doi.org/10.1002/dta.1842
- Tu, Y. F., Chien, C. S., Yarmishyn, A. A., Lin, Y. Y., Luo, Y. H., Lin, Y. T., ... Chiou, S. H. (2020). A review of sars-cov-2 and the ongoing clinical trials. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(7), 2657. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21072657
- United Nations. (2020). Note to Correspondents on debt vulnerability and COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.un.org/sg/en/content/sg/note-correspondents/2020-05-06/note-correspondents-debt-vulnerability-and-covid-19
- van Doremalen, N., Bushmaker, T., Morris, D. H., Holbrook, M. G., Gamble, A., Williamson, B. N., ... Munster, V. J. (2020). Aerosol and Surface Stability of SARS-CoV-2 as Compared with SARS-CoV-1. New England Journal of Medicine, 382(16), 1564–1567. https://doi.org/10.1056/nejmc2004973
- van Nuijs, A. L. N., Castiglioni, S., Tarcomnicu, I., Postigo, C., de Alda, M. L., Neels, H., ... Covaci, A. (2011). Illicit drug consumption estimations derived from wastewater analysis: A critical review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 409(19), 3564–3577. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2010.05.030
- van Nuijs, A. L. N., Mougel, J. F., Tarcomnicu, I., Bervoets, L., Blust, R., Jorens, P. G., ... Covaci, A. (2011). Sewage epidemiology - A real-time approach to estimate the consumption of illicit drugs in Brussels, Belgium. *Environment International*, 37(3), 612–621. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2010.12.006
- van Wel, J. H. P., Gracia-Lor, É., van Nuijs, A. L. N., Kinyua, J., Salvatore, S., Castiglioni, S., ... Van Hal, G. (2016). Investigation of agreement between wastewater-based epidemiology and survey data on alcohol and nicotine use in a community. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 162, 170–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.03.002
- Vanhems, P., Gustin, M.-P., Elias, C., Henaff, L., Dananché, C., Grisi, B., ... Consortium, O. behalf of C.-O.-H. (2021). Factors associated with admission to intensive care units in COVID-19 patients in Lyon-France. PLOS ONE, 16(1), e0243709. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0243709
- Varela, K. (2020). Primary Indicators to Systematically Monitor COVID-19 Mitigation and Response Kentucky, May 19–July 15, 2020. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(34), 1173–1176. https://doi.org/10.15585/MMWR.MM6934E3
- Verschuur, J., Koks, E. E., & Hall, J. W. (2021). Global economic impacts of COVID-19 lockdown measures stand out in highfrequency shipping data. *PLoS ONE*, *16*(4), e0248818. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0248818
- Vester, D., Lagoda, A., Hoffmann, D., Seitz, C., Heldt, S., Bettenbrock, K., ... Reichl, U. (2010). Real-time RT-qPCR assay for the analysis of human influenza A virus transcription and replication dynamics. *Journal of Virological Methods*, 168(1–2), 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jviromet.2010.04.017
- Villapol, S. (2020). Gastrointestinal symptoms associated with COVID-19: impact on the gut microbiome. *Translational Research*, 226, 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2020.08.004
- Viloria, A., Acuña, G. C., Franco, D. J. A., Hernández-Palma, H., Fuentes, J. P., & Rambal, E. P. (2019). Integration of data mining techniques to postgresQL database manager system. *Procedia Computer Science*, 155, 575–580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2019.08.080

Wang, M., Liu, F., & Zheng, M. (2020). Air quality improvement from COVID-19 lockdown: evidence from China. Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health, 13(11). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-020-00963-y

Wang, Q., Dong, W., Yang, K., Ren, Z., Huang, D., Zhang, P., & Wang, J. (2021). Temporal and spatial analysis of COVID-19 transmission in China and its influencing factors. *International Journal of* Infectious Diseases, 105, 675-685. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJID.2021.03.014

- Wang, X. W., Li, J., Guo, T., Zhen, B., Kong, Q., Yi, B., ... Li, J. (2005). Concentration and detection of SARS coronavirus in sewage from Xiao Tang Shan hospital and the 309th Hospital of the Chinese People's Liberation Army. *Water Science and Technology*, 52(8), 213–221. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2005.0266
- Wang, Yongbin, Xu, C., Yao, S., & Zhao, Y. (2020). Forecasting the epidemiological trends of COVID-19 prevalence and mortality using the advanced α-Sutte Indicator. *Epidemiology and Infection*, 148(e238), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1017/S095026882000237X
- Wang, Yubo, He, Y., Tong, J., Qin, Y., Xie, T., Li, J., ... Xiang, J. (2020). Characterization of an Asymptomatic Cohort of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) Infected Individuals Outside of Wuhan, China. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 71(16). https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa629
- Wang, Yun, Wang, Y., Han, X., Ye, J., & Li, R. (2020). Potential Effect of COVID-19 on Maternal and Infant Outcome: Lesson From SARS. *Frontiers in Pediatrics*, 8, 511. https://doi.org/10.3389/fped.2020.00511
- Wei, X. S., Wang, X., Niu, Y. R., Ye, L. L., Peng, W. B., Wang, Z. H., ... Zhou, Q. (2020). Diarrhea Is Associated With Prolonged Symptoms and Viral Carriage in Corona Virus Disease 2019. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 18(8), 1753-1759.e2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cgh.2020.04.030
- Weidhaas, J., Aanderud, Z. T., Roper, D. K., VanDerslice, J., Gaddis, E. B., Ostermiller, J., ... LaCross, N. (2021). Correlation of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in wastewater with COVID-19 disease burden in sewersheds. *Science of the Total Environment*, 775, 145790. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145790
- WHO. (2018). Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) Saudi Arabia. Retrieved May 25, 2021, from http://www.who.int/csr/don/28-december-2018-mers-saudi-arabia/en/
- WHO. (2020a). Coronavirus. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/health-topics/coronavirus#tab=tab_3
- WHO. (2020b). Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) Situation Report 38.
- WHO. (2020c). Public health surveillance for COVID-19. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/337897/WHO-2019-nCoV-SurveillanceGuidance-2020.8-eng.pdf
- WHO. (2020d). Status of environmental surveillance for SARS-CoV-2 virus. Retrieved from https://covid19.who.int/
- WHO. (2020e). Technical guidance publications. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019/technical-guidancepublications
- WHO. (2020f). Transmission of SARS-CoV-2: implications for infection prevention precautions. Retrieved November 20, 2020, from https://www.who.int/newsroom/commentaries/detail/transmission-of-sars-cov-2-implications-for-infection-preventionprecautions
- WHO. (2020g). WHO Director-General's opening remarks at the media briefing on COVID-19 11 March 2020. Retrieved from WHO Director General's speeches website: https://www.who.int/dg/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-at-the-mediabriefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020
- WHO. (2021a). COVID-19 shows why united action is needed for more robust international health architecture. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/commentaries/detail/op-ed---covid-19-shows-why-united-action-is-needed-for-more-robust-international-health-architecture
- WHO. (2021b). Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS). Retrieved May 25, 2021, from https://www.who.int/health-topics/severe-acute-respiratory-syndrome#tab=tab_1
- WHO. (2021c). WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard. Retrieved May 25, 2021, from https://covid19.who.int/
- WHO. (2021d). WHO Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Dashboard. Retrieved March 25, 2021, from https://covid19.who.int/
- World Bank. (2020). The Global Economic Outlook During the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Changed World. Retrieved from https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2020/06/08/the-global-economic-outlook-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-a-changed-world
- Wu, F., Zhang, J., Xiao, A., Gu, X., Lee, W. L., Armas, F., ... Alm, E. J. (2020). SARS-CoV-2 Titers in Wastewater Are Higher than Expected from Clinically Confirmed Cases. *MSystems*, 5(4), e00614-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00614-20

- Wu, X., & Zhang, J. (2021). Exploration of spatial-temporal varying impacts on COVID-19 cumulative case in Texas using geographically weighted regression (GWR). *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(19), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-021-13653-8
- Wu, Y., Guo, C., Tang, L., Hong, Z., Zhou, J., Dong, X., ... Huang, X. (2020). Prolonged presence of SARS-CoV-2 viral RNA in faecal samples. *The Lancet Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 5(5), 434–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-1253(20)30083-2
- Wurtz, N., Lacoste, A., Jardot, P., Delache, A., Fontaine, X., Verlande, M., ... La Scola, B. (2021). Viral RNA in City Wastewater as a Key Indicator of COVID-19 Recrudescence and Containment Measures Effectiveness. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *12*, 1157. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.664477
- Wurtzer, S., Waldman, P., Ferrier-Rembert, A., Frenois-Veyrat, G., Mouchel, J. M., Boni, M., ... Moulin, L. (2020). Several forms of SARS-CoV-2 RNA can be detected in wastewaters: Implication for wastewater-based epidemiology and risk assessment. *Water Research*, 198, 117183. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.12.19.20248508
- Xagoraraki, I., & O'Brien, E. (2020). Wastewater-Based Epidemiology for Early Detection of Viral Outbreaks. In *Women in Water Quality* (pp. 75–97). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-17819-2_5
- Xiaobo, Y., Yuan, Y., Jiqian, X., Huaqing, S., Jia'an, X., Hong, L., ... You, S. (2020). Clinical course and outcomes of critically ill patients with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia in Wuhan, China: a single-centered, retrospective, observational study. *The Lancet. Respiratory Medicine*, 8(5), 475–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30079-5
- Xie, M., & Chen, Q. (2020). Insight into 2019 novel coronavirus An updated interim review and lessons from SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 94, 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2020.03.071
- Xiong, Y., Wang, Y., Chen, F., & Zhu, M. (2020). Spatial statistics and influencing factors of the COVID-19 epidemic at both prefecture and county levels in Hubei Province, China. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113903
- Xu, B., Li, J., & Wang, M. (2020). Epidemiological and time series analysis on the incidence and death of AIDS and HIV in China. BMC Public Health 2020 20:1, 20(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12889-020-09977-8
- Yang, R., Gui, X., & Xiong, Y. (2020). Comparison of Clinical Characteristics of Patients with Asymptomatic vs Symptomatic Coronavirus Disease 2019 in Wuhan, China. JAMA Network Open, 3(5), e2010182. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.10182
- Yongchen, Z., Shen, H., Wang, X., Shi, X., Li, Y., Yan, J., ... Gu, B. (2020). Different longitudinal patterns of nucleic acid and serology testing results based on disease severity of COVID-19 patients. *Emerging Microbes & Infections*, 9(1), 833–836. https://doi.org/10.1080/22221751.2020.1756699
- Young, B. E., Ong, S. W. X., Kalimuddin, S., Low, J. G., Tan, S. Y., Loh, J., ... Team, for the S. 2019 N. C. O. R. (2020). Epidemiologic Features and Clinical Course of Patients Infected With SARS-CoV-2 in Singapore. *JAMA*, 323(15), 1488–1494. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2020.3204
- Yu, P., Zhu, J., Zhang, Z., & Han, Y. (2020). A familial cluster of infection associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating possible person-to-person transmission during the incubation period. *Journal* of Infectious Diseases, 221(11), 1757–1761. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiaa077
- Yuan, Y., Zhao, Y.-J., Zhang, Q.-E., Zhang, L., Cheung, T., Jackson, T., ... Xiang, Y.-T. (2021). COVID-19-related stigma and its sociodemographic correlates: a comparative study. *Globalization and Health*, 17(1), 54. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-021-00705-4
- Yudell, M., Roberts, D., DeSalle, R., & Tishkoff, S. (2020). NIH must confront the use of race in science. *Science*, *369*(6509), 1314–1315. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.ABD9925
- Yue, Y., Liu, X., Xu, M., Ren, D., & Liu, Q. (2019). Epidemiological dynamics of dengue fever in mainland China, 2014–2018. *International Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 86, 82–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2019.06.015
- Zahedi, A., Monis, P., Deere, D., & Ryan, U. (2021). Wastewater-based epidemiology—surveillance and early detection of waterborne pathogens with a focus on SARS-CoV-2, Cryptosporidium and Giardia. *Parasitology Research*, *120*(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-020-07023-5
- Zambrano-Monserrate, M. A., Ruano, M. A., & Sanchez-Alcalde, L. (2020). Indirect effects of COVID-19 on the environment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 728, 138813. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138813
- Zhang, C. H., & Schwartz, G. G. (2020). Spatial Disparities in Coronavirus Incidence and Mortality in the United States: An Ecological Analysis as of May 2020. *Journal of Rural Health*, *36*(3), 433–445.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12476

- Zhang, X., Rao, H., Wu, Y., Huang, Y., & Dai, H. (2020). Comparison of spatiotemporal characteristics of the COVID-19 and SARS outbreaks in mainland China. BMC Infectious Diseases, 20(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-020-05537-y
- Zheng, J. (2020). SARS-coV-2: An emerging coronavirus that causes a global threat. International Journal of Biological Sciences, 16(10), 1678–1685. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.45053
- Zheng, Q., Tscharke, B. J., Krapp, C., O'Brien, J. W., Mackie, R. S., Connor, J., ... Thai, P. K. (2020). New approach for the measurement of long-term alcohol consumption trends: Application of wastewater-based epidemiology in an Australian regional city. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 207, 107795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107795
- Zheng, Z., Peng, F., Xu, B., Zhao, J., Liu, H., Peng, J., ... Tang, W. (2020). Risk factors of critical & mortal COVID-19 cases: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Infection*, 81(2), e16–e25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2020.04.021
- Zhou, P., Fan, H., Lan, T., Yang, X. Lou, Shi, W. F., Zhang, W., ... Ma, J. Y. (2018). Fatal swine acute diarrhoea syndrome caused by an HKU2-related coronavirus of bat origin. *Nature*, 556(7700), 255– 259. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0010-9
- Zhou, P., Yang, X. Lou, Wang, X. G., Hu, B., Zhang, L., Zhang, W., ... Shi, Z. L. (2020a). A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature*, 579(7798), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7
- Zhou, P., Yang, X. Lou, Wang, X. G., Hu, B., Zhang, L., Zhang, W., ... Shi, Z. L. (2020b). A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature*, 579(7798), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7
- Zochios, V., Brodie, D., Charlesworth, M., & Parhar, K. K. (2020). Delivering extracorporeal membrane oxygenation for patients with COVID-19: what, who, when and how? *Anaesthesia*, 75(8), 997–1001. https://doi.org/10.1111/anae.15099
- Zuccato, E., Chiabrando, C., Castiglioni, S., Bagnati, R., & Fanelli, R. (2008). Estimating community drug abuse by wastewater analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *116*(8), 1027–1032. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.11022
- Zuccato, E., Chiabrando, C., Castiglioni, S., Calamari, D., Bagnati, R., Schiarea, S., & Fanelli, R. (2005). Cocaine in surface waters: A new evidence-based tool to monitor community drug abuse. *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 4(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-069X-4-14
- Zuo, Z., Wang, M., Cui, H., Wang, Y., Wu, J., Qi, J., ... Xu, A. (2020). Spatiotemporal characteristics and the epidemiology of tuberculosis in China from 2004 to 2017 by the nationwide surveillance system. *BMC Public Health 2020 20:1*, 20(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12889-020-09331-Y

APPENDIX

Appendix 1 - Cross correlation analysis Graph





Appendix 2 - Table showing some examples of the cross-correlation analysis results, the time graph interpretation for the best and second-best time shift, the highest correlation and the second highest correlation

S/N	Municipalit	Municip	Cross	Best	Signific	Second	Significa	Second
	y name	ality	correlatio	Time	ance	highest	nce	Best
		code	n	shift		correlation		Time
								shift
1	Groningen	GM0014	0.321	-2	1	0.305	1	0
2	Almere	GM0034	0.455	0	1	0.451	1	-1
3	Stadskanaal	GM0037	0.307	-1	1	0.304	1	0
4	Veendam	GM0047	0.279	-2	0	0.207	0	-1
5	Zeewolde	GM0050	0.567	0	1	0.426	1	1
6	Achtkarspelen	GM0059	0.632	0	1	0.467	1	-2
7	Ameland	GM0060	0.233	0	0	0.22	0	-2
8	Harlingen	GM0072	0.498	-1	1	0.473	1	0
9	Heerenveen	GM0074	0.436	0	1	0.403	1	-2
10	Leeuwarden	GM0080	0.418	0	1	0.402	1	-1
	Ooststellingwe							
11	rf	GM0085	0.247	-2	0	0.225	0	-1
12	Opsterland	GM0086	0.338	-2	1	0.222	0	-1
	Schiermonniko							
13	og	GM0088	0.701	-2	1	0.632	1	0
14	Smallingerland	GM0090	0.294	-2	0	0.256	0	0
15	Terschelling	GM0093	0.412	-1	1	0.231	0	0
16	Vlieland	GM0096	0.244	-2	0	0.113	0	-1
	Weststellingwe							
17	rf	GM0098	0.318	-1	1	0.277	0	-2
18	Assen	GM0106	0.342	1	1	0.317	1	-1
19	Coevorden	GM0109	0.466	-2	1	0.42	1	-1
20	Emmen	GM0114	0.401	-2	1	0.368	1	-1
21	Hoogeveen	GM0118	0.416	-2	1	0.385	1	0
22	Meppel	GM0119	0.31	-1	1	0.282	0	0
23	Almelo	GM0141	0.577	0	1	0.522	1	-1
24	Borne	GM0147	0.602	0	1	0.523	1	1
25	Dalfsen	GM0148	0.312	-1	1	0.261	0	0
26	Deventer	GM0150	0.643	0	1	0.613	1	-1
27	Enschede	GM0153	0.598	0	1	0.512	1	-2
28	Haaksbergen	GM0158	0.48	0	1	0.384	1	1
29	Hardenberg	GM0160	0.558	0	1	0.429	1	-1
30	Hellendoorn	GM0163	0.474	-1	1	0.452	1	0
31	Hengelo (O.)	GM0164	0.666	0	1	0.585	1	1
32	Kampen	GM0166	0.342	0	1	0.154	0	1
33	Losser	GM0168	0.483	-1	1	0.428	1	-2
	Noordoostpol							
34	der	GM0171	0.513	-1	1	0.431	1	-2

Appendix 3 - Bivariate correlation coefficients and cross correlation coefficients per municipality between SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases per 100.000 inhabitants in the Netherlands.



Bivariate correlation and Cross correlation of SARS-CoV-2 wastewater RNA concentration and reported positive cases per municipality in the Netherlands (September 2020 - June 2021)